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CHAIR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTRODUCTION 
 
There is no denying that the last 12 months have been difficult and extremely 
challenging for Tameside Hospital following unfavourable and worrying reports 
published on our performance by our regulators Monitor and the Care Quality 
Commission. 
In July 2013 we were put into special measures following a visit and subsequent 
report from the NHS Medical Director Sir Bruce Keogh who was concerned about the 
way some patients were treated and cared for. In all 22 urgent or immediate actions 
were identified and we were ordered to produce an Improvement Strategy and Action 
Plan to deal with the Report’s conclusions and recommendations. 
Chief Executive Christine Green resigned her position and was replaced in the 
interim by Karen James from the University Hospital of South Manchester who 
stepped in, along with other senior colleagues from that hospital, to help us address 
the Keogh recommendations through a robust and deliverable improvement 
programme.  
In August 2013 we launched Tameside Listens to hear what our patients, visitors and 
the wider community of Tameside and Glossop thought about the quality of care and 
services at our Hospital. We invited suggestions and ideas and we promised to listen 
and respond. In all we had over 500 messages. Some were easily solvable – and we 
have dealt with those – others are longer- term actions, and with these we are 
making good progress to bring about change for the better. 
 
There are 121 actions within the Keogh Central Action Plan, spread across the 
following areas: 

• Emergency Care and Medicine 
• Workforce 
• Governance & Board Development 
• Quality and Safety 
• Staff & Stakeholder Engagement and Communications 
• Finance, Performance Management and Regulatory requirements 
• Other Operational Issues 

 
We have delivered 117 of these and partially delivered on the remaining 4. Our 
improvement journey continues and we are confident that we have the systems and 
processes in place to ensure we can assure change being embedded. 
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Encouragingly,  
 
• The number of patient falls has decreased by 18 per cent 
• The Trust is now meeting the national target to deliver 95 per cent of all care 

harm free 
• Communication between staff and senior managers has increased and that 

there has been a ‘significant’ and ‘positive’ change 
• We are addressing staffing issues as we recruit more clinicians to ensure that 

we strengthen the supervision and training of junior doctors 
• The number of patients who would recommend Tameside Hospital to their 

family and friends has increased by nine per cent 
 
We accept that we are on a journey to deliver a first class health service. We want to 
become one of the best hospitals in Greater Manchester and demonstrate 
continuous improvement.          
 
As part of that process we have redefined our culture and Mission Statement as 
Care, Safety, Respect, Learning and Communication under the banner Everyone 
Matters and throughout the Hospital our patients and visitors can see poster 
evidence on the walls of our wards and corridors how colleagues through their work 
and commitment demonstrate our values. 
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Over the past months the four local MPs whose constituencies include Tameside 
Hospital, have been keeping a watchful eye over the changes we have made, and 
continue to make. 
We are grateful for their regular advice and support. They have spoken out publiclly 
to say they believe with our strategy for long -term improvement we have ‘turned a 
corner.’ And the Board, the Governors and senior management all share that 
optimism. 
We finish the financial year (2013/14) with a deficit of £3.6 million, which has partly 
resulted from the additional agency costs we have had to incur while we recruit staff 
to our A&E department. This is important as we strive for greater patient care. 
However, we are considering ways to ensure that investments made now mean 
savings in the future without compromising quality and safety. 
These are challenging times, but it is the commitment of our dedicated team of 2,800 
staff and volunteers who are working hard to deliver and demonstrate these 
important values to our patients and their families and friends that is making the 
difference. However, we all acknowledge that this is a continuing journey towards our 
goal of ever-higher standards of quality and care. 
 
 
 
    
 
 
 
 
Paul Connellan              Karen James 
Chair      Interim Chief Executive 
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STRATEGIC REPORT 
About the Trust  
Tameside Hospital was established as a Foundation Trust on February 1st 2008.  
The Trust operates from the Tameside General Hospital site, which is situated in 
Ashton–under-Lyne. The hospital services a population of approximately 240,000 
residing in the surrounding areas of Tameside in Greater Manchester, and the town 
of Glossop in Derbyshire. 
 
Tameside Hospital is a self governing Foundation Trust, the Board of Directors 
assume management responsibility but are accountable for its stewardship to the 
Council of Governors and members.  Our performance is scrutinised by the 
Foundation Trust regulator Monitor, and Care Quality Commission.  
 
Employing approximately 2400 staff, the hospital provides a range of healthcare 
services one would associate with a general hospital. These services include general 
and specialist medicine, general and specialist surgery and full consultant led 
Obstetric and Paediatric hospital services for women, children and babies. 
 
The Trust’s clinical services are provided in a number of different specialties and 
departments. These are organised into four divisions 
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Strategy 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s strategy for the next two years is 
informed primarily by its response to its safety and quality challenges, and its current 
financial position. In particular, the emphasis is on addressing the safety and quality 
concerns, highlighted by external reviews (Keogh, Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
and Health Education England) into the Trusts services. These Trust reviews 
resulted in the Trust posting a normalised deficit in 2013/14 of £3.62 million, and is 
subsequently planning a deficit of £17.5m in 2014/15. Further details can be found 
on page 121. 
 
The strategic plan details increased focus on collaboration and partnership models of 
service delivery both vertically (acute, community and primary care services) and 
horizontally (secondary and tertiary services). The aims of these integrated models of 
care are to ensure affordable, sustainable, clinically safe and high quality consultant 
led services; and to develop pathways of care which support patients within the 
community. This approach reduces the burden and pressure on the acute Trust 
through admission avoidance and reductions in length of stay for those that are 
admitted. 
 
The Trust’s goal is to become an organisation in which every member of staff 
understands their role and responsibility in delivering high standard safe quality care 
and works to that goal every day. The plan  emphasises a commitment to improving 
patient safety, patient experience and patient outcomes through setting challenging 
targets that will show patients that we provide safe, personalised, effective care, first 
time, every time. This goal is reflected in the Trust’s mission statement and corporate 
objectives; and incorporates themes which have been identified in the work that has 
been undertaken with staff in respect of values and behaviours, all of which have 
been supported by the Trust Board. 
 
 
Our Vision, Aims and Objectives  
 
During 2013/14 the vision and values of the organisation were reviewed and a series 
of stakeholder events held to reassess and restate the values of the organisation and 
the behaviours expected of the staff who work within the trust.  
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Organisational Strengths and Resources  
 

Throughout 2013/14 the Trust maintained good performance delivery against key 
national and local measures. The Trust achieved all full year targets with the 
exception of A&E and Clostridium Difficile.   
 
The Trust’s corporate objectives for 2014/15 aim to achieve the right balance 
between ensuring all patients receive harm free care and an improved hospital 
experience, and the development of a strategic service model that will ensure clinical 
and financial sustainability for the trust. 
 
The main themes or corporate objectives for the Trust to take forward into the 
coming financial year  are as follows: 
 
• All patients receive harm free care through the delivery of the Trust’s Patient 

Safety Programme. 
• To improve the quality of patient care through the implementation of the 

Trust’s agreed Quality Strategy.  
• To improve the patient experience through a personalised, responsive, 

compassionate and caring approach to the delivery of patient care.  
• To develop a continuous quality improvement culture which promotes patient 

quality, safety, personalised and effective care.  
• To develop a Strategic Service Plan which will secure clinical and financial 

sustainability for the Trust in conjunction with the Trust’s strategic partners 
and key stakeholders.  

• To work with our partners, stakeholders and the community to develop the 
reputation of Tameside Hospital as a provider of safe, high quality, effective 
care.  

• To deliver against the required local and national frameworks in order to meet 
all the requirements of the Trust’s operating licence and the commissioners’ 
requirements.  

 
Each of the themes outlined above have a number of key outcomes, aligned to the 
Trust’s Patient Safety Programme and Quality Improvement Strategy. 
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties facing the Trust  
 
In common with other small acute trusts, Tameside faces considerable financial and 
clinical challenges and in particular the need to address the safety and quality 
concerns, highlighted by external reviews (Keogh, Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
and Health Education England) into its services.  
 
The trust recognises that it is not feasible or sustainable either clinically or financially 
to operate in isolation and therefore a greater emphasis is being given to developing 
models of service delivery in collaboration with other partners which are both vertical 
models (acute, community, and primary care services) and horizontal models 
(secondary and tertiary services). The aim of these integrated models of care is to 
ensure affordable, clinically safe and high quality consultant led services, and to 
develop pathways of care which if appropriate support patients within the community. 
 
 
External Reviews 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust was one of 20 hospitals in England that 
was subject to a review by Sir Bruce Keogh in May 2013.  As a result of this review 
the Chief Executive and Medical Director stepped down in July 2013 and were 
replaced with interims directors. A subsequent “buddying agreement” between the 
Trust and the University Hospital of South Manchester confirmed this arrangement 
and also allowed for additional support to assist the trust in achieving the required 
improvements which were identified in the Keogh Report. A follow up review by the 
CQC took place in May 2014. 
 
From 1 April 2013, Monitor changed its approach to regulating Foundation Trusts 
and replaced the Terms of Authorisation with a Provider Licence. Prior to this, the 
Trust was in significant breach of its terms of authorisation and this was 
subsequently translated into conditions attached to the Trust’s Provider Licence. 
 
 
Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response (EPRR) 
 
Emergency preparedness, resilience and response across the NHS continues to be 
core function and is required in line with the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. It is 
essential that accountability arrangements are clear at all times and organisations 
must continue to test and review their arrangements. All NHS organisations are 
required to maintain a good standard of preparedness to respond safely and 
effectively to a full spectrum of threats, hazards and disruptive events, such as 
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pandemic flu, mass casualty, potential terrorist incidents, severe weather, chemical, 
biological, radiological and nuclear incidents, fuel and supplies disruption, public 
health incidents The Board receives assurance from the established EPRR group 
which comprises senior managers, clinicians and directors who meet on a quarterly 
basis and maintain an annual work plan which ensures that the Trust is able to 
respond to the EPRR agenda of the time. 
 
The main work for the year 2013/14 was to focus on Business Continuity 
arrangements which required all departments to review and update their Business 
Continuity Plans and that testing of these plans took place. In addition the work plan 
ensured compliance by the end of March 2014 with the Core Standards for EPRR 
which were issued by NHS England in May 2013. 
 
 
WORKFORCE  
 
The Hospital’s re-launched mission statement is “Everyone Matter’s at Tameside. 
Our aim is to deliver, with our partners, safe, effective and personal care, which you 
can trust”.  The workforce strategy for the Trust centres on the provision of a clear 
view of a culture of openness and candour, in addition to a mechanism for engaging 
and developing staff and leaders within the organisation. 
 
Sickness Absence 
 
The Trust has re-focussed on the management of sickness absence and the overall 
health & wellbeing of its workforce. The sickness absence rate for 2013/14 was 
4.2%, which is average for an acute Trust in the region (source: eWIN). This is 
particularly pleasing, given the significant changes and events which have taken 
place this year. 
 
The Trust agreed and re-launched a new Attendance Management Policy.  This has 
a focus on the appropriate management of the health & wellbeing of staff. 
Attendance Management Training for managers is being delivered on a monthly 
basis, to ensure that managers are clear on this Policy. 
 
The Trust is currently looking at a bespoke ‘train the trainer’ scheme looking at a 
training programme to assist staff in managing their own health & wellbeing, both 
physical & psychological. Three Trust staff have now been on the training, and are 
designing a Trust programme along similar lines. 
 



	  

Page	  14	  of	  212	  	  

In addition, the Trust has also been re-confirmed as a ‘Mindful Employer’, meaning 
that we have been recognised as having a culture which supports staff with mental 
health issues. The Trust is also in the process of implementing the Workplace 
Wellbeing Standards, which focuses on areas such as leadership, attendance 
management, policy, physical activity, smoking cessation and mental health & 
wellbeing. 
 
Overall, the health & wellbeing of our workforce remains a high priority for the Trust. 
 
The Organisational Development Strategy 
 
The Trust has recently agreed a new Organisational Development (OD) strategy. 
The OD Strategy has been developed to support and complement other key 
organisational strategies such as the Quality Improvement Strategy, Patient 
Experience and Carers Strategy, Nursing & Midwifery Strategy, Patient Safety 
Programme and the Communications & Engagement Strategy 
 
The OD Strategy and accompanying plan sets out an enabling framework for 
achieving the Trust’s Mission, of ‘delivering, with our partners, safe, effective and 
personal care, which you can trust’.  
 
 
It provides a clear view of a culture of openness and candour and a mechanism for 
engaging and developing staff and leaders within the organisation to enable the 
cultural changes necessary to deliver safe, effective patient care, which is at the 
heart of everything we do.  
 
The key themes of the OD strategy are as follows: 
Leadership – Creating a leadership and management team which enables the Trust 
to thrive, and to meet the challenges it faces. This includes a Board Development 
programme, an accredited Ward Manager development programme, equipping 
managers with skills to hold difficult conversations, and a training needs analysis for 
middle management. 
 
Culture – Creating a culture of openness and continuous learning. The includes a re-
brand and a re-launch of the Trust’s values & behaviours, and ensuring that these 
values underpin all our processes and procedures 
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Continuous improvement – Ensuring that we continuously learn from mistakes, and 
best practice, through the strengthening of our information gathering processes and 
governance frameworks. 
 
Engagement - Embedding our ‘Everyone Matters’ theme, via a revised 
Communication Strategy for both staff and patients. 
 
Ultimately, the Trust’s goal is to become an organisation in which every member of 
staff understands their role and responsibility in delivering high standard safe quality 
care and works to that goal every day. The Trust is committed to improving patient 
safety, patient experience and patient outcomes through setting challenging targets 
that will show patients that we provide safe, personalised, effective care, first time, 
every time.  
 
Staff Engagement  
 
Staff involvement and engagement is one of the underpinning themes to the Trust’s 
Organisational Development strategy.  
 
The Trust undertook the 2013 Staff Survey in the Autumn of 2013, and the results 
were published at the end of February 2014.  The 2013 survey focused on 28 key 
findings, based on 91 questions.  The key findings are linked to the four Staff 
Pledges within the NHS Constitution.  
 
The Trust had undergone a year of significant change and scrutiny, with a significant 
change at Executive level, and several high profile external reviews. The Staff 
Survey results from 2012 had shown a significant improvement when compared to 
2011, and the Executive Team were very pleased to note that these improved scores 
had remained in 2013. 
 
Overall, the Trust had maintained 21 out of 22 improved scores when compared to 
2012, and there were no statistically significant changes when compared to the 
previous year. 
 
Overall Summary  
 
The Trust scores breakdown as follows for the 28 key findings:- 
 
Above Average 9  including 2 in top 20%  (compared to 12 in 2012) 
Average  5      (compared to 10 in 2012) 
Below Average        14    including 3 in lowest 20% (compared to   6 in 2012) 
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Highest and Lowest Ranking Scores 
 
The report highlighted the key findings where the Trust performed best and worst, 
when ranked with other NHS Acute Trusts. For Tameside, these were as follows: 
 

HIGHEST RANKING SCORES Trust Score  
2013 

National 
Average 

Percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months 
(Higher the better) 92% 84% 

Percentage of staff agreeing that their role makes a 
difference to patients 
(Higher the better) 

93% 91% 

Percentage of staff saying hand washing materials 
are always available 
(Higher the better) 

68% 60% 

Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence 
from patients / relatives or public in last 12 month  
(Lower the better) 

27% 29% 

Percentage of staff suffering work-related stress in 
last 12 months 
(Lower the better) 

35% 37% 

 
Key findings where the Trust performed worst when ranked with all other NHS Acute 
Trusts 
 

LOWEST RANKING SCORES Trust Score  
2013 

National 
Average 

Percentage of staff receiving job-relevant training, 
learning or development in last 12 months 
(Higher the better) 

77% 81% 

 Percentage of staff working extra hours 
(Lower the better) 74% 70% 

Effective Team Working 
(Higher the better) 3.69 3.74 

Fairness and effectiveness of incident reporting 
procedures 
(Higher the better) 

3.45 3.51 

Percentage of staff reporting errors, near misses or 
incidents witnessed in the last month  
(Lower the better)  

36% 33% 
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It is envisaged that the priorities identified within the Trust’s Organisational 
Development Strategy will focus some specific attention to the areas where the Trust 
falls below average.  
 
These include:- 
 
• Leadership Development  
• Ongoing development and implementation of Tameside Listens 
• Embedding of the Trusts values into behaviours visibly demonstrated throughout 

the organisation  
• Development of a Mentoring and Coaching programme 
• Development of a Communication and Engagement Strategy 
• Development of the Health and Wellbeing Programme 
 
Divisional-level engagement and ownership ensured that the themes identified within 
the Trust Board Staff and Patient Surveys seminar translated the corporate-level 
intentions into localised actions.   
 
Changes to staff communication and consultation 
 
The Trust has a number of methods to communicate/consult with and involve staff 
members, in order to maximise engagement. This includes, but is not limited to: 
 

• The Open House Forum – a monthly forum, usually chaired by the Chief 
Executive 
 

• A weekly ‘Catch up with Karen’ email, which is circulated Trustwide and 
highlights the key Trust news of the week. 
 

• Staff Involvement Forums  
 

• Specific ‘focus groups’ of staff to focus on and input into specific Trust 
initiatives, such as the re-launched Values & Behaviours and Mission 
Statement. 
 

• The Divisional Staff Governors – each Division currently has an active Staff 
Governor, who is able to hold the Trust Board to account.  
 

• The Staff Partnership Forum and the Joint Local Negotiation Committee – the 
formal Trade Union consultation forums 
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• The Junior Doctor Forum – a monthly forum specifically designed for Junior 
Doctors in Training to raise issues or concerns 
 

• Away Days for specific groups of staff, such as the Senior Nurse team. The 
Trust intends to hold several Healthcare Assistant ‘away days’ in the near 
future 
 

• Senior manager/ Non-Executive walkabouts 
 

In addition, the Trust has recently recruited a Head of Communications, who will 
focus on a specific communication strategy for both staff and patients. 
 
Workforce Changes 
 
The Trust has undertaken a review of establishment across nursing and medical staff 
groups, with a specific focus on triangulating this with patient dependency and acuity. 
On this basis, the Trust has invested over £1m into the nursing workforce, in order to 
increase the nurse to bed ratio. This has led to the recruitment of over 100 nurses in 
the past 12 – 18 months. 
 
 
Due to national shortages of qualified nursing staff, the Trust has undertaken an 
international recruitment campaign in Italy, and has 16 Italian nurses started with the 
Trust in May. The Trust chose Italy to recruit from, due to the similarities in training, 
and the values-based learning the Italian nurses undertake. 
 
The Trust has also made changes to the medical establishment, and has increased 
senior/middle grade cover within Medicine and General Surgery, in order to provide 
greater out of hours medical support. 
 
The OD strategy also focuses on medical development and engagement, which is 
fundamental to ensuring that the Trust can meet the challenges it faces. The Trust 
has always previously had a structure of ‘Lead Consultants’ for each specialty, who 
would report professionally through to the Medical Director. The Trust has recently 
implemented a structure which includes ‘Clinical Directors’ for each Division, who are 
supported by Lead Consultants/Specialty Leads. These Clinical Directors are 
managerially accountable to the Chief Operating Officer. This structure gives 
significantly more autonomy and visibility for the Senior medical team, as well as 
giving them an active role in governance, quality, finance and KPI performance within 
the Division. This also recognises that there are key challenges for the Trust where 
the management and solution will need to sit with the senior medical team. 
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Local commissioning changes have seen alterations in the provision of services 
across the district. The Diabetes Service transferred to Stockport Foundation Trust 
from February 2014, which saw the TUPE of the Specialist Nurse Team to Stockport. 
The Consultant body associated to Diabetes remained in the employment of the 
Trust, covered by a Service Level Agreement. 
 
The Dermatology service, which was previously based over Tameside and Pennine 
Acute, was centralised at Tameside FT in February 2014, and the staff relocated 
accordingly. 
 
The South Sector collaboration continues, as teams are working more closely 
together. In some areas this may result in greater efficiencies (e.g. via local 
procurement frameworks). Most notably, in terms of workforce changes, the 
Pathology departments have agreed a collaborative working model, which sees 
elements of Pathology being centralised at University Hospital South Manchester, as 
a ‘hub and spoke’ model. 
 
The Trust will see further workforce changes, and greater collaboration, over the next 
12 months, as the Southern Sector collaboration progresses. 
 
Health & Safety 
 
The Trust has undertaken a review of Health & Safety training in the past year. This 
has included a full review of induction, and on-going requirements for existing staff. 
 
The Health & Safety workbook is an annual requirement for all staff, and covers 
areas such as slips, trips and falls, fire safety, security, safeguarding and equality & 
diversity. The Trust is currently working on an e-learning package, which will cover all 
the same areas. 
 
In addition to compliance rates for the Health & Safety workbook, the Trust also 
monitor health & safety indicators through sickness absence rates/reasons, 
Occupational Health referrals, and number of days lost through staff accident.  
 
Sickness absence rates and days lost due to accident are reported to the Trust 
Board via the Quality Account every month. 
 
Under the Trust’s revised Governance structures, the Trust has convened a Health & 
Safety Committee, which will focus on all issues pertaining to Health & Safety. 



	  

Page	  20	  of	  212	  	  

 
Equality and Diversity 
 
The Trust believes that everyone at Tameside Hospital should have equal access to 
employment opportunities and healthcare service.   
The Trust adopted the Equality & Diversity Schedule (EDS) tool, in order to consult 
with local stakeholders to review and improve their performance for people of 
characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2010. This has recently been re-
launched as EDS 2. 
 
The four EDS goals are: 
 
1. Better health outcome for all 
2. Improved patient access and experience 
3. Empowered, engaged and included staff 
4. Inclusive leadership at all levels  
 
The EDS grades are as follows:  
 
1. Excelling – Purple  
2. Achieving - Green  
3. Developing – Amber 
4. Undeveloped – Red  
 
The Trust was graded by its External Stakeholder Group as being ‘achieving’ against 
every outcome, with the exception of health & wellbeing of staff, which was graded 
as ‘excelling’. 
 
In order to pool expertise, the Equality and Diversity Implementation Group (EDIG) 
membership is to be strengthened following its decision to merge the following 
existing groups:     
 

• Equality & Diversity Implementation Group (internal stakeholders),  
• Equality & Diversity Reference Group (external stakeholders)  
• Disability Discrimination Working Group (external stakeholders) into one 

overarching equality stakeholder group.   
 
The new EDIG group will lead on implementing EDS 2 and will agree which of the 
four EDS goals the Trust will focus on in the first year 2014/15. The EDIG will report 
into the Everyone Matters Steering group.  The diversity of this group will expand to 
include: 
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Internal Stakeholders:  External Stakeholders: 

• Director of HR (Workforce 
Lead) and Director for 
Nursing (Service Lead)  
(joint chairs) 

• Head of Patient Experience 
• Director for Quality and 

Governance 
• Assistant Director of  HR   
• HR Business Partner (E&D 

Lead)  
• Interim Deputy Director for 

Nursing 
• Divisional General 

Managers 
• Heads of Nursing 

• Trust Governors (5 members) 
• Staff Governors (5 Members) 
• Health Watch representative 
• TMBC representative 
• Local interest groups 
• Employment services 
• MINDFUL Employer 
• Equality Lead, CCG 

 
 

The Trust has an inclusive policy in relation to employees classed as having a 
‘disability’. The Trust is a Mindful Employer, which recognises that it has provisions in 
place to work with employees with mental health issues. The Trust also runs a 
Guaranteed Interview Scheme like most NHS employers, whereby candidates who 
declare themselves as having a disability should be shortlisted for a role, if they meet 
the minimum criteria. 

ESR workforce information system routinely collates equality data of all new starters 
as part of its recruitment and selection process.  This information is used to inform 
the Annual Equality Workforce report.  This report provides Divisional managers with 
useful information to improve our employees’ work- life balance/ working 
environment in line with our ‘Everyone Matter’ strategy.  

The Trust has a recently updated Attendance Management policy, which clearly lays 
out the requirement and expectation for reasonable adjustments to be made, for 
employees classed as having a disability. Such adjustments would be discussed and 
agreed in consultation with the staff member, Occupational Health and external 
organisations (e.g. Access to Work) where appropriate. 

All Trust policies include an Analysis of Effects, which will highlight if any protected 
characteristic (including disability) will be affected by the Policy, and what mitigation 
is needed to address this. 
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Workforce  by gender 
 
At the end of the year 57% of the Board of Directors were female and 43% male. 
 
With regard to Senior Managers, 70% were female and 30% male. Overall, 81% of 
the Trust’s workforce is female with the remaining 19% being male. 
 
 
Community Engagement  
 
As part of its strategy to engage the communities served by Tameside Hospital, a 
series of twice yearly public meetings was arranged in every township of Tameside 
and Glossop during the year. The meetings  attended by members of the public were  
an opportunity for those attending to meet their public Governor of Council, the Trust 
Chairman, Chief Executive and Director of Nursing to  discuss any issues relating to 
the hospital and its plans for the future. Six joint Council of Governor constituency 
meetings were held over the period of the summer of 2013. 
 
The Trusts Impact on the Local Environment  
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust recognises that its activities have a 
significant effect on the environment that contributes to climate change. As part of 
our commitment to ensuring the health and well being of the local community, this 
Carbon Management Plan sets out the criteria to which the Trust can demonstrate 
that commitment. 

 
In developing plans for capital investment and sustainable practice the Trust 
recognises that there are financial benefits in reducing the use of energy, which in 
the current, challenging financial climate are very important to the organisation whilst 
at the same time contributing to carbon reductions. 

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust reduced its energy related emissions in 
2013/14 by 9.6% when compared to the 2007/08 baseline, indicating that we are on 
track to meet the NHS target of a 10% reduction by 2015. The Trust acknowledges 
that many factors can impact on these figures, however we have achieved repeated 
emission reductions for the last 3 years of an average of 6.5%, this included the 
challenge of particularly cold weather during 2012/13.The annual accounts that can 
be found from page $$ to page $$ have been prepared under a direction issued by 
Monitor under the National Health Service Act 2006. 
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GOING CONCERN  
 
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the services 
provided by the NHS foundation trust will continue to be provided for the foreseeable 
future despite the Trust’s financial position.  This expectation is based on: 
 our desire to continue providing services to the local population of Tameside; 
 our understanding of local commissioning intentions; and  
 the existence of signed contracts with local commissioners for 2014-15. 
 
For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
accounts in accordance with the HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual.” 
 
Signed statement – approved by the directors and signed and dated by the 
accounting officer. 
 
 
 

 
 
Karen James             Date  29th May 2014 
Interim Chief Executive  
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DIRECTORS REPORT 
 
Board of Directors 
 
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
NHS foundation trust’s auditor is unaware; and 
 
The directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in 
order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the NHS foundation trust’s auditor is aware of the information. The directors 
consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole are fair, balanced and 
understandable and provide the information necessary for patients, regulators and 
other stakeholders to assess the FT trust’s performance, business model and 
strategy.  
 
A statement that accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are 
set out in note 1.6 to the accounts and that detail of senior employees’ remuneration 
can be found on page 133 of the remuneration report. 
 
The Trust’s external auditors are KPMG. During the period KPMG have performed a 
review into data quality (£23k fee) and Managed Equipment Services (£0.6k to date.) 
KPMG considered the implications for auditor objectivity and independence before 
each of these engagements were accepted. As the relevance and the impact of the 
subject matter of the engagements on the financial statements is low and because 
staff separate from the audit team carried out the non-audit service, the threat to 
independence was considered low. 
 
Declaration of Interests  
 
The Board regularly reviews the Register of Directors interests. The Register is 
maintained by the Foundation Trust Secretary. Directors are requested to bring to the 
Boards attention any potential or actual conflict of interest in relation to agenda items, 
at the start of it’s meeting. All Trust Board members provide details of their business 
and other relevant interests. A register of these interests is held by Tom Neve the 
Company Secretary, and is available for inspection upon request. 
 
Trust Board meetings are held in public. There are a number of other forums and 
opportunities, designed not only to inform both the staff and the general public, but 
also to generate feedback.   
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The Trust Board includes members with a wide range of interests. This provides the 
depth and variety of opinion and discussion required for effective decision making. 
The Board is of the view that it is well placed to develop and lead a successful 
organisation into 2014/15 and beyond. The Executive and Non-Executive Directors 
have taken measures to develop an understanding of the views of Governors and 
members about the NHS Foundation Trust.  
 
These have included attendance at meetings of the Council of Governors and 
attending constituency meetings to engage its members and the community it 
serves. The experience, interests and activities of the members of the Trust Board 
are summarised below. 

Paul Connellan - Chair 

Appointed: November 2011 
Paul spent eight years as the Director of Marketing and Customer Services at 
Manchester Airport before embarking on a highly successful consultancy career. 
Organisations such as Liverpool Airport and Railtrack are among his company’s 
clients. In addition to his extensive commercial experience, Paul has been a Non-
Executive Director of NHS Trafford PCT and its predecessor organisations since 
2006.The chairman is married with two grown up daughters, one of whom is a lawyer 
and the other a teacher. 

Board Committees – Remuneration and Terms of Service,  Chair of the Council of 
Governors                                      

Tony Ward - Non Executive Director 

Appointed: May 2006 
Board Committees: Audit Committee, Finance and Performance Committee, 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee  
Areas of interest: Qualified Accountant, specialist in process reengineering 
Current / Previous work: Managing Director of several operations within a UK 
public limited company. Previously the Finance Director of a division within another 
UK plc. 
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Tricia Kalloo - Non Executive Director and Senior Independent Director  

Appointed: November 2010 
Board Committees: Audit Committee, Remuneration and Terms of Service, Chair of 
Quality and Governance Committee  
Areas of interest: Patient experience, safety and outcomes. Staff health and 
wellbeing. 
Current / Previous work: Currently CEO and owner of Wellness International. 
Previously worked in health care in the USA prior to moving to Antigua where she 
became Director of Finance and Administration for the Eastern Caribbean Civil 
Aviation Authority. 

Anne Higgins - Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: February 2012  
Board Committees: Quality and Governance Committee 
Areas of interest:  Redesigning services to make them better for the people using 
them and more cost effective for the organisation. Making sure that people feel well 
looked after and happy with their hospital experience. 
Current / Previous work: Previously was a Corporate Director at Trafford Council 
and the Statutory Director of Adult Social Services is now providing a consultancy 
service around innovation and transformation in care and support services. 

Anne Dray - Non-Executive Director 

Appointed:  January 2014 
Board committees: Audit Committee, Finance and Performance Committee, 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 
Areas of interest: Qualified Accountant, spending NHS resources wisely, System 
Transformation 
Current/Previous work: 32 years working in the NHS - 20 years at Director/Chief 
Officer level. Currently working as Urgent Care Strategic Lead in South Yorkshire.  
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Julie Soboljew - Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: February 2014                                                                                                            
Board Committees: Quality & Governance,                                          .              
Areas of Interest: Governance, challenge and support Executive Board, patient 
experience, change strategy.                         
Current/Previous work:  Previously spent 16 years at Manchester Airport as 
Geographical Systems Manager prior to career change into Financial Services. 
Currently Director specialising in mortgages & protection insurance. Also an 
associate member of the Institute of Professional Will Writers. In addition to 
extensive commercial & private sector experience, Julie has been a governor at a 
number of organisations and currently Chair of Governors at Glossopdale 
Community College.  

 
Robert Corless – Non-Executive Director – Term of Office expired in February 
2014  
 
Adrian Anderson – Non-Executive Director – Resigned in December 2013 
 
 
Karen James  

Interim Chief Executive.  Appointed August 2013 

Prior to joining Tameside Foundation Trust as the Interim Chief Executive, Karen 
was Chief Operating Officer at the University of South Manchester, Foundation Trust 
where she had been working since 2009.  Karen began her NHS career as a nurse 
and worked in a number of general and service improvement management roles in 
Greater Manchester before becoming Executive Director of Operations and 
Performance at Pennine Acute Hospitals Trust, prior to moving to Aintree Foundation 
Trust as the Chief Operating Officer. 
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Brendan Ryan  

Interim Medical Director. Appointed July 2013 

Prior to joining Tameside as interim Medical Director Brendan was Medical Director 
at UHSM for the last 14 years. Brendan is also a Consultant in Emergency Medicine 
at UHSM which he has done since 1992 and although he is now the Medical Director 
he still works in the Emergency Department at UHSM two mornings a week. When 
Brendan was full-time as an ED consultant, he had special interests in bereavement, 
pre-hospital care (and has worked many times at road accidents with fire and rescue 
colleagues) and major incident planning and response. As Medical Director, 
Brendan’s areas of interest and responsibility are clinical quality and patient safety, 
education, and medical professional issues. Brendan is the Responsible Officer (for 
Revalidation) for Tameside. 

 
Barbara Herring   

Director of Finance. Appointed September 2012 

Barbara is an accountant, with over 20 years experience of working in the NHS 
across the North West and before that in the Department of Health. 

Barbara is keen to drive savings by improving quality of patient care and benefitting 
from the efficiencies that flow from that improvement. 

 

John Goodenough RGN Dip (HE). MSc (ongoing). 

Executive Director of Nursing.  Appointed June 2012 

John is a registered nurse with 23 years experience.  Prior to his current role John 
was Deputy Chief Nurse and Deputy Director of Nursing at East Lancashire. 
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Paul Williams  MSc  FCMI 
 
Chief Operating Officer.  Appointed November 2011 
 
Paul Joined the NHS in 2004 following a career in the Defence and Space Industries 
where he gained an MSc. Paul has held a number of senior posts in the acute 
healthcare sector prior to joining Tameside in November 2011.  
 
Paul will be taking up a new position of Director of Operations and Performance at St 
Helens and Knowsley in July 2014. 
He is a Fellow of the Chartered Management Institute. 
 
 
Christine Green – Chief Executive – Resigned in June 2013 
 
Tariq Mahmood – Medical Director – Resigned as Medical Director effective June 
2013 
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Trust Board attendance 2013/14  
The table below indicates attendance at the monthly Trust Board Meetings  
 
 

Present: Position 25th 
April 
2013 

30th 
May 
2013 

27th 
June 
2013 

26th 
July 
2013 

28th 
August 
2013 

25th  
Sept 
2013 

30th  
Oct  
2013 

28th 
Nov 
2013 

9th  
Jan 
2014 
(Dec) 

30th 
Jan 
2014 

27th 
Feb 
2014  

27th 
March 
2014  

Mr P Connellan Chairman 
      

 
 
      

Mrs C Green Chief Executive 
     

        

Ms K James  
 

Interim Chief 
Executive      X  

 
 
      

Ms A Higgins Non-Executive 
Director       

 
 
  X   X 

Mr R Corless Non-Executive 
Director       X      

Mrs A Dray Non-Executive 
Director             

Mrs J Soboljew Non-Executive 
Director            X 

Mr D A  Ward Non-Executive 
Director    X         

Mr A Anderson Non-Executive 
Director    X  X X X     

Mrs T Kalloo Non-Executive 
Director  X   X   X  X   

Mr J Goodenough Director of Nursing 
            

Ms B Herring Director of Finance 
            

Mr P Williams 
 

Director of 
Operations X    X        

Dr T Mahmood Medical Director  
            

Mr B Ryan Interim Medical 
Director    X   X      

Mr D Wilkinson Director of Human 
Resources             

Ms A Bromley Director of Human 
Resources       X      

Mrs G Parker  Director of Estate 
and Facilities             

            

A register of interests for both directors and governors is held by the Company 
Secretary, and is available for inspection. 
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Trust Board Committees 
 
The Trust Board established the following committees: Audit, Remuneration and 
Terms of Service Committee Quality and Clinical Governance, and Risk 
Management and Corporate Governance.  After a review of governance 
arrangements in November 2013, the Quality and Clinical Governance Committee 
and the Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee merged creating 
the Quality and Governance Committee. The Finance and Performance Committee 
was established in January 2014. 
 
There are no performance-related elements to Director’s remuneration. 
 
Each of the Board Committees is chaired by a Non-Executive Director of the Trust 
Board. 
 
 
The Board of Directors and the Council of Governors of the Trust are committed to 
the principles of good corporate governance as detailed in the “NHS Foundation 
Trust Code of Governance”. The Board has reviewed and considered Monitor’s “NHS 
Foundation Trust Code of Governance” and considers it complies with all 
recommended practice, except the provision which states that Executive Directors 
should be appointed by a committee of the Chief Executive, the Chairman and Non-
Executive Directors and subject to re-appointment at intervals of no more than five 
years. All executive directors are on permanent pensionable contracts and subject to 
annual Performance review. 
 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee met on two occasions during the 
2013/14 financial year. 
 
The Chair and all of the Non-Executive Directors sit on this committee. 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
The Audit Committee provides assurances to the Board on  

 
• The system of internal control and risk management ensuring that these are 

independently assessed. The matters considered include, but are not limited 
to the following. 
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• To ensure that sound and effective systems of internal control, including 
financial control and risk management, are in place within the Trust and 
appropriately maintained. 
 

 
• To ensure that the systems of internal control, including financial control and 

risk management, are independently assured. 
 
• To protect the Auditor’s ability to investigate the Board’s decisions and those 

of senior Executives. 
 
• To establish and maintain Internal Audit and External Audit arrangements that 

meet mandatory audit standards and legislation and review the cost and 
effectiveness of these arrangements on a regular basis. To ensure that 
policies and procedures are in place with regard to countering fraud and 
corruption. 

 
The Audit Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman, Chief 
Executive, Director of Finance, Chief Internal Auditor, Local Counter Fraud 
Specialist, Company Secretary and a Senior External Auditor have a right to attend 
(but may not vote). Other officers may be invited to attend as necessary. Where the 
Trust is planning to appoint outside management consultants to undertake work, 
consideration is given to whether the external auditors can be included in the list of 
firms to be considered, or whether they should be excluded as the work would 
potentially compromise their independence as auditors. Consideration is given to 
factors such as the likely fees for the work, the areas in which the work is to be 
undertaken, and whether the auditors are likely to review the area as part of their 
work.  
 
The Audit Committee approved the internal audit plan at the beginning of the 
year.  During the year the Audit Committee considered internal audit reports on 
financial systems, IM & T, performance, clinical quality, workforce and governance, 
risk and legality.  Internal Auditors presented their progress reports against the 
approved Audit Plan at each of its meetings and the levels of assurance and audit 
recommendations were discussed.   
 
The Audit Committee also approved the external audit plan for 2013/14 which was 
formulated following an assessment of risks faced by the Trust.  The significant 
risks were identified as being the potential consolidation of Charitable Funds, PFI 
accounting and the Trust’s going concern status.  The financial statements for the 
year ended 31 March 2014 were considered at the meeting of the Committee in May 
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2014 and following discussion with external auditors, were recommended to the 
Trust Board for approval and adoption. 
 
The members of the Audit Committee are all non-executive directors and private 
meetings, excluding executive directors, with external and internal auditors were held 
when required. 
 
The Audit Committee assessed the effectiveness of external audit during the year by 
issuing a questionnaire to Committee members, executive directors and senior 
managers asking for comments on a range of issues including the External Auditor’s 
independence, objectivity, expertise and the quality of audit staff.  The comments 
received were favourable and gave the Audit Committee positive assurance on the 
overall effectiveness of the External Audit process. 
 
KPMG were appointed as the Trust’s External Auditors in November 2011 (2011/12) 
for a period of 3 years with an option to extend this by a further 2 years.  The cost of 
the external audit in the year was £74,000. 
 
KPMG were also appointed by the four trusts working collaboratively as the South 
Sector partnership within Greater Manchester to assess the feasibility of greater 
cross organisational working in relation to corporate services.  The Trust is one of 
these four trusts and its share of the cost of this review was £140,000 
 
The auditors have their own procedures for concluding whether possible non-audit 
work could compromise their independence, or be perceived to compromise it. In line 
with the ICAEW’s ethical standards, if they cannot put in place appropriate 
safeguards, they will not put forward a proposal. 
 
The Council of Governors has the duty to appoint or remove the trust’s external 
auditor, and this duty will be carried out at a general meeting of the council of 
governors, after they have received a report from the audit committee on the matter. 
 
The Trust have secured arrangements in accordance with its contractual 
requirements to have in place a Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS). The LCFS is 
the responsible individual for the day to day work at the Trust to combat any fraud , 
bribery and corruption matters. The LCFS reports directly to the Director of Finance 
and to the Trust’s Audit Committee who take an oversight and challenge on work 
undertaken to protect the NHS funds from fraud. The Trust also have in place an 
anti-fraud, bribery and corruption policy which is available to all staff to access via the 
intranet. 
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The table below indicates attendance at the Audit Committee  
 
Audit Committee  16th April 

2013 
28th May  

2013 
22nd Aug 

2013 
21st  Nov 

2013 
23rd Jan 

2014 
Mr T Ward (Chair) 
Non-Executive Director      

Mr R Corless 
Non Executive Director      

Mr A Anderson 
Non Executive Director      

Mrs A Dray 
Non Executive Director      

      

 
 
 
 
The table below indicates attendance at the Finance and Performance 
Committee	  	  
 

Finance and Performance 
Committee 

27th 
January 

2014 

25th 
February 

2014 

25th March 
2014 

Ms B Herring 
Director of Finance    

Mrs A Dray (Chair) 
Non Executive Director    

Mr P Williams 
Chief Operating Officer    

Mrs G Parker 
Director of Estate and Facilities    

Miss S Holroyd 
Deputy Director of Finance    

 Mr T Ward 
Non-Executive Director    
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The table below indicates attendance at the Risk Management and Corporate 
Governance Committee  
 

Risk Management  8/4/13 3/6/13 05/08/13 

Mr R Corless 
Non-Executive Director 

 
   

Ms A Bromley 
Interim Director of Human 
Resources 

   

Ms B Herring 
Director of Finance  X  

Mr J Goodenough 
Director of Nursing   X X 

Mrs G Parker  
Director of Estates & 
Facilities 

 
  X 

Mr P Williams  
Director of Clinical 
Services/Mr S Ashworth, 
Deputy Director of Clinical 
Services 
 

   

Mr P Weller, Deputy Director 
(Quality and Governance)    

Mrs B Tabernacle, Deputy 
Director of Nursing    

Mr T Neve 
Company Secretary   X  

In Attendance    
Mrs A Dooley, Risk, 
Complaints and Litigation 
Manager 

   

Internal Auditor 
(when agenda requires) X X X 

 
Mr D. Jago 
Director of Finance     

Mrs A Prendergast 
Quality & Risk Manager    

Mr D Wilkinson 
Director of Human Resources X  X 
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The table below indicates attendance at the Quality and Clinical Governance 
Committee   
 

 
Quality and Clinical 
Governance Committee  

 

11 Apr 
2013  

9 May 
2013 

 

13 Jun 
2013  

11 Jul 
2013  

 
Cancelled 

16 Aug 
2013 

12 Sep 
2013  

 
Cancelled 

10 Oct 
2013  

Mrs T. Kalloo 
Non-Executive Director, Chair 

       

Ms A Higgins 
Non-Executive 

       

Ms K James 
Interim Chief Executive 

    x   

Mr B Ryan 
Interim Medical Director 

    X  X 

Mr John Goodenough  
Director of Nursing   

X X      

Dr A Massarano 
Lead Paediatric Consultant 

       

Mr A L Sivner 
Chief Pharmacist 

       

Mr P Weller 
Deputy Director (Quality and 
Governance) 

       

In attendance        
Mrs A Dooley  
Risk, Complaints and Litigation 
Manager  

       

Ms L Stewart  
Associate Deputy Director of 
Nursing 

       

Mrs Amanda Prendergast 
Quality & Risk Manager 

       

Mrs C Green 
Chief Executive 

       

Dr Mahmood 
Medical Director 

  X     

Dr Ross Kitson 
Patient Safety Lead 

X X X     
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The table below indicates attendance at the Quality Governance Committee  
 

Member 
Nov-
13 

Dec-
13 

Jan-
14 

Feb-
14 

Mar-
14 

Mrs T Kalloo, Non- Executive Director, Chair 	   	   	   	   	  

Ms A Higgins, Non-Executive Director 	   X	   	   	   	  

Ms J Soboljew, Non-Executive Director 	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  

Mr R Corless, Non-Executive Director 	  	   X	   X	   X	   	  	  

Mr B Ryan, Interim Medical Director 	   X	   	   	   	  

Mr J Goodenough, Director of Nursing 	   X	   	   	   X	  

Dr A Massarano, Lead Paediatric Consultant     	   	   	   	   X	  

Mr A L Sivner, Chief Pharmacist 	   	   	   	   X	  

Mr P Williams, Operational Officer 	  	   X	   	   	   	  

Mr P Weller, Director of Quality and Governance 	  	   	   	   	   	  

Ms A Bromley, Interim Director of Human Resources 	   	   	   	   	  

Ms B Herring, Director of Finance 	  	   X	   	   	   	  

Ms L Steward, Interim Deputy Director of Nursing 	   X	   	   	   	  

Mr T Neve, Company Secretary 	  	   X	   	   	   X	  

In attendance 	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  
Mr J Fletcher, Head of Assurance and Governance 
Development 	  	   	  	   	   	   	  

Mrs A Dooley, Head of Patient Safety and Risk Management 	   	   	   	   	  
   
 
QUALITY GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
 
A review of the trust against the quality governance framework was undertaken in 
order to evaluate the organisations performance, internal control and board 
assurance framework. More detail regarding this can be found in the Quality Report 
(page 38 to page 107) and the Annual Governance Statement (page 107 to 114) 
After an external review of Trust Board and Quality governance by Deloitte, the 
governance arrangements at the trust have been enhanced and the annual 
governance statement on page 106 provide more detail of the enhancements to 
governance that have been made. Deloitte does not have any other connection to 
the trust. 
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OUR PERFORMANCE 
 
The range of service targets that were set for acute Trusts in 2013/14 was wide 
ranging and challenging. The Trust has a strong record of delivering performance 
against service targets, and this has been the case again in 2013/14.   
 
 

 
 
PATIENT CARE 
 
Patient Safety Strategy 
 
The Trust Board is committed to delivering and improving patient safety. As a result 
of the external reviews a Patient Safety Strategy and Patient Safety Programme was 
developed. The Patient Safety programme focuses on key elements to deliver in a 
coordinated manner across the organisation with structures embedded to provide the 
necessary assurance and monitoring. The following indicates the key areas of focus: 
 

• Nutrition and hydration 
• Tissue viability and continence 
• Falls prevention 
• Reduction of harm from Venous Thrombosis 
• Medicines Safety 
• Infection prevention 

Targets as per Compliance Framework Target Met/Not 
Met 

Clostridium Difficile Infection 60 X 
Cancer two week wait for specialist appointment from GP urgent referral 93% √  
Cancer two week wait for specialist appointment with Breast symptoms 
(cancer not initially suspected) 93% √ 

Cancer 31 day diagnosis to treatment for first definitive treatment 96% √ 
Cancer 31 day diagnosis to treatment for second or subsequent treatment 
(surgery) 94% √ 

Cancer 31 day diagnosis to treatment for second or subsequent treatment 
(anti-cancer drug treatments) 98% √ 

Cancer 62 days to treatment from GP urgent referral 85% √ 
Cancer 62 days to treatment from Consultant/Screening service referral 90% √ 
Maximum waiting time of four hours from arrival to 
admission/transfer/discharge from A&E 95% X 

Referral to treatment waiting times – admitted (90th percentile) 18 weeks √ 
Referral to treatment waiting times – admitted (95th percentile) 18 weeks √ 
Referral to treatment waiting times – complete pathways (92nd percentile) 18 weeks √ 
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• Management of acutely unwell patients 
• Improved Peri operative outcomes through safer surgery 

 
Service Developments 
 
Over the past 12 months, there have been a number of improvements and service 
developments introduced to ensure the trust delivers the highest quality clinical 
services to its patients. 
 
The following brief summary gives an indication of some of those initiatives 
introduced with the aim of improving quality and safety of clinical services to patients. 
 
 
The Division of Emergency Services & Critical Care  
 
In the past 12 months there have been significant changes within the Division that 
have seen improvements in the services that are provided. 
 
A review of the patients journey has seen the complete reconfiguration of the way 
patients access our services. An investment of over £800,000 into the Nursing 
workforce has seen the recruitment of over 20 additional qualified nurses in to this 
division. We have also reviewed and developed processes that have the most sick 
patients being seen by a Consultant closer to the point of arrival through a process 
known as REACT. This means that patients have senior decision makers deciding on 
their plan of care, including admission or discharge, in a more timely manner. 
Patients who are seen by senior staff have better outcomes. 
 
On the Medical Assessment Unit (MAU) we have had additional Consultant support 
through a ‘buddying’ arrangement with University Hospital of South Manchester. This 
has allowed us to further develop our Ambulatory Emergency Care Service which 
has been recognised as an exemplar by the Emergency Care Intensive Support 
Team (ECIST – a nationally recognised team of experts in urgent care). 
 
This Division has been concentrating on ‘Right Patient, Right Bed’ to ensure patients 
have access to specialist inpatient beds where necessary. This has seen a 
significant reduction in the number of patients who spend more than 24hrs on the 
MAU. 
 
Additional investment has been made in ward based nursing to increase the nurse to 
patient ratio. There have been additional middle grade level doctor posts identified to 
improve ward based medical cover and provide support to junior Doctors in training. 
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The junior Doctors induction process has been completely reviewed and revised and 
is now much improved as is testified by both the juniors themselves and their 
supervisors. 
 
 
The Division of Women’s and Children’s 
 
Women’s Health Unit (WHU) 
 
The integrated WHU continues to provide safe, high quality care to women who 
access our services. Friends and families questionnaires have demonstrated above 
average positive results from our patients. The enhanced recovery programme is 
well established within the Unit and has resulted in reduced length of stay and 
improved patient satisfaction.  
 
Consultant delivered training sessions continue to be provided for A&E staff with the 
aim of improving the service we provide for women who attend the A&E department 
with problems in early pregnancy and improved communication between the two 
departments.  
 
Maternity Services 
 
In 2013, 2512 women gave birth to 2531 babies. The caesarean section rate remains 
below the national average at 21%; the instrumental (assisted) delivery rate is 8.5%; 
and inductions of labour at 23%. 
 
Having a home birth is an option for women and 2% of women chose this. 
 
Community Midwifery 
 
The Community Midwifery/Midwifery Led Care team provides care for all women of 
the Tameside and Glossop area, throughout their pregnancy. Care is provided 
through a team approach and each GP Practice has an allocated named Midwife. 
 
The Midwifery Led Care Team has also developed a home birth emergency 
workshop to support their colleagues in the Community, who attend home births. The 
event has been undertaken in the home environment, to provide realism and has 
been well received and will continue in the future. 
 
Children’s Services 
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The Children’s Services at Tameside continues to deliver a high quality service to 
children’s and young people from the Tameside and Glossop area. Providing 21 
inpatient beds, 7 observation and assessment beds, 8 day case surgery beds, a 13 
cot NICU and an impressive children’s outpatient department, the whole service 
provides a seamless service from front door to back door taking the needs of patients 
into consideration at every level.  
 
The Division of Elective Services 
 
Upper Limb Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) 
 
During the year we have established a MDT approach to the follow up and 
rehabilitation of our shoulder surgery patients. At the initial post-operative visit 
patients are seen by both the surgeon and an experienced physiotherapist so that 
the most appropriate rehabilitation regime can be quickly enacted 
 
Ear Nose and Throat (ENT) Neck Lump Service 
 
One of our ENT surgeons who specialises in head and neck cancer surgery working 
across both Central Manchester Hospitals Foundation Trust and Tameside Hospital 
has introduced an innovative one-stop approach for neck lumps. The surgeon has 
been trained in the use of ultrasound equipment and is able to carry out aspiration of 
neck lump fluid on the day of patient’s outpatient appointments so that they can be 
promptly checked for potential malignancy. This service is provided in conjunction 
with colleagues in histopathology who assess the fluid content on the same day. This 
one-stop approach is being increasingly adopted across the organisation were 
appropriate to improve the timeliness of patient journeys by significantly speeding up 
the diagnostic process 
 
Cancer Services 
 
Lung Cancer Pathway 
 
The Lung Cancer pathway was redesigned to enhance the service and provide 
guarantees that patients will be reviewed, diagnosed and treated within as short a 
timescale as possible whilst maintaining a high standard of quality. The changes 
made included an inter department approach to ensure that certain diagnostics, 
particularly CT imaging is performed and reported ahead of the patient’s first 
outpatient appointment. The model implemented provides a quality pathway for 
patients referred to the Respiratory team with suspected cancer. The benefits of the 
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pathway changes include the reduction in time to review treat or discharge along with 
the reduction in the number of unnecessary invasive procedures.  
 
Straight to Test  
 
The Colorectal team have worked with their GP colleagues over the past year to 
develop a new pathway for patients being referred to a Specialist with a suspicion of 
a bowel cancer. It was recognised that a cohort of these patients could be referred 
directly for a diagnostic and not for an outpatient appointment. In line with this the 
pathway for ‘Straight to Test’ was designed and throughout the year GP’s have been 
referring their patients when clinically appropriate directly for a colonoscopy. This 
pathway provides for patients who are young and relativity well to be reviewed and 
have a diagnostic at the first visit. It reduces the time from referral to the diagnostic; it 
means that the majority of patients only have to visit the hospital once and that the 
clinical needs for the patient are met 
 
The Division of Diagnostics and Therapeutic Services  
 
Pathology 
 
Pathology at Tameside Hospital during 2013/14 was shortlisted for the Chairman’s 
Prize for improvements within the Blood Bank, the department had a highly 
successful HTA inspection for the Mortuary Services, and the inspectors 
complemented good practice. The department is also fully engaged with South 
Sector Pathology with University Hospital South Manchester and Stockport 
Foundation Trust and during 2014/15 it is expected the service will be combined to 
provide a high quality service for all 3 Trusts. Pathology also has planned UKAS ISO 
Inspections for all services in the next 12-18 months. 
 
 
Pharmacy 
 
Following a successful temporary pilot, the Pharmacy department is now open 
permanently seven days per week.  This has enabled the pharmaceutical service to 
support the admission and discharge of patients over the weekend and to improve 
access to more timely treatment for patients. In addition a pharmacist is now present 
on the Medical Assessment Unit seven days per week. This means that patients’ 
medicines on admission can be checked and confirmed to ensure continuity of safe 
and effective prescribing and to avoid unintentional omissions.  Patient discharges or 
transfers from the unit can also be expedited. 
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The antibiotic specialist pharmacists developed a Smartphone app during 2013 
which incorporates the Trust Antibiotic guidelines and is an additional information 
resource for hospital staff and enables them to check which antibiotic should be 
prescribed for which infection, in what dosage and for how long and is seen as an 
important component of the Trust’s strategy for managing healthcare acquired 
infections where good antibiotic prescribing practice is considered essential. In 
addition a condensed version of the guidelines for the most common infections was 
also produced to be inserted on the reverse of the lanyard security badges for instant 
reference. These developments to support the best use of antibiotics were awarded 
one of the Chairman’s prizes in 2013 
 
 
Community Interest Company  
 
In partnership with patients and several members of staff, the Trust continues its 
involvement with Tameside Cancer Complementary Therapy Community Interest 
Company (Tameside CIC). This CIC was set up in 2010 with the express intention of 
delivering complementary therapy treatment to cancer patients on a free of charge 
basis. The service is hosted by the Hospital and is delivered from the Ladysmith 
Building. 
 
 
Stakeholder Relationships  
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust operates within a local and regional health 
economy. Highlighted below are the key stakeholders which the trust works with. 
  
The Trust’s main commissioner is NHS Tameside and Glossop which accounts for 
approximately 82% of all income received from commissioners. Most of the 
remainder of the clinical income is spread across 5 other NHS Commissioners within 
the Greater Manchester area. 
 
The hospital continues to work very closely with Pennine Care NHS Foundation 
Trust, with whom we share the Tameside General Hospital site. 
  
Other key stakeholders are Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council (TMBC), the 
North West Ambulance Service, (NWAS) the Tameside Third Sector Coalition 
(voluntary sector),  and our Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Partners, Consort 
Healthcare. 
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In addition to commissioning agreements with PCTs, we collaborate with a number of 
other NHS bodies including the following: 
  
Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust – Central 
Manchester operates our 18 station Renal Dialysis Unit which is located on the 
Tameside site. 
  
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust – Outpatient Ophthalmology services and 
Outpatient and Daycase Oral surgery services on the Tameside site are provided by 
Pennine Acute. 
  
Stockport NHS Foundation Trust – Outpatient Urology Services are provided on our 
site by medical staff from Stockport NHS Foundation Trust. We also commission a 
range of services from  
 
Stockport which support inpatient and outpatient services delivered by THFT 
including dietetics and speech and language therapy. 
  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust – visiting Consultants and supporting Clinical 
Nurse Specialists provide an on-site oncology service. 
 
Salford Royal - Neurosurgery Outpatients 
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GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance was most recently updated in 
December 2013. The purpose of this code is to assist NHS foundation trust boards in 
improving their governance practices by bringing together the best practice of public 
and private sector corporate governance. The following section briefly describes an 
overview of the governance arrangements in place at the trust. Information relating to 
the system of internal control adopted by the trust may be found in the Annual 
Governance Statement on page 107 to page 114. 
 
The governance arrangements of the Trust include a Governing Council (the Council 
of Governors) and the Trust Board of Directors. One of the key roles of the Council of 
Governors is to form a critical link between the Foundation Trust membership and 
the Trust Board, enabling a two way exchange. The Council of Governors has a key 
focus on external relationships and on growing and developing the membership 
base, listening to their views and reflecting them to the Board. However, it remains 
closely involved in internal discussions about developing strategy and continually 
improving the quality of care and the range of services provided. The Health and 
Social Care Act (2012) has strengthened the role and responsibilities of the Council 
of Governors and the over-riding role is to hold the non-executive directors 
individually and collectively to account for the performance of the board of directors 
and to represent the interests of NHS foundation trust members and of the public.  
 
The Chairman, Chief Executive, and the Company Secretary form the key link 
between the work of the Council of Governors and that of the Trust Board. Should 
any disagreements between the council of governors and the board of directors arise 
that cannot be resolved through normal channels, the Senior Independent Director 
will attempt to resolve these concerns. Mr Adrian Anderson retired as the Senior 
Independent Director (SID) in November 2013, and replaced by Ms Tricia Kalloo in 
December 2013. 
 
The Trust Board is the principal forum for strategic decision making for the Trust. The 
Board brings together the expertise and independence of the Non-Executive 
members with the knowledge and experience of the Executive Team to support the 
on-going management of the organisation, as well as strategic direction setting. The 
Board continually reviews the commercial and financial robustness of the 
organisation, from the position in-year, through to the very long timescales required 
to support major capital investments. The Board also provides the focus for all of the 
Trust’s assurance processes, and all self-assessments and external declarations. 
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The Trust Board delegates responsibility for the day-to-day running of the Trust’s 
business to the Chief Executive and the Executive Directors. The Non-Executives 
hold the Executives to account through the work of the Trust Board and its 
Committees. 
 
 
All Executive Directors are subject to annual performance evaluation by the Chief 
Executive who in turn is evaluated by the Chairman. Non-Executive Directors are 
evaluated by the Chairman, who in turn is evaluated by the Senior Independent 
Director. 
 
All Board committees annually assess their performance against their Terms of 
Reference and report their evaluation to the Trust Board. 
 
All of the Non-Executive Directors on the Trust Board are considered to be 
independent. This assessment is based on the information contained within the 
Register of Directors’ Interests. The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance 
recommends that the Trust Board should appoint one of the Non-Executive Directors 
as the senior independent director, in consultation with the Council of Governors. 
The senior independent Director should be available to members and Members of 
Council if they have concerns which cannot be resolved through the normal channels 
of Chairman, Chief Executive or Finance Director. 
 
Governing Council 
 
Following the establishment of the Foundation Trust in February 2008, the Council of 
Governors which had existed in shadow form for some time, assumed its full range of 
responsibilities and continues to discharge their responsibilities as defined in the 
Trust Constitution. The Council of Governors meets on a quarterly basis with a 
formal agenda covering both standing and ad hoc items. Attendance at these 
meetings is given in the table which follows. The following committees have been 
established as sub committees of the Council of Governors: 
 
- Nominations Committee 
- Membership and Marketing Committee 
- Equality and Diversity Group 
 
 
In addition, the following groups report their progress and proceedings formally to the 
Council of Governors, namely the User Reference Group, the Improving Patient 
Environment Group and the Disability Equality Working Group. 
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for advising and/or making 
recommendations to the Council of Governors in all matters relating to the 
recruitment process for the selection of candidates for the office of Chairman or other 
Non-Executive Directors. 
 
During the past year, the Nomination Committee agreed and oversaw the 
appointment to 2 Non-Executive Director positions. A national open advertising 
process was used to make the appointments.  
 
An Annual plan Advisory Committee was established to work with Governors, both 
elected and appointed, to establish their view on the trust’s forward plan, including its 
objective’s, priorities and strategy, and these views have been communicated to the 
board of directors.  
A cycle of meetings held in public has been established since 2008.  These meetings 
involve the relevant Governor of Council meeting with the public membership for their 
area. The meetings were supported by Trust senior staff and attended by the 
Chairman, Chief Executive and Director of Nursing. During 2013/14 the agenda of 
public meetings has continued and many issues were discussed. Members of the 
public raised a wide range of issues including the waiting times for appointments and 
car parking charges, as  well as many positive comments regarding the change of 
leadership and its impact on the quality of services. 
 
The constituency meetings that are held in the townships are one way in which 
publically elected governors determine the views of their members. Staff governors 
regularly meet with their membership at staff forum and these views are 
communicated to the board and the bi-monthly Council of Governors meetings.   
 
Membership 
 
The Trust membership comprises a Public Constituency, a Staff Constituency and 
six members appointed from partnership organisations. 
 
Public Constituency 
 
The table below summarises the boundaries for public membership, the approximate 
population of the membership, and the number of Members of Council for each area. 
The areas are based on electoral wards. The trust considers the membership to be 
representative of the community it serves as much of the recruitment of new 
members take place when patients attend the hospital for the first time. There are 
currently 21,000 public members registered. 
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Area Population Number of Governors  
Ashton under Lyne 45,000   2 
Audenshaw 11,000   1 
Denton  34,000   2 
Droylsden 23,000   1 
Dukinfield 23,000   1 
Hyde 34,000   2 
Longdendale  10,000   1 
Mossley 10,000   1 
Stalybridge 22,000   1 
Glossop 28,000   2 
England and Wales 53,000,000   1 
 
 
An individual aged 16 years or over who lives in one the above areas can become a 
member of the Trust following completion of an appropriate application form. 
 
Public Members of council are elected for a period of three years, and are eligible for 
re-election at the end of that period. 
 
 
Staff Constituency 
 
The table below summarises the six classes into which the staff membership is 
divided.  
 
Division  Number of Staff Governors  
Emergency Services and Critical Care 1 
Diagnostic and Therapeutic Services  1 
Women’s and Children’s Services 1 
Elective Services 1 
Facilities 1 
Corporate Services 1 
 
 
The Trust operates an opt out membership policy. To date, only four members of 
staff have opted out of membership of the staff constituency. 
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Individuals aged sixteen years or over who are employed by the Trust, or are not 
employed but exercise functions for the Trust, are eligible for membership of the staff 
constituency without application, provided they endorse the values and principles of 
the Trust. The period of employment must be at least 12 months. An individual who 
is eligible to be a member of the Staff Constituency cannot also be a member of the 
Public Constituency. And cannot therefore become or continue as a member of more 
than one class.  
 
Changes to Council of Governors 2013/14 
 
During the year the following changes occurred in the composition of the Council of 
Governors:- 
 
 
Retiring Governors 
 
Barbara Anderton - Mossley 
Julie Soboljew – Glossop 
Dr Murtaza Husaini – England and Wales 
Laura Almond – Glossop 
Cathy Allen – Staff Governor 
Mary Judge – Staff Governor 
Anne Dobson – Staff Governor 
 
Joining Governors 
 
Chris Webster – Glossop 
Anne Townley – Glossop 
Dr David Derbyshire – England and Wales 
Sally Lewcock – Staff Governor 
Monika Berechula – Staff Governor 
Ali Al Chalabi – Staff Governor 
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Governor Attendance 2013/14  
The table below indicates attendance at the Council of Governor Board meetings  
 

 
 
 

Public Governor Township 
4th June 

2013 
13th August 

2013 

12th 
November 

2013 

 
5th 

February 
2014 

Mrs J Bowes-Porter Ashton under Lyne     
Mr J Stafford Ashton under Lyne     
Mrs W Brelsford Audenshaw     
Mr T Askew Denton     
Mrs G Drummond Denton     
Vacant/Mr J Vare Droylsden  	   	    
Mrs P Devine Dukinfield  	   	    
Dr M Husaini England and Wales       
Miss L Almond Glossop      
Mrs J Soboljew Glossop   	    
Vacant/Ms K Parkes  Hyde     
Mr J Philips Hyde    x 
Mrs J Cooper  Longdendale    x 
MrsB Anderton/Vacant Mossley x x 	    
Dr M Matin Stalybridge     
Staff Governor Division    
Miss A Patel Corporate Services       	  x  x  

Vacant/Mr A Al-Chalabi  
Diagnostic and 
Therapeutic Services 	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	      

Mrs J Bergin 
Elective Services 
Division x x x  

Mrs M Judge 
Emergency 
Services/critical care     

   Mr M McCluskey Facilities  x x  x 
Ms C Allen Women’s and Children’s x  x  
Partnership Governor  Organisation    
Vacant Consort Healthcare  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	     

Vacant/Cllr Pat Jenner 
High Peak Borough 
Council   x x  

Dr R Patel/Dr Alan Dow 
Tameside and Glossop 
Primary Care Trust   x  

Mrs D Cartwright   Third Sector Coalition     
Cllr B Warrington TMBC   	   x 
Mr J Davies Young Person  x    
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Eligibility and Exclusion 
 
Both public and staff members can be excluded from membership. The Trust 
Constitution contains full details of the conditions for disqualification from 
membership – the list which follows summarises the situations in which this can 
occur. 
 
Members can be disqualified if they have: 
 
•    been classified as a vexatious complainant, 
•    verbally or physically assaulted a Trust employee, volunteer, patient or visitor, 
•    been dismissed from the employment of the Trust (certain exclusions apply), 
•    sanctioned under the Trust’s Zero Tolerance Policy, 
•    registered as a sex offender, 
•    failed to agree to abide by the Trust’s values and principles, 
•   made a false application or statement in relation to their membership or election to 
the Council of Governors, or 
•    acted in a manner that is contrary to the Trust’s principles and objectives. 
 
If an individual ceases to be employed by the Trust, or perform functions on behalf of 
the Trust, they are no longer eligible for membership of the staff constituency. 
 
Membership Numbers 
The following table shows the number of public members in each area as at March 
2014.  
 
The Public Constituency membership currently stands at 21,885 
 
Public Township  Number of Members 
Ashton-Under-Lyne  4740 
Audenshaw 899 
Denton 2231 
Droylsden  1460 
Dukinfield 1901 
England and Wales  1597 
Glossop  1972 
Hyde 3553 
Longdendale 325 
Mossley 762 
Stalybridge  2465 
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Membership Strategy 
 
The Trust maintains a data base of membership. This enables analysis of the 
composition of the membership which provides a matrix for membership drives. A 
Membership Committee, comprising Members of Council and supported by the 
Company Secretary who takes the lead on  Membership, looks at specific ways of 
increasing membership in line with the Trust’s Membership Strategy.  
 
During 2013/14 a concerted effort was made to significantly increase the 
membership by conducting a marketing campaign focussing on patients and visitors 
entering the hospital via the main entrances of the Hartshead building. As a result of 
this initiative, the membership has risen from 15,348 as at 31 March 2013, to 21,885 
at 31 March 2014. 
 
The public governors also actively recruit members from within their constituencies.  
 
Contact procedures 
 
To facilitate contact between members and Governors of Council, the hospital 
website contains the names, and contact details (email and telephone) for all of the 
Governors of Council.  
 
A register of interests for the Council of Governors is held by the Company Secretary 
and is available for inspection on request. 
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Chief Executive’s Overview 

Since the production of the Quality Account for 2012/13 many changes have been 
made at Tameside. The organisation has commenced an improvement journey 
following the publication of the Keogh review in July 2013. This publication along 
with other inspection reports by other regulators or accrediting bodies identified 
deficiencies in the way we had delivered care. Therefore improvements were 
required. 
Following this the Trust’s leadership changed and I was seconded from our “Buddy 
Trust”, University Hospital South Manchester (UHSM) as Interim Chief Executive 
along with an Interim Medical Director Brendan Ryan to drive through improvements 
in the way care is provided at Tameside. We had other new leaders across the 
organisation too; all wanting to play their part in the changes. 
These changes have been undertaken in partnership with Tameside Metropolitan 
Borough Council (TMBC) and Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) and have enabled a joint approach to the improvement journey. 
Our journey is from a baseline that was unacceptable, and since July 2013 I believe 
we have made significant progress to improve our services.  This improvement was 
acknowledged by both the Keogh review Team following their visit on the 16th 
December (6 months into the Improvement Journey) and the CQC 
acknowledgement of improvement following the January 2014 inspection. However 
there is still much to do. 
Our Strategy for Improvement led from the board of Directors has been delivered  
through the Executive Led Improvement Board and has CCG, Local Authority (LA) 
and Healthwatch membership, with Monitor in attendance.  
The Keogh Review highlighted 5 key areas for Trust Improvement; the improvement 
journey in these areas is detailed below: 
 

1. Care risks associated with the emergency and medical pathway. 
2. Board not effectively leading quality improvement and governance and the 

leadership not delivering the required improvements in quality of care. 
3. The Quality Strategy and performance management information needed 

significant improvement. 
4. The need to develop organisational culture to remove tolerance of sub-

optimal care and engage more effectively with staff at all levels to improve 
quality 

5. The need to improve patient and public engagement 
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The Board has overseen the delivery of an integrated plan for change.  
I hope that this Quality Account demonstrates how we are monitoring the journey we 
are on, and the progress we have made to date. The Trust Board is committed to 
ensuring that the Quality and Safety of services we provide to our patients in 
Tameside Hospital are of the highest quality and we are working with our partners, 
stakeholders and the community to achieve this objective and that we develop the 
reputation for Tameside Hospital as a provider of safe, high quality, effective care 
which we would all choose to use.  
 

 
 
Karen James  
Interim Chief Executive 
29 May 2014 
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2013/14 STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF 
THE QUALITY REPORT 
 
In preparing the Quality Report, Directors are required to take steps to satisfy 
themselves that: 
 
• The content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
 

• The content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external 
sources of information including: 

 
- Board minutes and papers for the period April 2013 to [the date of 

signing this statement] 
-  Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 

2014 to the date of signing this statement 
- Feedback from the Commissioners dated 23/05/2014  
- Feedback from the Council of Governors dated 22/05/2014  
-  Feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 22/05/2014  
- The Trust’s Draft Complaints Report published under regulation 18 of 

the Local Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 
2009, dated 15/05/2014. 

- The national patient survey dated April 2014 
- The national staff survey dated February 2014. 
- The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control 

environment dated 28/05/2014  
- Care Quality Commission Intelligence monitoring report March 2014  
 

• The Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s 
performance over the period covered; 
 

• The performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and 
accurate; 

 
• There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the 

measures of performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls are 
subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice; 
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• The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality 
Report is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and 
prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and the  

 
Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting 
guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts Regulations) as well as the 
standards to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality Report.  

 
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied 
with the above requirements in preparing the Quality Report. 
By order of the Board  
 
 
 
Chair       Date 29th May 2014   
       
 
 
 
Chief Executive               Date 29th May 2014 
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Statement of Assurance from the Board 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust operates from Tameside Hospital in 
Ashton-under-Lyne, providing a range of acute hospital services for a population of 
approximately 250,000 people living in the surrounding area.   
The Trust became a Foundation Trust in February 2008 and currently employs 
around 2,300 staff, across a host of professions. 
Review of Services 
During 2013/14 the Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provided and/or sub-
contracted 7 relevant health services(defined using the Care Quality Commission’s 
regulated activities). 
The services provided were: 

• Treatment of disease, disorder or injury 
• Diagnostic and screening procedures 
• Family planning services 
• Maternity and Midwifery services 
• Surgical procedures 
• Termination of pregnancies 
• Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental 

Health Act 1983 
The Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available to 
them on the quality of care in all 7 of these NHS Services. The data the Trust has 
reviewed cover the three dimensions of quality – patient safety, clinical effectiveness 
and patient experience where necessary.  Where appropriate the Trust have 
indicated where the amount of data for review has impeded this objective.  The Trust 
systematically and continuously reviews data related to the Quality of its services.  
The Trust uses its Quality, Safety and Performance metrics to demonstrate this.  
Reports to the Trust Board, the Trust’s Quality and Clinical Governance Committee, 
Trust Executive Group and other key committees and the Performance Management 
Framework all include data and information relating to our quality of services.  The 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available on the 
quality of care in all of these NHS Services.   
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2013/14 
represents 92% of the total income generated from the provision of relevant health 
services by the Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for 2013/14.  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provides the wide array of services one 
would associate with a general hospital.  These include emergency services, general 
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and specialist surgery and full consultant-led obstetric and paediatric hospital 
services for women, children and babies.  

How Quality Initiatives are Prioritised at the Hospital 
 
Following the Keogh review the Trust’s leadership changed and an Interim Chief 
Executive and Interim Medical Director were appointed to the Executive team who 
collectively are overseeing the drive of improvements in the way care is provided at 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.  
These changes have been undertaken in partnership with Tameside Metropolitan 
Borough Council and Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group and 
have enabled a joint approach to the improvement journey. 
The Keogh Review highlighted 5 key areas for Trust Improvement; detailed below 
 

1. Care risks associated with the emergency and medical pathway 
2. Board not effectively leading quality improvement and governance and 

leadership has not delivered required improvements in quality of care 
3. Quality strategy and performance management information needs significant 

improvement 
4. Need to develop organisational culture to remove tolerance of sub-optimal 

care and engage more effectively with staff at all levels to improve quality 
5. Need to improve patient and public engagement 

 

The Trust Board has overseen the delivery of the plan that has been agreed. The 
improvement programme consists of 5 key areas and the content of this Quality 
Report will provide an overview of progress against these key improvement areas. 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is on an improvement journey from a 
baseline that was found to be unacceptable, and since July 2013 we believe we 
have made significant progress against the Trust improvement programme. 
The pages below identify Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality 
Improvement Strategy which identifies how our Quality initiatives are identified, and 
the Patient Safety Programme which sets out our key patient safety priorities. 
 



	  

Page	  63	  of	  212	  	  

 



	  

Page	  64	  of	  212	  	  

 

 



Page	  65	  of	  212	  	  

The Continuous Improvement of Clinical Quality is further incentivised through the 
contracting mechanism which includes quality schedules, penalties and CQUIN 
payments.  
NHS England frameworks and the Francis Report into Mid Staffordshire Hospitals also 
highlight the focus on quality, and are linked to the NHS Mandate and Constitution. We 
have worked with Tameside and Glossop Commissioners to align our quality aims and to 
maximise the potential delivery through these mechanisms.  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s improvement priorities for 2013/14 have 
been redefined and revised following the Keogh review. They have been chosen 
because they seek to address the issues related top Quality and Safety identified in the 
report. They have been agreed with Stakeholders as Trust Board Priorities and Quality 
initiatives aligned with national and locally mandated requirements and agreed CQUIN 
priorities which have been informed by Quality analysis and by patient and staff 
engagement and feedback.  
Priorities for Quality Improvement 

Normally we would report on the priorities outlined in the 2012/13 Quality Account, 
however, the agreed objectives for 2012/13 were refocused and identified following the 
Keogh review publication in conjunction with key stakeholders. to address the concerns 
in patient care and treatment identified and have been monitored through the Trust Board 
and its subcommittees. Therefore no detailed report is provided for the 2012/13 outlined 
objectives. 
In 2013/14 the Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust aimed to achieve the following:  
Priority Domain: Patient Safety 

• To implement a Patient Safety Programme with key work streams to focus on 
providing harm free care and provision of High Quality Safe Care.  

• To reduce further our Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio(HSMR)/Standard 
Hospital-level Mortality Index (SHMI). 

• To maintain or improve on the Trust’s performance in relation to MRSA 
Bacteraemia and C Difficile. 

• To comply with the requirement to monitor MSSA and E Coli Bacteraemia, and to 
meet any agreed trajectory proposed in year 

• Increase incident reporting and minimise incidents with moderate to severe harm 
or death. 

 
Priority Domain: Patient Experience 

• Monitor and improve patient experience through use of surveys and feedback and 
taking action on the issues identified. 

• Minimise occurrence of mixed sex accommodation breaches. 
• Minimise the number of complaints received and comeback complaints. 



Page	  66	  of	  212	  	  

• Ensure that Complainants receive responses in an agreed timescale.  
• Ensure staff are appropriately trained, supported and enabled to deliver their part 

in the Patient Care we provide. 
  

Priority Domain: Patient Outcomes 
• Provide access to services in line with the national and local standards identified 

and agreed.  
• Implementation of Care to bets practice standards. E.G. Advancing Quality 

pathways, Stroke care 
• Minimise delays in delivery of care and treatment 

 

Progress against these priorities is detailed in Part three of the Quality account. 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s priorities for improvement in 2014/15 are 
embedded in the Trust Board agreed objectives provided in full at the end of the Quality 
account. 
Our priorities for improvement are developed in the context of our agreed Quality 
Improvement Strategy and Patient Safety Programme implemented and developed with 
our stakeholders since the publication of the Keogh review in July 2013.  
The priorities for 2014/15 are  

1. Improved Patient Safety by : 
• Reduction in the number of avoidable hospital acquired pressure ulcers and we 

will reduce the incidence of pressure sores Grade 2 and above. We will ensure 
less than 1% incidence with a 99% compliance rate. 

• Reduction in catheter associated urinary tract infection ensuring 99% of 
patients receive no avoidable UTI. 

• Increase in the identification of deteriorating patients and a reduction in the 
number of avoidable cardiac arrest calls and improved response to 
deterioration triggers. We will ensure a 50% reduction from the baseline.  

• Reduction in patient falls resulting in harm ensuring less than 1% incidence 
resulting in 99% of patients receiving harm free care.  

• Reduction in harm from VTE through appropriate risk assessment and 
thromboprophylaxis. 

• Reduction in the number of hospital acquired infections. 
• Improved compliance with infection prevention standards and requirements. 

Incident reporting will increase resulting in the Trust being in the upper quartile 
of comparable similar sized Trusts using NRLS data. 

• The number of incidents causing harm will reduce resulting in a reduction in 
harm per 1000 patient incidents when compared to similar sized Trusts using 
NRLS data. 

• The percentage of harm free care will increase from the current baseline of 
95% with the aim of harm free care for every patient. 



Page	  67	  of	  212	  	  

2. Improved Patient Experience by: 
• Improvement in Friends & Family Test and response rates by a further 5% on 

the national trajectory. 
• Improvement in patient experience score and net promoter score. 
• Reduction in the number of complaints per 1000 patient contacts to below 1.15 

complaints per 1,000 patient contacts. 
• Increase in the number of recorded compliments per 1000 patient contacts by 

25% above current baseline 
• Improvement in results of the First Friday feedback 
• Achievement of all access standards  

3. Improved Quality of Patient Care and Outcome  by: 
• Increased participation in and  improvements in performance against 

national/local clinical audits. 
• Improved compliance with clinical care bundles and Advancing Quality 

markers. 
• Adherence to all eligible NICE Guidelines.  
• Reduction in 30 day re-admission rates from the current baseline of 9.1% to 

8.73% (75th percentile). 
• Adherence to all agreed internal standards with systematic monitoring and 

assurance processes.  
• Reduction in mortality rates and implementation of a systematic review process 

to levels that are not statistically significant and show a reduction in the raw 
death rate and the implementation of a systematic review process. 

• Improved care in relation to nutrition and hydration. 
These objectives build on those put in place following the Keogh review as part of the 
improvement programme. Progress against these objectives will be reported and 
monitored through the Trust Board and its subcommittees against agreed standards.  
These priorities have been chosen based upon national/local priorities and taking 
analysed patient and stakeholder feedback.  Where benchmarking information has been 
used in data provided in this report, unless otherwise stated, it has been taken from data 
available from the Health and Social Care Information Centre. 
Monitoring Priorities at Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
The Governance systems across the Trust have been considerably reviewed and revised 
since the publication of the Keogh review in July 2013. The committee structures have 
been revised and restructured to strengthen the governance processes in place across 
the organisation. These provide assurance structures to appropriately monitor, challenge 
and seek assurance on workstreams, agreed action and priorities by the Executive Team 
and for concerns and risks to be appropriately managed and escalated and assurance on 
this provided to the Trust Board through these revised structures and  processes.  
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Participation in Clinical Audits              
Clinical Audit involves improving the Quality of Patient Care by looking at current practice 
and modifying it where necessary. We take part in Regional and National Clinical Audits, 
and we carry out local clinical audits. Sometimes there are also National Confidential 
Enquiries which investigate an area of Health Care and recommend ways of improving it.  
 
National Clinical Audits  
The National Quality Account for 2013/14 contained 44 national clinical audits and 5 
national confidential enquiries (see Table 1). 
During 2013/14 28 National clinical audits and 2 national confidential enquiries covered 
relevant health services that Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provides.  
During 2013/14 Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust participated in 100% national 
clinical audits, and 100% national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate 
in. This is an improvement from the previous position.  
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Tameside Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to participate in during 2013/14 are as follows: 
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Table 1: National Quality Account 2013/14 participation in eligible audits and 
confidential enquiries 

Audit Title 2013/14 
Trust Participation 

Neonatal Intensive & Special Care (NNAP) National Neonatal Audit Programme Y 
Paediatric Asthma (British Thoracic Society Y 
Childhood Epilepsy – Epilepsy 12 Audit (RCCHP) Y 
Diabetes (RCPH National Paediatric Diabetes Audit) Y 
Paediatric Intensive Care (PICANet) Not eligible 
Paediatric Cardiac Surgery (NICOR Congenital Heart Disease Audit) Not eligible 
"Moderate or severe asthma in children (care provided in Emergency Departments - College 
of Emergency Medicine) Y 

Emergency Use of Oxygen (British Thoracic Society) Y 
Adult Community Acquired Pneumonia (British Thoracic Society) Terminated Nationally 
Non Invasive Ventilation (NIV) – Adults (British Thoracic Society) Terminated Nationally 
Cardiac Arrest (National Cardiac Arrest Audit) (ICNARC) Y 
Adult Critical care (Case Mix Programme ICNARC CMP) Y 
Emergency Laparotomy (Royal College of Anaesthetists) Y 
Severe Trauma Audit Network (TARN) Y 
Paracetamol overdose (care provided in Emergency Departments - College of Emergency 
Medicine) Y 

Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock (College of Emergency Medicine) Y 
National Diabetes Audit (NDA) Including  National Diabetes (adult) audit and National 
Diabetes Inpatient Audit Y 

Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Royal College of Obstetricians) Audit not currently active 
National Pain Audit:Pain Database Audit not currently active 
Inflammatory Bowel Disease – Ulcerative Colitis (National IBD Audit) Y 
Inflammatory Bowel Disease – Biologics (National IBD Audit) Y 
Bronchiectasis – Paediatric (British Thoracic Society) Not eligible 
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Y 
Pulmonary Hypertension Not eligible 
National Audit of Dementia (NAD)(RCPsych) No data required 2013/14 
Hip, Knee and Ankle Replacements (National Joint Registry) Y 
National Vascular Registry  (VSGBI Vascular Surgery Database) Y 
Adult Cardiac Surgery (ACS) Not eligible 
Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme) Hernias, Total Hip Replacement, Total Knee 
Replacement, Varicose Veins Y 

Coronary Angioplasty (NICOR Adult Cardiac Interventions Audit) Not eligible 
Acute Myocardial Infarction & Other ACS (MINAP) Y 
Heart Failure (National Heart Failure Database – NICOR, BSH, NCASP) Y 
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme  (SSNAP) Y 
Cardiac arrhythmia (cardiac rhythm management audit) (HRM) Y 
Renal Registry (UKRR) Not eligible 
Lung Cancer (National Lung Cancer Audit) Y 
Bowel Cancer (National Bowel Cancer Audit Programme - NBOCAP) Y 
Head & Neck Cancer  (DAHNO) Y 
Oesophago-gastric cancer (NAOGC, RCOS) Y 
Hip Fracture (National Hip Fracture Database) Y 
National audit of psychological therapies (NAPT) Not eligible 
Prescribing in mental health services (POMH) Not eligible 
Schizophrenia (RCO PsychiaTrusts NAS team) CCQI Not eligible 
Comparative audit of Blood Transfusion: O Negative Blood Use, Medical Use of Blood, 
Platelet use Terminated Nationally 

 
Confidential Enquiries: Clinical Outcome Review programmes 

Asthma Deaths (NRAD, RCOP, Long-Term Conditions) 

Child Heath Programme (RCPCH, Women’s and Children’s health) 
Terminated Nationally from 

Quality Account List 
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Maternal infant and perinatal – Perinatal mortality (Women’s and Children’s Health - 
MBRRACE) Y 

Medical and Surgical Programme NCEPOD 
Including: 
-Best Practice Monitoring report 
-High Risk patients and NCEPOD recommendations in dealing with 
  high risk surgical patients  
-NCEPOD: Time to Intervene 
 Standards of Medical Staff documentation to include ALL aspects of 
  history and examination  
-NCEPOD: Time to Intervene 
 Audit of acute admission to confirm review of patients at Consultant 
 level within 12 hours (Audit 6 monthly- Audit1) 
-NCEPOD: Time to Intervene 
 CPR and DNAR status recorded for all acute admissions 
-NCEPOD: Time to Intervene 
 NICE audit of CG50 
-NCEPOD: Time to Intervene 
 Standards of Medical Staff documentation to include ALL aspects of 
  history and examination 
-NCEPOD: Time to Intervene 
  Audit of acute admission to confirm review of patients at Consultant 
  level within 12 hours (Audit 6 monthly- audit2) 
-NCEPOD: Audit of timeliness of emergency surgical procedure 
-NCEPOD Gastrointestinal Haemorrhage Study 
-NCEPOD Lower Limb Amputation 
-NCEPOD Sepsis Study 

Y 

Suicide and homicide in mental health (NCISH) (also known as Mental Health Clinical 
Outcome Review Programme – NCISH) Not eligible 

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Tameside Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data collection was completed 
during 2013/14, are listed below (in Table 2) alongside the number of cases submitted to 
each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the 
terms of that audit or enquiry.  
Table 2: National Quality Account for 2013/14, incorporating Trust participation in 
eligible audits and confidential enquiries, with % submissions 

Audit Title 2013/14 
Trust Participation 

Number 
submitted % submitted 

Peri - and neo natal 
Neonatal Intensive & Special Care (NNAP) National Neonatal Audit 

Programme Y 257 100% 

Children 

Paediatric Asthma (British Thoracic Society) Y 18 100% 

Childhood Epilepsy – Epilepsy 12 Audit (RCCHP) Y 13 100% 

Diabetes (RCPH National Paediatric Diabetes Audit) Y 88 100% 

Paediatric Intensive Care (PICANet) Not eligible   

Paediatric Cardiac Surgery (NICOR Congenital Heart Disease Audit) Not eligible   

Moderate or severe asthma in children (care provided in  emergency 
Departments - College of Emergency Medicine) 

 
Y 50 100% 

Acute Care 

Emergency Use of Oxygen (British Thoracic Society) Y 14 100% 

Adult Community Acquired Pneumonia (British Thoracic Society) Terminated 
Nationally   
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Audit Title 2013/14 
Trust Participation 

Number 
submitted % submitted 

Non Invasive Ventilation (NIV) – Adults (British Thoracic Society) Terminated 
Nationally   

Cardiac Arrest (National Cardiac Arrest Audit)  (ICNARC) Y Q3      14 
Q4      15 

100% 
75% 

Adult Critical care (Case Mix Programme ICNARC CMP) Y 297 100% 

Emergency Laparotomy (Royal College of Anaesthetists) Y 35 
submission 
through to 

2015 

Severe Trauma Audit Network (TARN) Y 

Q1    41 
Q2    51 
Q3    34 
Q4    8 

100% 
86% 
53% 
12% 

"Paracetamol overdose (care provided in Emergency Departments - 
College of Emergency Medicine) 

subscription funded - approved by BDM" 
Y 50 100% 

"Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock (College of Emergency Medicine) 
subscription funded - approved by BDM" Y 50 100% 

Long Term Conditions 

National Diabetes Audit (NDA) Intermittent. Including 
National Diabetes (adult) audit and 
National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 

 
Y 
Y 

 
0 

84 

Submission 
by Dec 14 

100% 
 

Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Royal College of Obstetricians) Audit not currently 
active - - 

National Pain Audit: Pain Database Audit not currently 
active - - 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease – Ulcerative Colitis (National IBD Audit) Y 8 100% 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease – Biologics (National IBD Audit) Y 5 100% 

Bronchiectasis – Paediatric (British Thoracic Society) Not eligible   

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Y 17 

45% 
Submission 
by end  May 

2014 

Pulmonary Hypertension Trust is not eligible 
to participate   

National Audit of Dementia (NAD)(RCPsych) No data collection 
required 2013/14   

Elective Procedures 

Hip, Knee and Ankle Replacements (National Joint Registry) Y 356 100% 

National Vascular Registry  (VSGBI Vascular Surgery Database) Y To be 
confirmed 

To be 
confirmed 

Adult Cardiac Surgery (ACS) Not eligible   

Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)  Hernias Total Hip 
Replacement, Total Knee Replacement, Varicose Veins Y 

Hernia   78 
Hip        303 
Knee     230 
Veins    84 

100% 

Coronary Angioplasty (NICOR Adult Cardiac Interventions Audit) Not eligible   

Cardiovascular 

Acute Myocardial Infarction & Other ACS (MINAP) Y 292 100% 

Heart Failure (National Heart Failure Database – NICOR, BSH, 
NCASP) Y 202 100% 
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Audit Title 2013/14 
Trust Participation 

Number 
submitted % submitted 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme  (SSNAP) Y 333 100% 

Cardiac arrhythmia (cardiac rhythm management audit) (HRM) Y 1843 100% 

Renal disease 

Renal Registry (UKRR) Not eligible   

Cancer 

Lung Cancer (National Lung Cancer Audit) Y 166 100% 

Bowel Cancer (National Bowel Cancer Audit Programme - NBOCAP) Y 0 Submission 
By Oct 2014 

Head & Neck Cancer Continuous Y 0 Submission 
By Nov 2014 

Oesophago-gastric cancer (NAOGC, RCOS) Y 0 Submission 
by Oct 14 

Trauma 

Hip Fracture (National Hip Fracture Database) Y 83 100% 

Psychological conditions 

National audit of psychological therapies (NAPT) Not eligible   

Prescribing in mental health services (POMH) Not eligible   

Schizophrenia (RCO PsychiaTrusts NAS team) CCQI Not eligible   

Blood 

Comparative audit of Blood Transfusion: O Negative Blood Use, 
Medical Use of Blood, Platelet use 

Audit Terminated 
Nationally   

 
The reports of 17 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2013/14 and 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve 
the quality of healthcare provided: 

• Reports are scheduled for presentation and discussion at specialty/ multi-specialty 
audit /Clinical Governance meetings. At these meetings recommendations and 
action plans are decided so that practice and care can be improved. The action 
plans form part of the Clinical Audit Annual Report, which is presented to Clinical 
Audit and Effectiveness Group for assurance and monitoring purposes.  

The reports of 24 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2013/14 and 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve 
the quality of healthcare provided: 

• The Trust’s Clinical Audit programme overseen by the Trust Clinical Audit Team 
requires audit activity to be presented at speciality meetings and any 
recommendations require consideration and action plans as necessary.  These 
action plans form part of the Clinical Audit Annual Report and discussion at the 
Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Group. These are presented and discussed in 
designated forums and committees to monitor action matrices are reviewed and 
implemented to agreed timescales. 
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Research and Development 
Research is vital to improve the knowledge needed to develop the current and future 
quality of care for patients. Carrying out high quality research gives the NHS the 
opportunity to minimise inadequacies in healthcare and improve the treatments patients 
receive.  The Trust is only involved with research studies that have received a favourable 
opinion from the Research Ethics Committee within the National Research Ethics Service 
(NRES), signifying the research projects are of high scientific quality and have been risk 
assessed.  
The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-contracted by 
the Trust in 2013/14 that were recruited during that period to participate in research 
approved by a research ethics committee was approximately 240. 
The Research Department is committed to providing patients with the opportunity to 
participate in research, if they wish. We aim to ask all eligible patients if they would like to 
participate in a clinical trial.  
The Trust has set up 29 new research studies in 2013/14, which have received a 
favourable opinion from the National Research Ethics Service. The Trust participates in 
26 research studies which are adopted on to the National Institute for Health Research 
(NIHR) Clinical Research Network portfolio. These studies are high quality trials that 
benefit from the infrastructure and support of the Clinical Research Network (CRN) in 
England. We are currently involved with 12 actively recruiting clinical trials of an 
investigational medicinal product (CTIMP), which demonstrate the Trusts enthusiasm to 
improve and offer the latest medical treatments. The Trust is also the research sponsor 
for 1 CTIMP which is taking place in the Diabetes department. 
The Trust has 4 dedicated research nurses working on a variety of research studies. The 
Trust has strong research activity in Oncology, Diabetes, Orthodontics and Paediatrics 
and we continue to get more and more departments involved. This year, we have seen 
the MAU participate in research and the Obstetrics and Gynaecology department are 
keen to develop their involvement with research. There are currently 36 clinical staff 
acting as the Trust lead investigator on approved research studies.  
The Trust research nurses work closely with the investigators to identify suitable research 
studies that fit with the patient population and also to identify eligible patients to 
participate. It is envisaged that the continued dedication and flexibility of the research 
nurses, together with the enthusiasm and support of the clinicians will further raise the 
profile of Research and development in 2014/15.  
The Oncology Research team have continued to achieve high performance rates in 
2013/14. The dedicated team were praised earlier in the year from Greater Manchester 
and Cheshire Cancer Research Network for their work recruiting patients to clinical trial, 
and their year on year recruitment increase. It was recognised that this is a ‘major 
achievement in a Trust without a substantial chemotherapy service’.  
Diabetes continues to be a strong department for research activity within the Trust. The 
diabetes research team was named runner up in the Research team of the year category 
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at the Greater Manchester Clinical Research Awards 2013, held by the National Institute 
of Health Research. This is a reflection of the dedication and hard work of all the team 
The Trust’s research active consultant in Orthodontics received another top award in 
2013, her fourth UK or European best scientific paper prize since 2010. The Federation 
of European Orthodontics (FEO) choose the Consultant’s clinical trial as the best 
scientific clinical research. This paper won out of all the orthodontic  journals published in 
Europe. This demonstrates the high quality research that is taking place within the 
Orthodontic department at Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. 
The Trust continues to participate in research studies that are feasible in terms of the 
services we offer and our patient population and aspire to raise the profile of research 
further in 2014/15. Research will be working as part of the Southern Sector from 2014. 
This will provide the Trust with new opportunities to develop more Trust departments, as 
research staff could be flexible across all sites. 
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Goals agreed with the Commissioners  
The Clinical Commissioning Group for Tameside and Glossop holds the NHS budget 
locally and they decide how it is spent within the hospital and other Community health 
services. This is known as commissioning. Tameside and Glossop CCG is the lead 
commissioner of services at Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and incentives 
based on Quality and Innovation. These payments support Quality as a driving principle. 
A proportion of Tameside NHS Foundation Trust’s income in 2013/14 was conditional on 
achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between Tameside Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust and any person or body they entered into a contract, agreement 
or arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, through the Commissioning for 
Quality and Innovation payment framework. The monetary total for the amount of income 
in 2013/14 conditional upon achieving quality and improvement goals was £3.4 million 
and the monetary value to CQUIN in 2013/14 which was achieved was £2.4 million. 
Further details of the agreed goals for 2013/14 and for the following 12 month period are 
available electronically at  http://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/ .  
The summary detail of Tameside Hospitals NHS Foundation Trusts CQUIN goals are 
identified in the table below 
 
2013/14 CQUIN Goals 

    Domain 
 

Goal 
Number Goal Name Description of Goal 

Goal 
weighting 
(% of  
CQUIN 
scheme) 
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1 
 

Friends and Family 
Test 

Provide timely, granular feedback from 
patients about their experience 5% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
2 

NHS Safety 
Thermometer 

Reduce and monitor levels of harm form 
UTI, VTE , Pressure sores and catheter 
acquired infections. 

5% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
3 Dementia 

• To identify patients with dementia and 
other causes of cognitive impairment 
alongside their other medical 
conditions. 

• Prompt appropriate referral and follow 
up after they leave hospital  

• Ensure that hospitals deliver high 
quality care to people with dementia 
and support their carers. 

5% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
4 
 

VTE 
Reduce avoidable death, disability and 
chronic ill health from venous 
thromboembolism (VTE) 

5% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
5 
 

Avoidable 
Admissions Reducing Avoidable Admissions 6.25% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 
6 

Transfers of Care 
 

Reduce harm and improve care in line with 
best clinical practice for vulnerable patient 
groups during transfers of care 

6.25% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

7 Alcohol Reducing Alcohol Abuse 6.25% Yes Yes Yes Yes 
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Goal 
Number Goal Name Description of Goal 

Goal 
weighting 
(% of  
CQUIN 
scheme) 
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8 
Academic Health 
Science Network 
(AHSN) 

Building networks between the GM AHSN, 
Providers of care and local CCGs 6.25% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

9 Dementia Improving Dementia Care 4.83% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

10 AQ Acute 
Myocardial Infarction  

Promote clinical effectiveness, Safety & 
Patient Experience 1% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

11 AQ Heart Failure  Promote clinical effectiveness, Safety & 
Patient Experience 1% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

12 AQ Hip & Knee 
replacement  

Promote clinical effectiveness, Safety & 
Patient Experience 1% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

13 AQ Pneumonia  Promote clinical effectiveness, Safety & 
Patient Experience 1% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

14 AQ Stroke  Promote clinical effectiveness, Safety & 
Patient Experience 1% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

15 Patient Experience Improving the experience of Patient & 
Families 3.45% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

16 Learning Disabilities 
Reasonable Adjustments for people with 
Learning Disabilities / Patient satisfaction 
for people with learning disabilities 

5.17% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

17 Paediatrics Improve Children’s Urgent & Emergency 
Care 3.79% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

18 Cancer 
Improve Completeness of cancer staging 
date/ increase Straight to test for cancer 
patients 

2.41% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

19 Care bundles Increase compliance of the use of 
established care bundles for COPD 8.62% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

20 Patients At Risk 
Score (PARS) 

Increase Appropriate treatment and 
escalation through a PARS assessment 
within one hour of admission. 

5.17% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

21 Prescribing 
Reduce Transactions of Prescribing 
Pregabalin / Improve compliance to 
GMMMG formulary 

4.14% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

22 Estimated Date of 
Discharge 

Implement EDD for all non-elective 
admissions 8.62% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

23 End Of Life 

To develop and implement the AMBER 
Care Bundle for the management of 
patients who are facing an uncertain 
recovery and who are at risk of dying in 
the next one to two months, as per 
national End of Life Care guidance. 

3.80% Yes Yes Yes Yes 

  Totals: 100.00%     

 

What others say about Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust  

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) regulates and inspects Health and Social Care 
organisations. If it is satisfied that the organisation provides care which meets the 
Essential Standards of Quality and Safety it registers the organisation to provide services 
“without conditions” (unconditional registration). 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission and its current registration status is unconditional. Tameside Hospital NHS 



Page	  77	  of	  212	  	  

Foundation Trust is currently rated as “without conditions” by the Care Quality 
Commission. 
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against Tameside 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust during 2013/14 as the Trust was one of fourteen NHS 
Trust within the scope of the Keogh Review. The review was carried out in May and June 
2013 and publically reported its findings in July 2013. As a result of this the Trust was 
placed in special measures. 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has had 2 unannounced inspection visits from 
the CQC in 2013/14.   
In May 2013 unannounced inspections took place (11th and 15th), and these were 
reported in July 2013. They found that in respect of three of the four outcomes reviewed, 
improvement actions were required to ensure that we were delivering the essential 
standards of Quality and Safety. These related to Outcome 1- Respecting and involving 
people who use services, Outcome 4 - Care and welfare of people who use services and 
Outcome 16 Assessing and monitoring the quality of service provision.  With regard to 
Outcome 12 for staffing the CQC identified that we met this standard. 
In January 2014 the CQC undertook an unannounced inspection between the 3rd and 
10th January and this was reported in March 2014. They found and recognised that 
improvements had been made, but in respect of eight out of eleven outcomes reviewed, 
improvement actions were required. Further action was required in relation to Outcome 
1- Respecting and involving people who use services, Outcome 2 - Consent to Care and 
Treatment, Outcome 4 - Care and welfare of people who use services, Outcome 7 - 
Safeguarding people who use services from abuse, Outcome 12 - Staffing , Outcome 14 
Supporting workers,  Outcome 17 - Complaints and Outcome – 21 Records. With respect 
to Outcome 8 - Cleanliness and infection control, Outcome 9 – Management of 
Medicines and Outcome 9 -  Management of medicines and Outcome 16 - Assessing 
and monitoring the quality of service provision we were compliant with the requirements. 
Data Quality  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust recognises that good data quality and 
information underpins the effective delivery of patient care and is essential if 
improvements in quality of care are to be made. Improved Data quality will improve 
patient care and improve value for money. 
NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during April 2013 to March 
2014 to the Secondary Users Service (SUS) for inclusion in the Hospital Episode 
Statistics. These are included in the latest published data. The percentage of records in 
the published data which included the patient’s valid NHS number was:  
 
▲ 92.75% for admitted patient care; 
▲ 98.11% for outpatient care; and 
▲ 95.05% for accident and emergency care. 
 



Page	  78	  of	  212	  	  

The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid GP 
Practice code was: 
 
▲ 90.41% for admitted patient care; 
▲ 99.25% for outpatient care; and 
▲ 97.85% for accident and emergency care. 
 

Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels 

Information Governance is about how NHS and social care organisations and individuals 
handle information. This can be personal, patient, sensitive and/or corporate information. 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Information Governance report for 2013/14 
was 70% and was graded green.  
 
Clinical Coding Error Rate     
In its annual review of the Payment by Results (PbR) Assurance Programme, “Right 
data, right payment” published in August 2012, the Audit Commission found Tameside 
Hospital had consistently been in the best-performing category each year since the 
assurance programme began in 2007/08. PbR is the tariff system that governs payments 
to hospitals by local NHS commissioning organisations and the clinical coding data 
provided by Tameside Hospital helps to determine its level of funding. 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the Payment by Results 
Clinical Coding Audit during 2013/14 by the Audit Commission. The most recent PbR 
Audit (2012/13) identified Tameside Hospital was one of only four trusts to have 
consistently been in the lower quartile, or best performing 25 per cent of trusts with error 
rates of between 0 and 4 per cent - the best performing category, each year since 
programme began.  
 
Tameside Hospital Foundation Trust will be taking the following action to improve data 
quality by agreeing actions based on the findings and recommendations of the Data 
Quality review currently being undertaken by the Trusts auditor. 
 
Impact of Replacing the Trust Patient Administration system 
In October 2013 the Trust replaced its previous Patient Administration System with the 
nationally defined Lorenzo Patient Administration System as part of the ambition to move 
towards Electronic Patient Records. Preparatory planning, awareness, training and 
implementation programmes were undertaken to ensure the transition occurred. 
However, post go live we identified operational and business processes where we 
experienced implementation challenges and difficulties. This has impacted on our 
reported performance for some requirements which as a consequence have not been 
met in 2013/14.  
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An Implementation impact review group has rigorously and systematically reviewed and 
risk assessed all issues and action has been taken to mitigate the issues highlighted. We 
expect that from April 2014 all the reported performance issues will have been resolved. 
 
Reporting against Core indicators  
The prescribed requirement for reporting against Core indicators listed below has been 
undertaken and is provided in the next section of the Quality account - How we 
performed on Quality in 2013/14 alongside the reporting of the current performance for 
the indicator. 
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Core indicator requirement Reported 

on Page 
12. (a) The value and banding of the summary hospital-level mortality indicator 
(“SHMI”) for the trust for the reporting period; and 
(b) The percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded at either diagnosis 
or specialty level for the trust for the reporting period.  
 
In the table showing performance against this indicator, both the SHMI value and 
banding should be shown for each reporting period. 

Page 
36/37 

18. The trust’s patient reported outcome measures scores for: 
(i) groin hernia surgery, 
(ii) varicose vein surgery, 
(iii) hip replacement surgery, and 
(iv) knee replacement surgery,during the reporting period. 

Page 64 

19. The percentage of patients aged - (i) 0 to 15; and (ii) 16 or over, 
readmitted to a hospital which forms part of the trust within 28 days of being 
discharged from a hospital which forms part of the trust during the reporting 
period. 

Page 68 

20. The trust’s responsiveness to the personal needs of its patients during the 
reporting period. 

Page 56 

21. The percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the trust during the 
reporting period who would recommend the trust as a provider of care to their 
family or friends 

Page 
61/62 

23. The percentage of patients who were admitted to hospital and who were risk 
assessed for venous thromboembolism during the reporting period. 

Page 
45/46 

24. The rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C.difficile infection reported within 
the trust amongst patients aged 2 or over during the reporting period. 

Page 40 

25. The number and, where available, rate of patient safety incidents reported 
within the trust during the reporting period, and the number and percentage of 
such patient safety incidents that resulted in severe harm or death 

Page 43 

Friends and Family Test results Page 58 
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Part Three 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
How we performed on Quality in 
2013/14 
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This section of the Quality account provides an overview of the quality of care based on 
performance in 2013/14 against indicators selected by the board in consultation with 
stakeholders following the publication of the Keogh review in July 2013 as part of the 
Trust Improvement programme. Where appropriate and available historic information has 
been provided, and where mandated for Core indicators the national benchmarking data 
and commentary as required. 
 
Our priorities identified in last year’s Quality Account have been reviewed with our 
partners and stakeholders following the Keogh review to ensure that they are aligned and 
linked to the Corporate Objectives and the agreed improvement plan, revised Quality 
Improvement Strategy and Patient Safety Programme and following a review of local and 
national priorities including analysis of patient and carer feedback and comments. These 
were Healthcare associated infections, mortality and compliance with standards. These 
are addressed within this section of the Quality account and form part of the revised 
priorities for 2013/14. These indicators have been reported to through the Trust Board 
Quality dashboard since August 2014.  

Organisational Quality and Safety Initiatives progressed throughout 2013/14  
Following the publication of the Keogh review and implementation of the improvement 
programme and the revision of the executive team to drive improvement and change to 
improve Quality and Safety in the Trust. The following Quality initiatives have been 
commenced and progressed: 
• Established an Improvement Board including partner organisations and key 

stakeholders to oversee the drive and improvement to Quality and Safety in the Trust.   
• Implemented a Service transformation programme in the emergency and medical 

pathways including: 
o Ensure patient with complex clinical needs are reviewed on arrival in A&E by a 

Senior clinical team. 
o Reviewed the medical staffing strategy and requirement for 7 day working.  
o Review of Nursing leadership at night and use of Night Nurse practitioners  
o Review effective use of beds and bed management  

• Introduced real time monitoring of capacity and review staffing levels ensuring that at 
least 3 times a day staffing levels are reviewed based on patient acuity.  

• Introduced an electronic nurse rostering system to enable real-time monitoring of Safe 
and Effective nurse staffing levels, based on patient acuity. 

• Undertaken an in depth diagnostic review of all aspects of Acute Medical Unit 
operations and implemented  

o A model of Rapid Assessment and Treatment in ED 
o Opened an Ambulatory Care Unit 
o Introduced  care pathways for people with low risk conditions  
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• Board development to ensure Board leadership on quality improvement, governance 
and leadership to further enable and drive improvements in quality of care. 

• Implemented the Trust Quality Improvement Strategy focussing on  
o Patient Safety,  
o Patient Outcomes  
o Patient Experience 

• Established a Patient Safety Programme to deliver the strategy with named 
Executive, Clinical and Nursing leads and associated metrics for each strand of the 
programme.  

• Appointed a Patient Experience manager who through the Patient Experience Group 
ensures that patient feedback informs Trust strategy. 

• Revised Governance structure for the Trust to provide clear lines of accountability for 
all Trust groups and Boards identified with a focus on Quality and Safety and to 
ensure that systems for monitoring and awareness are robust and ensure reporting 
from Ward to Board.  

• Appointment of two Consultants as Medical Patient Safety Leads 
• Appointment of three Patient Safety Officers  
• Recruitment of Additional Medical staff particularly for out of hours and weekends 
• Strengthening of the Nurse Management structure with 3 additional Matrons being 

appointed  
• Recruitment of Additional Nursing staff  
• Improved Board reporting on Quality and Safety Metrics with exception reports 

detailing action taken where appropriate. 
• Additional investment in the Quality and Governance infrastructure to support the 

Clinical Divisions delivery of the Quality and Safety agenda. 
• Development of a programme of Realtime reporting and dashboard on key 

performance and quality and safety indicators for ward and departments 
• Introduction of a ward accreditation programme to measure the quality of Ward 

management and nursing care delivered and drive improvement. 
• Increased frequency of Executive and non-executive walkrounds to wards and 

departments to observe practice and listen to patient, carer and staff experience and 
feedback. 

• Executive Directors including the Chief Executive go back to the floor, where they 
work in uniform alongside clinical teams with the aim of observing care, gaining 
feedback and ensuring that the Team know their Executives are there to listen and 
make a difference. 

• Developed and commenced implementation of an Organisational Development (OD) 
strategy. The OD Strategy and accompanying plan sets out an enabling framework 
for achieving the Trust’s Mission, of ‘delivering, with our partners, safe, effective and 
personal care, which you can trust’. 

• Developed a set of Trust Values and Behaviours in partnership with our staff which all 
existing staff and new recruits have to sign up to and underpin our appraisal process. 



Page	  84	  of	  212	  	  

• Implemented a programme of Leadership Development for Clinical Leaders/ Ward 
and Senior managers to develop leadership capabilities, abilities and build a more 
collaborative organisational culture. 

• Implemented electronic systems for incident reporting to make the process simpler 
and easily available to all staff and provide immediate awareness of issues to the 
appropriate manager and specialist adviser, and to ensure feedback is provided to the 
reporter. 

• Aggregated learning reports produced by the Governance team ensure that learning 
from complaints, incidents, safeguarding and coronial processes are available and 
shared widely with Directorates and Divisions. These are available for all staff via the 
Intranet. 

• Service Improvement Teams are working with our front line clinicians and teams 
within our operating theatres, outpatients and ward areas to improve care delivering 
new and innovative approaches. 

• Rapid improvement Teams are mobilised to address immediate issues of concern 
when identified. 

• We have listened to Patient and Carers through Tameside Listens – Launched on 1st 
August as part of the Trust’s Keogh Action Plan. In April 2014 this Year we reported 
back publicly to the population on the themes gathered as part of the listening 
exercise in a “you said”  “we did” manner.  

• We have continued participation in the Advancing Quality Initiative: we have used 
PROMS (Patient Reported Outcome Measures) PEMS (Patient Experience 
Measures) and have undertaken initiatives as part of the Quality, Innovation, 
Productivity and Prevention initiative (QIPP). 

• Revitalised the programme for reducing mortality and introduced an executive group 
to review mortality and from January 2014 a Mortality Steering Group to ensure the 
Trust reviews any area of concern, to understand our High Mortality Rates and ensure 
action to address these is progressed. 

• Used the Safety Thermometer to monitor levels of harm on weekly basis and 
continues to systematically monitor the results across all wards.   

• Participated in the North West Nurse Transparency Audit.  
• The Trust has participated in Enter and View visits undertaken by other stakeholders 

including Healthwatch and the Tameside Hospital Action Group. 
• Continued to implement Care Bundles in key clinical pathways and continued to 

progress the development and implementation of additional Care Bundles in key 
Clinical areas across the Trust.  

• Continued to use the Friends and Family test across all wards and A&E, and 
implement this in Maternity Services, and publish ward specific results monthly in all 
areas.   

• Strengthened the Complaints/PALS process to ensure more effective management of 
concerns raised linked with Quality and Safety and we promote face to face 
complaints handling to resolve concerns directly. 
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• Undertook an invited peer review. Four colleagues from external organisations were 
invited to undertake a peer assessment of Medical Education in order to assess the 
improvements being made to the trainee experience at Tameside. 
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How we performed on Quality in 2013/14  

This section indicates how some of the Quality Initiatives were progressed during 
2013/14 and outlines the performance against the priorities and goals we set ourselves in 
2012/13 Quality Account and subsequently following the Keogh review.   

 

The following symbols have been used to identify our performance and whether we 
achieved our goals.  

 
Achieving our aim/goals 

 
 

Improving Performance 

 
 

No change in Performance  

 
 

Deteriorating Performance 

 
 

Significant Concerns about Performance 
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Patient Safety 

Patient Safety Programme 
 
 

The Trust has introduced a Patient Safety Programme following the Keogh Review with 
the following workstreams. Each workstream has agreed performance monitoring metrics 
in place to identify improvement and how well we are protecting patients from avoidable 
harm. 

• Pressure Ulcer prevention, improved Tissue Viability and Continence.  
• Earlier recognition of the deteriorating patient and management of the acutely 

unwell (including improved communication/ handover).  
• Reducing the number of falls and falls with injury.  
• Improved nutritional care and hydration.  
• Reducing harm from Venous Thrombosis.  
• Reducing harm from high risk medicines and providing safe and effective 

medicines management.  
• Improving peri-operative outcomes through safer surgery.  
• Infection prevention. 

Indicators for each of these workstreams is captured in this part of the Quality account, 
and these will be developed further during 2014/15.  
 

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.   
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Improving Hospital Mortality 

NHS Outcome framework  
1: Preventing People from dying prematurely  
2: Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions  

 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust aimed to reduce its Hospital Standardised 
Mortality ratio (HSMR) to at or below 100 (Dr Foster methodology), or to achieve a 
Standardised Hospital Mortality Indicator (SHMI) ratio which is not statistically significant 
during the year. This has been achieved this year   
 
Mortality (death) rates are widely available and increasingly used as a way of monitoring 
and questioning quality of care. The case for a hospital to reduce mortality is clear. It is 
one of our key principles for improving quality. Hospital mortality reporting is routinely 
included in the Trust Board papers which are available on the Trust website. 
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Period	  
SHMI	  
Spells	  

SHMI	   Obs	   Exp	   95%	  CI	  
Raw	  %	  
rate	  

FY2010/11	  Q2	   8560	   112.72	   318	   282.11	   100.67-‐125.82	   3.71	  

FY2010/11	  Q3	   8708	   122.35	   392	   320.39	   110.54-‐135.08	   4.5	  

FY2010/11	  Q4	   8958	   124.13	   420	   338.37	   112.54-‐136.58	   4.68	  
FY2011/12	  Q1	   8486	   115.31	   348	   301.79	   103.51-‐128.09	   4.1	  

FY2011/12	  Q2	   8770	   115.02	   343	   298.2	   103.17-‐127.86	   3.91	  
FY2011/12	  Q3	   8629	   119.62	   340	   284.24	   107.24-‐133.03	   3.94	  

FY2011/12	  Q4	   8909	   120.26	   385	   320.13	   108.55-‐132.90	   4.32	  

FY2012/13	  Q1	   8543	   118.24	   344	   290.93	   106.07-‐131.42	   4.02	  
FY2012/13	  Q2	   8628	   112.65	   312	   276.95	   100.50-‐125.88	   3.61	  

FY2012/13	  Q3	   9055	   106.8	   340	   318.36	   95.75-‐118.78	   3.75	  
FY2012/13	  Q4	   8973	   114.1	   411	   360.22	   103.33-‐125.68	   4.58	  

FY2013/14	  Q1	   8601	   108.73	   349	   320.98	   97.62-‐120.76	   4.05	  
 
The Palliative Care Coding rate compared to the national rate is displayed in the table 
below 
Indicator 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 

Tameside Palliative Care coding rate  3.8% 3.2% 4.8% 3.3% 

National Palliative Care coding rate  2.2% 2.3% 2.6% 3.3% 

The Table below demonstrates the current SHMI 
 2011 2012 2013 12/13 
Tameside 117 118 112.3 Band 2 
Best Nationally 67 71 63  
Worst nationally 121 125 116  

The percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded are 
 Oct 11 – Sept 12 Jan 12 – Dec 12 April 12 – Mar 13 July 12 – June 13 
Tameside 22.0% 25.0% 24.7% 23.0% 
Highest Nationally 44.3% 42.7% 44.0% 44.1% 
Lowest  nationally 0.2% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 
National average 19.2% 19.4% 20.4% 20.6% 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust was not being consistently 
provided to the standards required. This was identified in the Keogh review and other 
external reviews published in July 2013. 
  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by implementation of the Trust 
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wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress monitored by 
the Trust board.   At the heart of this programme of work is the Patient Safety 
Programme and a revised process for systematically reviewing all deaths that occur in 
Hospital. Led by the new Interim Medical Director and revised executive team. 
 
The current publication of the SHMI indictor does not identify Tameside Hospital as 
outside the expected values for SHMI. However the Trust will continue to use the 
processes in place to further review and understand the mortality indicators in 
partnership with Dr Foster intelligence to ensure that we continue to learn and see further 
reductions in the mortality indicators by ensuring that we provide the right care at the 
right time.  
 
Forward Plan for 2014 

Tameside NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this 
indicator, and so improve the quality of its services. In 2014 we will take the following 
steps to reduce mortality:  
 

• Maintain an Executive clinically led mortality steering group to review monthly the 
intelligence available.  

• Continue to routinely monitor and investigate and understand the areas that alert 
on the mortality indices. 

• Develop the capabilities of the clinical divisions to review and analyse the mortality 
data at specialty level in the clinical divisions  

• Review all hospital deaths with a target to do the initial review within 14 days.  
• Commission specific reviews/audits of areas of concern. 
• Develop more care pathways and care bundles to improve standardisation and 

reliability of care delivery. 
• Our aim in 2013/14 is to continue to improve our hospital standardised mortality 

rate and aim to reduce the SHMI indicator and understand further the reasons for 
the higher than expected levels. 

• Engage in National Audit relating to the evaluation of SHMI and mortality  
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Infection Prevention and Control – MRSA 

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm  

   
The Trust continues to work hard to minimise the occurrence of Hospital Acquired MRSA 
cases and has adopted a zero tolerance approach to these, however we have not met 
this standard despite the efforts of clinicians across the hospital.    

All cases of MRSA infection undergo a detailed investigation to identify how and why it 
occurred, to ensure learning and further reduce harm. The Trust has robust systems and 
processes in place to reduce the likelihood of this, however, it is recognised that there is 
still more to do to ensure full compliance, and it should be noted that the Trust did not 
breach the regulators deminimus target.  
 

For 
2014/15 the Trust will continue to adopt a zero tolerance towards hospital acquired 
MRSA cases. The Trust aims for zero cases of post 48 hour MRSA.  
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Infection Prevention and Control – C Difficile 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 

environment and protecting them from avoidable harm  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust aimed to achieve or better the C Difficile target 
of 31 post 3 day cases for the year, creating the conditions for further reductions for 
subsequent years. We did not achieve this in 2013/14. We have seen a rise in the 
number of cases in the last half of the year and are working diligently with our partner 
agencies to fully understand why this has occurred.  

 
 
The national benchmarking identifies the how the Trust compares nationally:  

 Rate of C Difficile per 100,000 bed days for patient aged 2 years and over 
 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 Rank  
12/13 

National rate 35.3 29.7 22.8 17.3  

Tameside  
(Trust apportioned) 85.2 71.8 51.6 21.6 129 

Best performing  
nationally 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1 

Worst performing  
nationally 92 71.2 58.2 30.8 161 

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because of the assertive infection control programme in place to minimise the potential 
for harm from Hospital Acquired infections. The challenges regarding reducing HCAI 
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have been recognised and assertively addressed.  This is demonstrable through the 
reduction this year compared to the initial baseline period.  

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to improve this 
indicator and so the quality of its services by implementation of a Trust wide 
improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and with progress monitored by 
the Trust board.  We have participated with external reviews from Salford and Leeds 
and reviewed the antibiotic formulary used.  The Trust will continue to assertively 
progress the reduction in Hospital acquired infections and continue with its current 
approach of zero tolerance to Hospital acquired infections and will aim to reduce further 
the rate of Hospital acquired C Difficile by taking the following action for any case : 

• A full root cause analysis of each case  
• “Finger printing” of the infections to better understand the source 
• Review the antibiotic prescribing following independent reviews  
• Undertake a further reaudit of the mattress audit and replacement programme  

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust aims to continue to achieve a year on year 
reduction in the rate of numbers of C Difficile cases. 
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Infection Prevention and Control – MSSA and  E -Coli 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a 

safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm E Coli  
 

MSSA  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust aimed to comply with the requirement to 
monitor MSSA and E Coli Bacteraemia and to meet any agreed trajectory proposed in 
year.  The trajectory for E Coli was identified at being 29 cases and the trajectory for 
MSSA was 13 cases.   

 

 2012/13 2013/14 

E Coli: 25 23 

MSSA: 15 13 

 
In 2013/14 the Trust has reduced the number of infections for both MSSA and E Coli 
from those reported in 2012/13 and for 2014/15. Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust aims to continue to achieve a year on year reduction in the rate of numbers of 
MSSA and E Coli cases. The Trust will continue to assertively progress the reduction in 
Hospital acquired infections and continue with its current approach of zero tolerance to 
Hospital acquired infections and will aim to reduce further the rate of Hospital acquired E 
Coli and MSSA. 

 



Page	  95	  of	  212	  	  

 

Incident Reporting 
 
 
 

We aim to increase the number of reported incidents whilst reducing harm associated with 
these.  

 
 
The NRLS identifies that organisations who report high levels of incidents are likely to be 
safer organisations, since the certainty that incidents will be reported is higher. We 
therefore aim to increase the incident reporting rate across the organisation whilst 
minimising harm caused. We have increased the incidents reported by 37% in the last year 
as part of an assertive programme of ensuring incidents are reported. This is also reflected 
in the information published from the NRLS which demonstrates that the percentage of 
incidents reported with moderate, severe harm or death is decreasing 
 
Reporting rate  
incidents per 100 
admissions published 
by the NRLS 

April to 
September 

2011 

October 
2011 to 

March 2012 

April to 
September 

2012 

October 
2012 to 

March 2013 

April to 
September 

2013 

Rank in most 
recent 

reporting 
period 

Tameside reporting 
rate 6.4 6.8 6.5 9.1 10.81 3/28 

Highest value for Small 
acute Trusts 14.4 17.6 17.6 17.53 17.1 1/28 

Lowest rate for Small 
Acute Trust 2.1 3.5 3.5 4.13 3.89 28/28 

 

% of incidents with 
Moderate, Severe and 

death reported 

April to 
September 

2011 

October 
2011 to 

March 2012 

April to 
September 

2012 

October 
2012 to 

March 2013 

April to 
September 

2013 

Rank in most 
recent 

reporting 
period 

Tameside 0.6% 0.2 % 2.7% 1.72% 2.0% 26/28 
Lowest rate 

Small acute cluster 
percentage 8.0% 7.7% 6.0% 7.37% 7.3%  

 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is  as described 
because of the assertive action taken to increase the number of incident reported and 
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NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and 
protecting them from avoidable harm.  
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the move towards Electronic reporting and the use of incident trigger lists to ensure 
standardised and consistent reporting of issues across all areas of the organisation. 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to improve this 
indicator and so the quality of its services by the implementation of a Trust wide 
improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress monitored by the 
Trust board. The Trust has as part of this commenced Web based incident reporting, 
which will ensure feedback to incident reporters on action taken.  
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Venous Thrombo Embolism (VTE) Risk Assessment 
 

	  	   Apr-‐13	   May-‐13	   Jun-‐13	   Jul-‐13	   Aug-‐13	   Sep-‐13	   Oct-‐13	   Nov-‐13	   Dec-‐13	   Jan-‐14	   Feb-‐14	   Mar-‐14	  

Recorded	  Risk	  
assessment	  

on	  PAS	  system	  
96%	   96%	   96%	   95.6%	   96.1%	   95.2%	   80.1%	   70.5%	   70.7%	   74.5%	   76.9%	   90.7%	  

Target	   96%	   96%	   96%	   96%	   96%	   96%	   96%	   96%	   96%	   96%	   96%	   96%	  

 

 
 
The Trust monitors the prevalence of VTE through the Safety Thermometer harm free 
care surveys. The graph below identifies the low prevalence of hospital acquired VTE for 
patients on the wards.   

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons. We have historically routinely reported performance in excess of 95% 
because we have had processes in place to risk assess all appropriate patients on 
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NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
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admission.  These risk assessments are then recorded the Patient Administration System 
(PAS). 
 
After an extended period of achievement of the indicator target the data reported to Trust 
Board (shown above) following the implementation of a new Patient Administration 
System (PAS) we identified issues with our data capture of the VTE Risk Assessment 
and coupled with a change in assessment process. Based on processes we have in 
place and the remedial work being undertaken we believe we are on track to 
demonstrate the required performance at the target level base on the actions we have 
taken.  
 

VTE risk 
assessments 

Q1 
2012/ 

13 

Q2 
2012/ 

13 

Q3 
2012/ 

13 

Q4 
2012/ 

13 

Q1 
2013/ 

14 

Q2 
2013/ 

14 

Q3 
2013/ 

14 

Q4 2013/ 
14 

Rank in most 
recent 

reporting 
period 

Tameside 95.1% 95.2% 95.3% 95.1% 96.02% 95.83% Nil 
return 

Data not 
available/ 
published 

Not ranked  

Highest 
Nationally 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Data not 
available/ 
published 

1 

Lowest 
Nationally 80.8% 80.9% 84.6% 80.8% 78.78% 81.7% 77.7% 

Data not 
available/ 
published 

162 

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to improve this 
indicator and so the quality of its services by the implementation of a Trust wide 
improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress monitored by the 
Trust board. Specifically we have taken the following action to correct this by:  

• Having a VTE Committee in place as part of our Patient Safety Programme to 
monitor and drive improved provision of the correct care to prevent  VTE for all 
patients and the avoidance of hospital acquired VTE.  

• Recruited a VTE nurse to provide leadership and focus on this patient safety 
indicator. 

• Reviewed the process for recording to ensure correct data collection guidance is 
followed for patient  

• Reviewed all case notes for patients from October – February discharged to 
confirm assessments undertaken and update the records captured. 

• Provided additional training of medical, nursing and administration staff in 
assessment and data collection.  

• Ward based system in place to ensure completion of VTE assessment and 
electronic CQUIN completion recording. 

• Daily compliance data provided at ward level with follow up visits by VTE nurse 
to drive compliance. 

Performance is expected to continue to improve with achievement of the target 
expected in 2014/15.
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The Safety Thermometer is a monitoring tool to identify the provision of harm free, safe 
care in relation to pressure ulcers, falls, catheter acquired urinary tract infections and 
Venous Thrombo Embolism (VTE).  

It is well documented that health care has high levels of system harm; the Safety 
Thermometer tool is unique in identifying the impact of collective harms within the ward 
areas and attempts to measure this as a composite score across 4 key areas to 
understand the impact and support improvements to deliver harm free care to our 
patients.  

The thermometer captures a snap shot sample of data from100% of patients on sample 
day in order to attempt to suggest the prevalence of harm across those patient groups 
sampled.  

As a quality indicator Safety Thermometer data is useful to identify safe care and as an 
“early warning system” with regard to poor quality of care and as such has been utilised 
and cross referenced with other sources of information. We publish monthly data in line 
with the CQUIN requirement and this is demonstrated below, however internally we use 
the tool weekly to provide assurance that we are providing safe harm free care. 
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NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
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Pressure Ulcer prevention and improved Tissue Viability and Continence  

 

 

Reducing the number of falls and falls with injury.  
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Improved nutritional care and hydration.  
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  

The Trust routinely undertakes a nutritional risk assessment for inpatients over 60 years 
old and this is reported to the Trust board. We have achieved the standard set.  

 

The results from the section related to choice of food in the CQC 2013 National In-patient 
survey demonstrate that the Trust has improved from 2012 and is now in line with the 
majority of Trusts. 

However the results from the questions below also show that compared to other Trusts 
we need to improve further with respect to the food we present and the support patients 
receive from staff to eat meals. 

 

Key   

 

We agree that we have more to do and need to improve further. We have appointed a 
Nutritional Specialist nurse who will commence in post in Q1 of 2014/15 to advance this 
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work stream further, and are looking at how we can provide additional support to assist 
patients with their meals. 
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Patient Safety Programme work stream - Reducing harm from high risk medicines 
and providing safe and effective medicines management.  

The Trust has commenced the implementation of the medicines management safety 
thermometer tool in 2013, and the full implementation of this across all wards is a CQUIN 
for 2014/15. This tool will provide data to monitor safe and effective Medicines 
Management and the use of high risk medicines. Medicines reconciliation within 24 hours 
of admission has been monitored periodically and reported to the Trust Board throughout 
2013 with demonstrable increases in rates being identified.  
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Other Important Patient Safety and Effectiveness Indicators 
NHS Outcome framework 3: Helping people to recover from 
episodes of ill health or following injury 

See individual 
indicators below 

 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust made goals regarding other key patient safety 
indicators, progress of which is identified in the table below and monitored through the Dr 
Foster intelligence tools used by the Trust.  

Indicator 
Observed 
Rate per 

1000 

Expected 
Rate per 

1000 

 

Deaths in low-risk diagnosis groups  0.8 0.8  
Decubitus Ulcer  19.2 33.3  
Deaths after Surgery  118.4 95.0  
Infections associated with central line   0.2 0.1  
Postoperative hip fracture   0.1 0.1  
Postoperative Haemorrhage or Haematoma  0.4 0.6  
Postoperative Physiologic and Metabolic 
Derangement  0.0 0.1  
Postoperative respiratory failure  0.3 0.9  
Postoperative pulmonary embolism or deep 
vein thrombosis  0.7 1.5  
Postoperative sepsis  0.0 6.7  
Postoperative wound dehiscence  2.0 1.5  
Accidental puncture or laceration  0.5 1.1  
Obstetric trauma - vaginal delivery with 
instrument 72.1 82.7  
Obstetric trauma - vaginal delivery without 
instrument  23.5 38.4  
Obstetric trauma - caesarean delivery 1.8 3.7  
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Patient Experience  

Complaints and Concerns Monitoring 

 

The percentage of total cases closed within an agreed time or negotiated extension of 
time frame is 81%, as compared to 56% at the end of March 2013.  
The focus has been on the Quality and candour of the investigation rather than the speed 
of the response. This reflects our commitment to the comprehensive review that was 
carried out. Throughout the process, complainants have been kept up to date with the 
need to extend investigation as required. This is a notable change from the findings of 
the Keogh report and previous practice.  
Of the 287 cases received in the past 6 months, 9 of them were comeback (return) 
complaints. This equates to 3% of cases opened during the period 1st October 2013 to 
31st March 2014. A 3% comeback rate is a considerable improvement on the 20% 
comeback rate which was being experienced in April 2013 when complaints were being 
responded to quickly but not thoroughly, resulting in inadequate investigation. 

NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care  
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In 2013/14 the Trust will aim to reduce further the rate of complaints received and 
improve the percentage of responses provided within an agreed timeframe whilst 
maintaining the low rate of comeback letters. 
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Responsiveness to the patients personal needs 
NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care  
 
The results of the 2013 In-patient Survey are based on responses from patients 
discharged in July 2013. We believe this will act as a good baseline for monitoring 
improvement in future years and impact of the improvement programme following the 
Keogh review. 
 
The 2013 results identify improvement in ratings from the 2012 survey with 2 sections of 
the report previously highlighted as “worse” now being identified as “about the same” 
when compared to other Trusts. 
 

Section  2012 survey 2013 Survey 
The A&E department About the same About the same 
Waiting list and Planned admissions About the same About the same 
Waiting to get a bed on a ward  Worse About the same 
The Hospital and Ward  About the same About the same 
Doctors  Worse About the same 
Nurses About the same About the same 
Care and Treatment About the same About the same 
Operations and procedures About the same About the same 
Leaving Hospital About the same About the same 
Overall view and experience About the same About the same 

 
The survey highlights that we have still a lot of work to do specifically in relation to 
Discharge processes, and we would want to see further improvement in all areas during 
2014/15.   
 
Benchmarking scores demonstrate  
 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 
Tameside 69.3 73.7 75.2 
England Average score 75.6 76.5 76.9 
Greater Manchester Average score 75.8 77.0 77.5 
Ranking in Greater Manchester  hospitals  10th of 10 8th of 9 7th of 9 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust was not being consistently 
provided to the standards required. This was identified in the Keogh review and other 
external reviews published in July 2013. 
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Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by the implementation of a Trust 
wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress monitored by 
the Trust board.    
 
Issues related to the discharge process have already been highlighted through incident 
reports, feedback from Primary care and in complaints.  An improvement programme is 
already in place to address the issues and a survey methodology is being developed to 
ensure the progress of the work stream can be effectively evaluated and improvement in 
the patient journey evaluated. 
 
We have implemented a programme of “First Friday” visits by Senior managers and 
directors to ward and department areas, to meet with patients and staff and get real time 
feedback, and provide increased visibility. 
 
We will continue to use our local patient surveys to assess our performance and 
improvement, and these are reported monthly to the Trust board subcommittees
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Friends & Family Test 
NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care  
 
The Friends and Family test has been introduced to collect Patient feedback by asking 
“How likely are you to recommend our ward, department or service to your friends and 
family if they needed similar care or treatment?” The Trust performance is reported to the 
Trust board monthly.  
 

 
 

  
National Benchmarking demonstrates 
Friends and Family Combined response  Dec 13 Jan 14 Feb 14 Mar 14 
Tameside response rate 17.8% 26.3% 19.2% 24.1% 
Rank 115/170 60/170 139/170 92/170 
Best performing Trust  100% 100% 100% 100% 
Worst performing trust  3% 6.1% 7.8% 8.6% 
Friends and Family Combined Net promoter     
Tameside Net promoter score 60 46 45 41 
Rank 128/170 162/170 161/170 164/170 
Best performing Trust  100 100 100 100 
Worst performing trust  2 10 4 12 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust was not being consistently 
provided to the standards required. This was identified in the Keogh review and other 
external reviews published in July 2013. 
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Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services through  the implementation of the 
integrated Keogh Action Plan and its constituent actions agreed with key stakeholders 
and progress monitored by the Trust Board.    
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Eliminating Mixed Sex Accommodation  
 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and 
protecting them from avoidable harm.  
 
 
The Trust has not had any unjustified breeches of Mixed Sex Accommodation in 
2013/14. This is an improvement on 2012/13 and expects to maintain this position 
throughout 2014/15. 
 
Unjustified	  breaches	   
Month	   Apr	   May	   Jun	   Jul	   Aug	   Sep	   Oct	   Nov	   Dec	   Jan	   Feb	   Mar	  

2012/13	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	   1	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	  

2013/14	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	   0	  
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Staff Survey Results (including Friends and Family Test) 
NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care  
91 questions were asked of participants; the findings of the questionnaire have been 
summarised and presented in the form of 28 Key Findings. We are pleased to report that 
despite the findings of the Keogh review and organisational change the report shows no 
statistically significant changes in any of the 28 key areas from 2012.  
 
The Trust scores breakdown as follows for the 28 key findings:- 
 
Above Average 9  including 2 in top 20%  (compared to 12 in 2012) 
Average  5      (compared to 10 in 2012) 
Below Average      14    including 3 in lowest 20% (compared to   6 in 2012) 
 
32% of findings are above average, 18% average and 50% below average. 
 
HIGHEST AND LOWEST RANKING SCORES 
 

HIGHEST RANKING SCORES Trust Score  
2013 

National 
Average 

Percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months 
(Higher the better) 92% 84% 

Percentage of staff agreeing that their role makes a difference 
to patients. (Higher the better) 93% 91% 

Percentage of staff saying hand washing materials are always 
available. (Higher the better) 68% 60% 

Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from 
patients / relatives or public in last 12 month (Higher the 
better) 

27% 29% 

Percentage of staff suffering work-related stress in last 12 
months (Lower the better) 35% 37% 

 
LOWEST RANKING SCORES Trust Score  

2013 
National 
Average 

Percentage of staff receiving job-relevant training, learning or 
development in last 12 months (Higher the better) 77% 81% 

 Percentage of staff working extra hours (Lower the better) 74% 70% 
Effective Team Working (Higher the better) 3.69 3.74 
Fairness and effectiveness of incident reporting procedures 
(Higher the better) 3.45 3.51 

Percentage of staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents 
witnessed in the last month  (Lower the better)  36% 33% 

The report shows no statistically significant improvements or deteriorations in any of the 
28 key areas from 2012.  
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The Trust benchmarked performance with others demonstrates  
Staff survey Q12d  
The percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the 
trust during the reporting period who would recommend the 
trust as a provider of care to their family or friends 

2013 

Tameside 54% 
Quartile  1st  
Rank 137/160 
Best performing Trust  94% 
Worst performing trust  40% 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is  as described 
because the Services including Care and Treatment and support provided to staff 
provided by the Trust was not being consistently provided to the standards required, and 
the impact of the Findings of the Keogh review, the Deanary report and other external 
regulator reports. 
  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by the implementation of a Trust 
wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress monitored by 
the Trust board.   Specifically: 
 
The results of the 2013 survey have been disseminated through the organisation. 
 
The results of the NHS Staff Survey shared with the Everyone Matters Steering Group 
giving full opportunity to debate common issues across these surveys and to agree the 
core actions that need to be taken.   
 
Divisional-level engagement and ownership to ensure that the themes identified translate 
corporate-level intentions into localised actions, with clear monitoring through the 
Everyone Matters Steering Group Reports. 
 
Revised Organisational Development Strategy approved with specific focus on the 
following areas 
• Leadership Development  
• Ongoing development and implementation of Tameside Listens actions 
• Embedding of the Trusts values into behaviours visibly demonstrated throughout 

the organisation  
• Development of a Mentoring and Coaching programme 
• Development of a Communication and Engagement Strategy 
• Development of the Health and Wellbeing Programme 
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Patient Environment Action Team Assessments and Cleaning Standards. 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
 
In 2013 PEAT (Patient Environment Audit Team) Process was replaced by Department 
of Health developed Patient- Led inspection system (PLACE) INSPECTION PROCESS. 
 
The results of this process are shown below for the four domains which are inspected.   
 

 
All four domains demonstrated that we were below the national average, and an action 
plan has been generated related to each domain to address the issues identified.  
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Patient Outcomes 

PROMS (Patient Reported Outcome Monitoring) 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
 
The Trust continues to participate in the Patient Reported Outcome monitoring measures 
identified below. The information provides year on year comparison of our involvement 
and  benchmarked comparison of pre- and post-operative patient questionnaires (a 
combination of five key criteria concerning patients' self-reported general health called 
EQ-5D Index' scores). The EQ5D scores are compared to the England average scores: 
 
April 2011 to March 2012 (Verified)              Overall = 66.3% 
April 2012 to March 2013 (Verified)         Overall = 70.0% 
April 2013 to Dec 2013 (provisional)         Overall =     58.6% 

 Groin Hernia 2011/12 2012/13 Apr – Dec13 
Participation rate 54.3% 60.9% 29.3% 
Linkage  rate 81.5% 62.4% 56.3% 
TGH  EQ5D index score 49.4% 43.0% 40.0% 
England average  EQ5D index score 49.9% 49.4% 50.2% 
Hip Replacement 2011/12 2012/13 Apr – Dec13 
Participation rate 86.9% 95.4% 86.5% 
Linkage  rate  84.9% 77.9% 86.9% 
TGH  EQ5D index score 75.4% 92.8% 84.1% 
England average  EQ5D index score 87.3% 87.9% 87.8% 
 Knee Replacement  2011/12 2012/13 Apr – Dec13 
Participation rate 86.7% 96.1% 82.8% 
Linkage  rate 83.3% 82.0% 81.5% 
TGH  EQ5D index score 65.6% 77.0% 65.0% 
England average  EQ5D index score 78.4% 79.7% 81.0% 
Varicose Veins 2011/12 2012/13 Apr – Dec13 
Participation rate 45.3% 61.9% 45.1% 
Linkage  rate 94.1% 82.6% 100% 
TGH  EQ5D index score 48.9% 52.6% 46.2% 
England average  EQ5D index score 53.2% 52.8% 52.7% 

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that these data are as described 
because the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust was not being consistently 
provided to the standards required. This was identified in the Keogh review and other 
external reviews published in July 2013. 
  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by the implementation of a Trust 
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wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress monitored by 
the Trust board.    
Stroke performance 

The Trust Performance against the national best practice performance indicators for 
patients who have suffered a stroke have been identified in the Trust Board performance 
reports as a concern as we have not been achieving these. The graphs below 
demonstrate this for both Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attacks (TIA). 
 

 
 

 
 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because the direct admission to Stroke Unit criteria continues to be impacted upon by 
the initial diagnosis within the Emergency Department (ED) is resulting in patients being 
admitted through the Medical Assessment Unit (MAU) as their first ward. Therefore 
eligible patients are not being admitted directly to the Stroke ward within the required 
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timescale. With regards to the target of 80% of time spent on a stroke ward capacity 
issues across the site have contributed to us not meeting this requirement.  

With regard to TIA performance the historical issues of GP referral processes, patient 
choice and internal service provision have continued to affect this during the reporting 
period. The agreed TIA Ambulatory Pathway went live on 9th April and is expected to 
provide improvements across the pathway. 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken or intends to take further the 
following actions to improve this reported performance and so the quality of its service:    
In order to improve the rate of direct admission the identification of patients with new 
strokes has to improve. The use of the ROSIER scoring has commenced as part of 
Emergency department “React Process” along with feedback to clinicians. 
 
Robust breach analysis and cascade through specialist teams is now incorporated into 
daily reporting which is sent to speciality teams to respond. In addition the stroke co-
ordinator rota has been reviewed to ensure maximum availability of response to ED.  
 
The Stroke Action plan is being reviewed to ensure it captures the issues arising from 
SSNAP Audit and will be assertively progressed through the Trust Stroke Group. 
 
Plans to co-locate the Acute Stroke Ward (W5) and Stroke Rehabilitation Ward (W45) are 
being reviewed to ensure that the proposed bed numbers remain correct and we have 
the capacity required.  
 
With regards to TIA the ambulatory assessment room has now been completed, 
guaranteeing capacity to assess patients. The ambulatory TIA pathway has commenced 
and is being audited. Further work is being undertaken by the division to consider how 
we may be able to provide partial cover at weekends the Emergency Department. 
 
Progress against these actions will continue to be systematically monitored and reported 
on through the Divisional and Corporate structures, by the Executive teams and Trust 
Board.  
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Readmission Rates  

 
The Trust Board monitors readmission rates for patients recently discharged from 
hospital as a Quality indicator. The Board performance report monitors 30 day 
readmissions as this is the Quality measure within the contract. The graph below 
demonstrates the performance this year. We are aiming to reduce readmission rates 
from both elective and non-elective patients.  

 
 
The Quality Account requires us to benchmark 28 day readmissions, and these are set 
out in the table below 
 

 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 
Comparison v. 

National 
2011/12 

Improvement 
Banding 
2011/12 

Age 16+  
Tameside  10.93 11.64 11.84 12.47 W D 
Best 
nationally 

6.99 7.38 7.14 0.00   

Worst 
nationally 

11.83 12.45 12.70 15.11   

Age 0-15  
Tameside 11.59 10.35 11.24 11.6 A5 D 
Best 
nationally 

4.76 5.5 6.26 0.00   

Worst 
nationally 

19.30 22.53 12.75 14.87   

Key to The Health and Social Care Information Centre Comparison and improvement bandings 
W = National average lies within expected variation (95% confidence interval); 
D = Some deterioration (not significant) 
A5 = Significantly poorer than the national average at the 95% level but not at the 99.8% level; 
 
 
Notes: 

• The readmission rate figures are standardised to persons 2006/07 
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• Indirectly age, sex, method of admission of discharge spell, diagnosis (ICD 10 
chapter/selected sub-chapters within medical specialties) and procedure (OPCS 4 
chapter / selected sub-chapters within surgical specialties) standardised rates 

• Ages 16+ 
• Best and worse readmission rates selected from Trusts classed as “Small acute” 

or “Small acute or multi service categories”. 
• Source: The Health and Social Care Information Centre  

 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust was not being consistently 
provided to the standards required. This was identified in the Keogh review and other 
external reviews published in July 2013. 
  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by undertaking an audit of 
readmissions to identify the key areas that require improvement. The conclusions of this 
audit will be shared with the local health economy to ensure a co-ordinated approach to 
maintaining patients in the most appropriate environment is adopted. An example of 
where this approach has proven successful is the Hospital Alcohol Liaison Service, which 
has significantly reduced reattendances to the Emergency Department and operates an 
ambulatory detoxification clinic, avoiding the need for patients to be admitted to Hospital. 
The actions taken will be monitored by the Trust Board with the specific aim to reduce 30 
day re-admission rates from the current baseline to the 75th percentile. 
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Cancer indicators - including 62 Day cancer performance  

 
The monitoring of Cancer performance is undertaken by the Trust board through its 
routine reporting process. The performance indicators are set to identify best practice 
minimum standards to ensure that patients receive care and treatment in the most 
effective way. With respect to the Cancer performance criteria we believe that this has 
been achieved in 2013/14. 

 

 
 

 
The Trust aims to maintain compliance with all national and local performance standards 
as identified in the Trust Objectives for 2014/15. 

NHS Outcome framework indicators:  
All domains   
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Other Important Patient Safety and Effectiveness Indicators 
NHS Outcome framework 3: Helping people to recover from 
episodes of ill health or following injury 

See individual 
indicators below 

 

Patient Safety Indicator 2013/14 
Performance 

2013/14 
Threshold 

RAG 
status Comment 

Failure of the safer-surgery 
process 0 0 

 
 

StEIS Serious Incidents 
reported 48 

 
 
  

The number of StEIS reported incidents 
has increased based on the agreed 

threshold with the CCG. Therefore this is 
seen as a positive development on 

2013/14 
Duty of Candour breeches 0 0   

Never events reported  1 0   

Coroners Section 28 letters 6 

 

 

The revised Coronial process provides the 
Coroner with the opportunity to alert the 

Trust to issues he believes require 
remedial action to address potential 
concerns that may impact on Patient 

safety. Therefore increased number of 
these letters are likely to be received 

Patient Access indicator     
18-week admitted 91.89% ≥ 90%   

18-week non-admitted 96.29% ≥ 95%   

18-week incompleted 93.66% ≥ 92%   

RTT waits over 52 weeks 0 0   

Diagnostic wait time 0.63% ≤ 1%   

A&E 4-hour wait 94.59% ≥ 95%  

Work to improve performance on going 
Performance currently improving  

Target of 95% just missed for the full year  
Trolley waits in A&E > 12 
hrs 0 0  

 

HAS compliance 78.32% ≥ 95%  
Work to improve performance on going 

Operational Efficiency      

Outpatient DNA rate 11.01%	   ≤ 7.5%  
Work to improve performance on going 

Theatre utilisation  48.5% ≥ 75%  
Work to improve performance on going 

Cancelled operations on 
day of surgery 1% ≤0.8%  

 

Urgent operations 
cancelled for 2nd time 0 0  
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What you told us through “Tameside listens” feedback 

You said ... We listened – and did (or are doing) 

Improve waiting times 
Our service improvement teams continue working with theatre staff 
and outpatient colleagues to further reduce the time you wait for 
treatment 

Review cleanliness 
and Infection control 
procedures 

We have introduced constant reviews of the way we manage infection 
control and we have appointed a member of staff whose job it is to 
safeguard standards of cleanliness across the hospital.  

Improve 
communication with 
patients and families 

Our teams across the hospital are working together to make this a 
priority. 
We have introduced an extensive Patient Experience programme to 
listen to our patients and help us improve our communication with 
them. We are already hearing from our patients that things have 
improved. 

Review the 
appointments system 
and the letters we 
send to you 

We have overhauled the way we look at our appointments system and 
greatly improved the letters we send out to you to make sure they 
include better information and instructions on things to do when you 
get here 

Review payments for 
car parking 

We have compared our charges and we are reassured that they are 
broadly in line with other hospitals in Greater Manchester, however we 
will continue to review our charges on a regular basis 

Improve staff training 
review or 
development 

We have introduced a development programme for ward managers 
and other key staff which is now underway 

Review services for 
people with 
disabilities 
 

We are committed to providing services that refl ect the needs of all 
our patients. 
For example we listened to the needs of our disabled visitors and 
provided additional hand rails to ensure greater safety and easier 
access to one part of our hospital. 

Review menu choices 
and food standards 
 

We have looked at our menus and we are assured that our food 
meets the required nutritional standards and we will continue review 
the choices we give our patients on a regular basis 

Increase staff on 
wards 

The number of doctors and nurses we employ has increased 
considerably, and we are working hard to permanently  recruit to these 
key posts 
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You said ... We listened – and did (or are doing) 

Introduce seven day 
working 

We believe the introduction to seven day working for all our 
departments is important for Tameside Hospital to help us improve the 
quality of care we provide to all our patients and our teams are 
working towards this goal in conjunction with our partners 

Improve 
communication with, 
and between, staff 

We have established informal feedback sessions for junior doctors to 
talk with the Medical Director and Chief Executive, The Chief 
Executive has an open door policy where by all staff are welcome to 
chat through their queries and suggestions. 
The executive team members regularly visit staff in their departments 
and the Chief executive holds monthly open forum sessions for all 
staff to keep them informed, hear and share the progress we are 
making. 

Introduce a ‘Matron 
type’ figure in charge 
of certain wards 

We have appointed two new Matrons, one to head up our urgent and 
emergency care service and the other to look after frail and elderly 
patients in our medicine division, they join our existing Matrons in 
other areas of the hospital. 

Improve handover/ 
discharge 
arrangements 

We now have twice daily hand over arrangements between our staff in 
acute medicine.  We have established a special improvement team 
with the Tameside and Glossop Clinical 
Commissioners to make sure that we continue to improve the way we 
discharge our patients 

Improve joint working 
with other greater 
Manchester hospitals 

We have set up an employee exchange scheme with colleagues at 
Wythenshawe hospital. 
Doctors and nurses from both hospitals are already involved in this 
scheme which enables them to share their skills and experience for 
the benefit of patients. 

Benchmark and apply 
best practice from 
other hospitals 

Our ambition is to make Tameside Hospital one of the leading 
providers of high quality treatment and care in 
Greater Manchester. We are engaged with three other hospitals as 
part of the Southern Sector to share best practice, and our employee 
exchange scheme is just one way that helps us benchmark against 
the best that the medical services that the NHS has to offer. 
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Trust Corporate Objectives 2014/15 
Objective Key Outcomes 

1. All patients receive harm 
free care through the 
delivery of the Trust’s 
Patient Safety 
Programme 

All staff will be able to demonstrate an understanding of the Trust’s key safety 
priorities of 2014/15. 

There will be a: 

• Reduction in the number of avoidable hospital acquired pressure 
ulcers and we will reduce the incidence of pressure sores Grade 2 
and above. We will ensure less than 1% incidence with a 99% 
compliance rate. 

• Reduction in catheter associated urinary tract infection ensuring 99% 
of patients receive no avoidable UTI. 

• Increase in the identification of deteriorating patients and a reduction 
in the number of avoidable cardiac arrest calls and improved 
response to deterioration triggers. We will ensure a 50% reduction 
from the baseline.  

• Reduction in patient falls resulting in harm ensuring less than 1% 
incidence resulting in 99% of patients receiving harm free care.  

• Reduction in harm from VTE through appropriate risk assessment 
and thromboprophylaxis. 

• Reduction in the number of hospital acquired infections 
• Improved compliance with Infection prevention standards and 

requirements. Incident reporting will increase resulting in the Trust 
being in the upper quartile of comparable similar sized Trusts using 
NRLS data. 

• The number of incidents causing harm will reduce  resulting in a 
reduction in harm per 1000 patient incidents when compared to 
similar sized Trusts using NRLS data. 

• The percentage of harm free care will  increase from the current 
baseline of 95% with the aim of harm free care for every patients. 

2. To improve the quality of 
patient care through the 
implementation of the 
Trust’s agreed Quality 
Strategy. 

All staff will be able to demonstrate an understanding of the Trust’s Quality 
Improvement priorities for 2014/15. 

There will be: 

• Increased participation in and  improvements in performance against 
national/local clinical audits 

• Improved compliance with clinical care bundles and Advancing 
Quality markers 

• Adherence to all eligible NICE Guidelines  
• Reduction in 30 day re-admission rates from the current baseline of 

9.1% to 8.73% (75th percentile) 
• Adherence to all agreed internal standards with systematic 

monitoring and assurance processes  
• Reduction in mortality rates and implementation of a systematic 

review process to levels that are not statistically significant and show 
a reduction in the raw death rate. 

• Improved care in relation to nutrition and hydration  
3. To improve the patient 

experience through a 
personalised, responsive, 

• Improvement in Friends & Family Test and response rates by a further 5% on 
the national trajectory. 

• Improvement in patient experience score and net promoter score 
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Objective Key Outcomes 
compassionate and 
caring approach to the 
delivery of patient care. 

• Reduction in the number of complaints per 1000 patient contacts to below 
1.15 complaints per 1,000 patient contacts. 

• Increase in the number of recorded compliments per 1000 patient contacts by 
25% above current baseline 

• Improvement in results of the First Friday feedback 
• Achievement of all access standards 

4. To develop a continuous 
quality improvement 
culture which promotes 
patient quality, safety, 
personalised and 
effective care. 

• The new clinical CQUINmodel is implemented (both Medical and Nursing) 
• Development programmes are in place to support the new leadership models  
• The Trust’s new Values & Behaviours framework is established and all staff 

appraisals and the Trust’s recruitment processes are aligned with the 
framework 

• There is evidence of employee engagement with the Trust’s Transformation 
agenda 

• Improvements are demonstrated in the delivery of objectives one, two and 
three 

• Board to ward objectives are realised and evidenced 
• An Internal Communications Strategy is implemented which supports the 

Trust’s Safety/Quality and Patient Experience agenda 
• The quality and safety of the Trust’s of the service provision through the 

implementation of the Trust’s agreed Quality Strategy is improved. 
5. To develop a Strategic 

Service Plan which will 
secure clinical and 
financial sustainability for 
the Trust in conjunction 
with the Trust’s strategic 
partners and key 
stakeholders. 

• A strategic service plan is agreed with all key stakeholders and partners 
• An engagement and change framework is agreed along with the 

implementation plan 

6. To work with our 
partners, stakeholders 
and the community to 
develop the reputation of 
Tameside Hospital as a 
provider of safe, high 
quality, effective care. 

• An Engagement and Communication Strategy is agreed and implemented for 
the Trust (which targets both internal and external stakeholders) Feedback 
from Tameside Listens is incorporated  into the Trust’s Improvement 
Programme and  this focused piece of work becomes part of  the normal 
business of the organisation 

• An open and transparent culture around the performance of the organisation 
is in operation with respect to the Trust’s performance against its agreed 
quality and safety metrics 

• Through feedback questionnaires, there is evidence for key stakeholders that 
the Trust’s reputation has improved 

7. To deliver against the 
required local and 
national frameworks in 
order to meet all the 
requirements of the 
Trust’s operating licence 
and the commissioners’ 
requirements. 

Compliance with all national and local performance standards is achieved.  These 
will include: 

• Delivery of CQUIN improvements and targets 
• Delivery of other commissioning  targets 
• Implementation of all national NICE guidelines. 
• Delivery of financial plans 
• Meeting current regulatory standards and requirements and any that are 

imposed 
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Comments from Other Agencies on 
the 2013/14 Quality Account 
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Statement from Tameside and Glossop CCG  
 
Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) welcome the opportunity to 
comment on the 2013/14 draft Quality Account. 

Over the past year, together with other strategic partners, we have worked with the new 
executive team to support the delivery of the Quality Improvement Programme and recognise the 
positive steps aimed at improving patient care within the hospital.  

 
More open and transparent leadership within the Trust has resulted in the invitation to the CCG to 
sit on the Trusts’ Improvement Board and regular attendance by the Trusts’ Improvement 
Programme Director at CCG Quality Committee and Governing Body meetings, have enabled us 
to form an independent view of actions taken to improve quality of care and patient safety 
following the Keogh Review.   
 
We welcome the development of the Quality Improvement Strategy and Patient Safety 
Programme as the key frameworks supporting continuous quality improvement within the Trust. 
Whilst acknowledging improvements have been made the Trust recognises they are still not 
meeting the standards expected. We would support this view.  

 
The 2013/14 priorities for quality improvement do not clearly describe how learning from 
incidents, complaints and clinical audit is or will be used to improve patient experience, patient 
safety  and the quality of care provided.  
 
CQUIN - Within the Quality Account the Trust outlines the 2013/14 CQUIN goals, however, the 
degree in which these targets were met in terms of % achieved is not clearly articulated nor is the 
potential impact of failure to achieve quality improvement goals. 

 
CQC - In the spirit of transparency and openness we believe the Trust should be clearer that 
whilst the Care Quality Commission recognised improvements made during the visit in January 
2014, improvement actions required in 8 of 11 outcomes would have resulted in enforcement 
action had the Trust not already been in special measures.  

 
Patient Administration System (Lorenzo) - The impact of the system introduction is described 
within the Quality Account in terms of problems in reporting performance data. From a 
commissioning perspective the potential consequence of this lack of data has a direct impact not 
only on our ability to measure performance and financial activity, we are also unable to use data 
to measure aspects of clinical care provided (an example of this would be the lack of data relating 
to VTE risk assessment). There is also no reference to patient safety concerns resulting from 
ongoing issues with the system and business processes i.e. pharmacy, outpatients and discharge 
letters. 

Improving Hospital Mortality - The CCG sees the development of regular systematic review of all 
deaths occurring in the hospital and the inclusion of clinical representation from the CCG in that 
process as positive step. In the future we would wish to see evidence that learning from the 
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review process is used to improve mortality rates, an area of focus being the death rates 
following surgery 

Infection Prevention and Control - The Trusts’ performance in this area is a serious and 
significant concern for the CCG; Despite national zero tolerance (0 cases) of MRSA the Trust has 
not demonstrated any improvement in the number of cases reported since 2011/12. 

The number of C.difficile cases has increased over the past 12 months despite steps taken to 
address this area. In terms of actions taken to address this we feel the strengthening of clinical 
leadership in this area (which is not currently described within the Quality Account) will support 
the Trusts aim to significantly improve performance in this area during 2014/15.  

Incident Reporting – The CCG are pleased to note the improved performance in terms of 
numbers of incidents reported. In terms of developing a culture of learning and continuous 
improvement we would welcome a focus on evaluation of the impact of changes made following 
an incident.  

Friends and Family Test (FFT) – Recognising FFT is a proxy measure and as such may have 
limited value as a quality indicator, it would be helpful if the Trust describes how this information 
is linked with other information relating to patient experience, complaints, compliments to gain a 
rounded picture of patient experience.  

Staff Survey – It is disappointing that there is no overall improvement in staff feedback via the 
NHS Staff Survey despite a considerable number of actions being taken by the Trust over the 
past 12 months. We would hope the impact of the actions identified within the refreshed 
Organisational Development Strategy, together with the increases in nurse and medical staffing 
levels, leadership and supervision (which are not currently highlighted within the document) will 
result in positive improvement in this area throughout 2014/5. 

In conclusion; we feel the Trust has demonstrated a commitment to develop a more open and 
honest culture. There is a clear recognition that historically the care and treatment provided by 
the Trust has not met expected or required standards. There is evidence of a commitment to take 
meaningful steps to address the patient safety and care quality concerns highlighted in the Keogh 
review, together with recognition that whilst improvements have been made further on-going 
improvement is required.  The CCG will continue to support the Trust and assure delivery of the 
actions within the Improvement Plan over the forthcoming year. 

Statement from the Healthwatch  
 
We welcome the opportunity to comment on the draft account and value the fact that we have 
been able to have open and honest dialogue with the new Executive Team during the past year.  

We welcomed the invitation to sit on the Trust’s Improvement Board as this has given us 
oversight into their improvement plans and enabled us to form our own independent view of 
activity aimed at improving care at the hospital. We look forward to continuing with this type of 
working relationship in the coming year.  

We acknowledge that the Trust recognises that although they have made improvements, they are 
still not meeting the standards expected. 

Looking at the 2014/15 priorities these appears to be a mix of outcome measures (‘reduction in 
the number of hospital acquired pressure ulcers’) and proxy indicators (‘improved patient 
experience by … improvement in Friends & Family Test and response rates’). This is a real 
concern because work focused solely on improving a proxy indicator may have no real impact in 
terms of the improving the intended outcome for patients. Since it is human nature to focus on 
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any targets we are set, we would like to see a specific, more explicit link between each individual 
future performance target and improved patient outcomes. 

We welcome the Trust’s involvement in national clinical audits. However, we see little evidence in 
the Quality Accounts to indicate what the output from these audits was and how it has been 
applied to maintain or improve patient safety, care quality or the patient experience. 

We note that the draft account that we have been asked to comment on does not indicate the 
extent to which the Trust met its CQUIN targets. We understand that it was not 100% successful 
in meeting its targets and we are concerned because this has implications in terms of the quality 
of patient care and also has financial consequences for a Trust that is already under significant 
financial pressure. 

Although it may be factually correct to describe the Trust’s registration with the Care Quality 
Commission as rated ‘without conditions’, we feel this could potentially mislead if not read in the 
context of the subsequent paragraphs. The Care Quality Commission recognises that progress 
has been made but they still have a number of areas where their latest published report indicates 
that they are requiring improvements from the Trust. 

We feel that problems with the Patient Administration System (Lorenzo) have probably had a 
greater impact on quality and patient safety than is suggested by the contents of the quality 
account. We have been informed that GPs received multiple discharge letters for the same 
patient – often containing different information about the patient, their treatment and/or their 
prescribed medication. We are also informed that there has been period when no discharge 
letters were sent to GPs and that the hospital was not aware of this until a GP practice contacted 
them. Furthermore we do not believe that problems have all been resolved by April 2014 (as 
asserted in the draft quality account) – we were contacted in mid-May by a patient who had 
experienced problems relating to the arrangements for outpatient appointments that month. 

We welcome the steps the Trust has taken to work towards improved quality, patient safety and 
the patient experience, as highlighted in their 2013/14 performance data in the quality account. 
The Trust has shared far more performance data with us than in previous years and we feel 
assured that they have systems and processes in place to allow for internal challenge, especially 
where this data is felt to be incomplete or it suggests that performance needs to be improved. We 
feel that they are making significant efforts to be open and transparent with us in our role as local 
consumer champion for health and care. 

C Difficile – we are extremely concerned to see a 43% increase in the number of C Diff cases in 
2013/14 compared with 2012/13. This represents an increase of 15 people who have had their 
lives affected by this serious infection, where the source of the infection has been identified as 
the hospital. 

We are pleased to note the reported improved performance in terms of complaints being closed 
within agreed timescales. We also welcome the focus on candour rather than speed of response. 
It is important that people feel that any complaint they make has been treated seriously and 
investigated thoroughly. 

Friends and Family Test – we do not believe that the Net Promoter Score is a meaningful 
measure of quality in the NHS and we feel it has only very limited value as a proxy indicator of 
quality. It developed as a commercial indicator in settings where there is a large degree of 
competition and choice (e.g. financial services). Whilst NHS patients do have a right to choice, 
the available choice is often limited (in order to ensure quality, patient safety and the effective use 
of limited public resources) – thus the indicator is largely meaningless. That said, the Friends and 
Family Test is a useful way to ask for patients’ comments about their experience of care and thus 
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we do encourage and welcome activity to promote narrative feedback from patients and their 
families through additional questions asked as part of this activity. 

Staff survey – we are disappointed to see the hospital performing below average in half the key 
findings in the national staff survey. The areas where Tameside was ranked lowest seem to us to 
be reinforced by  Keogh and other reviews undertaken during the year and as such should be 
addressed by the Trust’s improvement action planning processes. We would like to stress that we 
hear many positive stories about hard working and caring frontline staff in the Trust. 

We are pleased to see two pages of feedback about what the Trust has done with the hundreds 
of suggestions that came in through the Tameside Listens programme which ran during the year. 
We think it is important for the ‘listening – consideration – action – feedback’ process to be 
continued. 

In summary we feel that the past year has seen a real commitment from the Trust to 
acknowledge its historic poor performance and to take meaningful steps to rectify this. Feedback 
patients have given to us suggests that improvements have been made. The Trust’s Quality 
Account clearly indicates that they share our view that further improvements are still required. We 
truly hope that they can build on the progress they have made and accelerate the pace of 
improvement over the coming year.  

We plan to use our statutory power to Enter & View care at the hospital towards the end of this 
year so we can form an independent assessment in terms of how care standards have changed 
since the LINk’s last Enter & View visits in early 2013. We hope to do this with the co-operation of 
the Trust and will also continue to share data with them to help to understand what their patients 
are telling us about their experiences. 

 

Statement from the Council of Governors  

The Council of Governors receive regular Quality Report updates and debate quality issues with 
Trust Board members at the Council of Governors meetings. 

The Governors acknowledge the improvements that have been made along the improvement 
journey, and also recognise that there are further improvement still to be made.  

 

Statement from Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
No commentary received. 
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Trust Commentary on issues raised in Stakeholder feedback  
We welcome and value the feedback provided by our stakeholders, and whilst our 
requirement is to publish the commentaries provided in full which we have done, they 
have raised issues to which the Trust wishes to respond. 

The issues raised in the feedback on which comment has been made by our 
stakeholders encompasses the following areas 

• How we learn from Incidents, Complaints and Clinical Audit to improve Patient 
Experience, Patient Safety and Quality of Care provided. 

The revised governance structures and processes implemented are all predicated on 
using every learning opportunity to ensure that the organisation learns from incidents or 
near misses and patient feedback. The process to ensure that this happened and is 
completed and actioned has been strengthened by the appointment of three Patient 
Safety Officers and two Divisional Governance leads and strengthened Clinical 
leadership both Medical and Nursing. A systematic approach to provision of feedback on 
investigations to individual and groups has been adopted. 

With regard to Clinical Audit and Effectiveness the outcomes of all Clinical Audits are 
reported individually to the appropriate Clinical group and through the Clinical Audit and 
Effectiveness group who monitor the completion of action plans and will in their annual 
report provide a summary of all these including the learning and action taken. A revised 
Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Strategy closely aligned to the Quality Improvement 
Strategy was agreed in March 2014. 

• Achievement of the CQUIN goals  
The final copy of the report does detail the financial CQUIN outcome for 2012/13 of £2.4 
million, 70% achievement as reported in the Trust Board Performance report. Our non-
achievement of these is indicative of our identified need for further improvement and 
these issues are captured in the Improvement work streams overseen by the Trust Board 
through the Improvement Board in which the stakeholders are active participants. 

• CQC Inspection Report and our registration  
The CQC inspection report produced in March 2014 identified the Outcomes which we 
were non-compliant with. These are reported in the Quality Account as required. The 
impact of these on the Trust is a matter of record in the CQC report, and the Quality 
account already identified the improvement journey that we are undertaking as a 
consequence of being put into special measures following the Keogh report in July 2013.  

• The Lorenzo Patient Administration System implementation and patient safety 
concerns 
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The report details that we have had implementation issues with the Patient 
Administration system. All issues highlighted in this investigation have individually been 
reviewed to assess the impact of any patient safety concern and where appropriate a full 
investigation has been commissioned. The issues raised are all being addressed. The 
risk associated with this is recognised and included on the Trust Risk Register alongside 
mitigating actions. 

• Rates of Health Care Acquired Infection (HCAI) 
The report does detail the performance with regard to HCAI and the action proposed. 
The strengthened Clinical Leadership (Medical and Nursing) is documented in the report 
in the Quality initiatives (Part 2) these are intended to include HCAI and have a much 
wider impact on Quality and Safety across all aspects of our service provision. 

• Friends and Family test and its use as a proxy measure  
The requirement to undertake the Friends and Family Test is a nationally mandated 
indicator and reporting requirement. We accept that this is a proxy indicator but have a 
range of other methods to assess Patient Experience which are routinely reported 
through our Governance processes. Patient Experience monitoring is also linked to 
specific improvement workstreams. 

• Staff Survey Results  
The Strengthened Clinical leadership (Medical and Nursing) along with the recruitment of 
additional staff is documented in the report in the Quality initiatives (Part 2). In addition to 
the staff engagement work and other improvement workstreams we believe this has 
already impacted on Quality and Safety across all aspects of our service provision. We 
believe and hope that this should be reflected in improved staff survey results in 2014.
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Auditor Assurance Report 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF TAMESIDE 
HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST ON THE QUALITY REPORT  
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of Tameside Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust’s Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2014 (the “Quality Report”) and 
certain performance indicators contained therein.  

Scope and subject matter  
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2014 subject to limited assurance consist of the 
national priority indicators as mandated by Monitor:  

 62 Day cancer waits – the percentage of patients treated within 62 days of referral from GP; 
and 

 Clostridium Difficile – all cases of Clostridium Difficile positive diarrhoea in patients aged two 
years or over that are attributed to the Trust.  

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the “indicators”. 

Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors  
The Directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in 
accordance with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued 
by Monitor.  

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether 
anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:  

 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;  

 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources - specified in the 
Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality Reports; and.  

 the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of limited assurance 
in the Quality Report are not reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of data quality set 
out in the Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality Reports.  

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, and consider the implications for our report if 
we become aware of any material omissions.  

We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is 
materially inconsistent with: 

 Board minutes for the period April 2013 to May 2014; 

 Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2013 to May 2014; 

 Feedback from the Commissioners dated 23 May 2014; 
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 Feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 22 May 2014;  

 The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 
Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, 2013/14; 

 The 2013/14 national patient survey;  

 The 2013/14 national staff survey;  

 Care Quality Commission quality and risk profiles/intelligent monitoring reports 2013/14; and 

 The 2013/14 Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment. 

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the “documents”). Our 
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.  

We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team 
comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts. 

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors of 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of Governors in 
reporting Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. 
We permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 
2014, to enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their governance 
responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in connection with the 
indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body and Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust for our work or this report save where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior 
consent in writing.  

Assurance work performed  
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on 
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued by the International Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures included:  

 Evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for managing 
and reporting the indicators. 

 Making enquiries of management. 

 Testing key management controls. 

 Limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to 
supporting documentation. 

 Comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
to the categories reported in the Quality Report. 

 Reading the documents. 

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement.  
The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are 
deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement. 
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Limitations  
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial 
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for determining 
such information. 

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the 
selection of different but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially 
different measurements and can impact comparability.  The precision of different measurement 
techniques may also vary.  Furthermore, the nature and methods used to determine such 
information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may change over 
time.  It is important to read the Quality Report in the context of the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.  

The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-mandated 
indicators which have been determined locally by Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. 

Conclusion  
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to 
believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2014:  

 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;  

 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified above; 
and  

 the indicators in the Quality Report subject to limited assurance have not been reasonably 
stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual.  

 

 

KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor  

St James’ Square 
Manchester 
M2 6DS                         29 May 2014 
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REGULATORY RATINGS 

 Annual plan 
2013/14 

Q1 
2013/14 

Q2 YTD 
2013/14 

Q3 YTD 
2013/14 

Q4 YTD 
2013/14 

Under the compliance Framework 
Financial Risk 
Rating 

3 2 2   

Governance Risk 
Rating 

Amber-Green Red Red   

Under the Risk Assessment Framework 
Continuity of 
Service Rating 

   1 1 

Governance 
Rating 

   Red Red 

 

The Trust had planned for financial recovery within 2013/14 and expected to achieve a 
governance risk rating of amber-green. However, as a result of external reviews Monitor 
put the Trust into special measures in 2013, which resulted in the Governance rating 
falling to a red. As a result of the external reviews the Trust has invested in additional 
staffing which has resulted in the Trust closing the financial year in deficit resulting in the 
Trust not achieving its planned financial risk rating of a 3, and delivering the lowest 
continuity of services rating of a 1. More detailed on the continuity of service risk rating 
can be found on page 158 within the finance section. 

In order to achieve improvements the Trust has an action plan agreed with Monitor 
in order to address areas of concern. The Trust also has in place a buddying 
agreement with UHSM in order to address issues and deliver the required 
improvements. The Trust has also appointed a Turnaround Director to help deliver 
the required financial efficiency savings. 

 
 
STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RESPONSIBILITIES AS THE 
ACCOUNTING OFFICER OF TAMESIDE HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 
 
The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS 
foundation trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including the 
responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are 
answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by Monitor. 
 
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis 
set pout in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and 
must give a true and fair view of affairs of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and 
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of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the 
financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to : 
 

• Observe the accounts direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements and apply suitable accounting policies on 
a consistent basis; 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation 

Trust Annual Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial statements; 

• Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, 
delegated authorities and guidance; and 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 
The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS 
foundation trust and to enable her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements 
outlined in the above mentioned act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the NHS foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
 
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities 
set out in Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed 
 
 
Karen James 
Interim Chief Executive    Date  29 May 2014 
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation Trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am 
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also 
responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting 
Officer Memorandum. 
 
The purpose of the system of internal control 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather 
than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The 
system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Tameside 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. The system of internal control has been in place in Tameside Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2014 and up to the date of approval 
of the annual report and accounts. 
 
Capacity to handle risk 
 
The Board of Directors provides leadership on the overall governance agenda. The 
Board has two Sub – Committee Committees which have a key role in risk management. 
The Quality and Governance Committee and the Finance and Performance Committee 
which together oversees all risk management activity and ensure the correct strategy is 
adopted for the management of risk, ensuring controls are present and effective and that 
there are robust action plans in place for those risks which remain. The committees are 
chaired by a non-executive director with Executive Director Membership, and senior 
officers of the Trust with risk management responsibilities provide input and reports to the 
committees.  The Trust has kept under review and revised and updated the Governance 
framework across the organisation and has revised the Risk Management Strategy and 
Policy which describes the Trusts approach and processes for managing risk and the 
roles and responsibilities of its staff. Whilst the Quality and Governance committee and 
Finance and Performance Committees report directly to the Board, they have also 
worked closely with the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee provides assurance o the 
Board on the system of internal control and risk management ensuring that these are 
independently assured. These three committees through their annually reviewed Terms 
of reference triangulate and validate their work to enable full and robust scrutiny and 
management of significant risk. 
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The specific role of each executive director is detailed below; 
 
• The Director of Nursing is responsible for defined areas of clinical risk and patient 

safety.  The Director of Nursing is responsible as the Director of Infection 
Prevention and Control and is responsible for ensuring that clinical risk is identified 
and managed, and that clinical governance structures within his sphere of 
responsibility in the organisation are effective. The Director of Nursing is the 
Caldicott Guardian. 

 
• The Medical Director responsible for defined areas of clinical risk and patient 

safety.  and is responsible for ensuring that clinical risk within his sphere of 
responsibility in the organisation are effective. The Medical Director is also 
responsible for the clinical effectiveness of services, managing medical staff 
performance and clinical standards. 

 
• The Director of Finance is responsible for the financial aspects of business risk, for 

implementing systems to prevent fraud and corruption and for ensuring security of 
financial systems within the organisation. She is also responsible for minimising 
risk in relation to failure of information systems, and provides assurance in respect 
of information governance. The Director of Finance is the Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO) 

 
Risk Management Training is provided  to all relevant staff as part of the Trust’s 
Mandatory Core Training, and covers Clinical Risk , Health & Safety, Risk Assessment, 
Risk Action Planning, Incident reporting  and Incident investigation.  Training provided 
during 2013/14 continues to cover wider Clinical and Corporate Governance aspects in 
addition for example Data Protection Act and Freedom of Information requirements. Risk 
is systematically and routinely monitored from Ward to Board. 
 
The overarching risk management and governance system across the Organisation has 
been re- designed during 2013/14 to ensure wider learning from best practice and 
external reviews. This is cascaded to and managed at an operational level with corporate 
oversight and assurance. Best practice from National, Patient Safety risk management 
initiatives, and corporate risk management and governance practice has been 
systematically considered and in doing so we have used support and learning from 
organisations such as, AQuA, Dr Foster, Deloittes, and other independent organisations.   
The Trust has worked with commissioning bodies to ensure that the learning from best 
practice and external reviews is considered in clinical contracts and the Trust’s risk 
management programme has been progressed in partnership with commissioning 
bodies. 
 
 
The Risk and Control Framework 
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The Trust has a “Risk Management Strategy, Policy and Guidance” document which has 
been subject to extensive review during 2013/ 14. Following the Keogh Review, an 
Independent review of Board and Quality Governance processes and assurance 
submitted through to Board was undertaken by Deloittes  
 
The risk management strategy was independently reviewed and processes put in place 
to strengthen the Trust’s arrangements. 
 
The main elements of this strategy, which ensures full coverage of risk identification, 
assessment, response, reporting and review, are as follows: 
• The adoption of clear management structures and responsibilities throughout the 

organisation reporting to the Board of Directors 
• Effective systems for risk assessment, risk analysis and for determining the Trust’s 

risk appetite – which includes the adoption of a standard risk scoring system. Staff 
managing risks regularly review risks and output from each risk register to ensure 
it remains valid, reflects change and helps the Trust in its decision making 

• The use of an up to date  central register for the prioritisation of risk and 
development of action plans covering both clinical and non clinical risks 

• An assurance framework that maps Trust objectives to risks, controls and 
assurances 

• The provision of relevant training for staff. 
 
Risk management within the Trust utilises a number of approaches including the 
following: 
Risk  identification and assessments involving the analysis of individual risks which 
includes an assessment of likelihood and impact on achieving corporate objectives; 
serious incident investigations; incident reporting; complaints management including 
review and analysis of trends; compliance with legislation/national guidance; external 
reviews and accreditation processes and audit reports; reviews of claims against the 
Trust; Dr Foster data, particularly “red bells”;  national staff and patient surveys; sickness 
absence information and staffing levels. 
 
Risk appetite can be defined as “The amount of risk that an organisation is prepared to 
accept, tolerate, or be exposed to at any point in time”.  The Trust has an established risk 
assessment process and uses a well-recognised framework to rate or score a risk. A risk 
is rated using a matrix of consequence (the impact) versus likelihood (frequency) of the 
risk occurring.  The Risk Management Strategy, Policy and Guidance) sets out the 
Trust’s approach and expectations in relation to risk appetite. This recognises that the 
Trust's risk appetite is not necessarily static. The Trust Board may wish to vary the 
amount of risk that it is prepared to tolerate depending on the circumstances at a given 
time.  
 
The Trust's approach to risk appetite ensures that risks are considered in terms of both 
opportunities and threats and are not confined to the financial consequences of a risk 
materialising. Risks could also impact on the capability or capacity of the Trust, its 
performance and its reputation.  
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The Trust’s risk strategy has been developed to ensure the systematic analysis, 
identification, monitoring and communication of risks associated with any activity, 
function or process performed within the Trust.  
 
This is being embedded into the Trust by: 
 
• clear structures and responsibilities with explicit links for reporting up to the Trust 

Board, 
• a system for risk assessment  involving the analysis of individual risks to identify 

and minimise risk where possible. The assessment evaluates the impact and 
likelihood of each risk and prioritises based on the overall level of exposure to risk. 
For each risk controls are developed, documented and understood, 

• a system for risk reporting whereby all significant risks are reported at each formal 
meeting of the Trust Board 

• systems to monitor, control and learn from untoward incidents, 
• maintaining an up to date central risk register, and 
• ensuring all employees are aware of the importance of managing risks and their 

responsibilities. 
The management of risk using the revised methodology is being embedded throughout 
the Trust. All areas of the Trust have detailed risk registers which are regularly reviewed 
by managers upwards to divisional leads. The Risk Management Group and the Service 
Quality and Operational Governance committee regularly review divisional risks as part 
of its rolling programme of work. 
The Board of Directors seeks to continuously improve the quality of the services the Trust 
provides to its local population .To this extent it actively seeks feedback from patients, 
members and governors and other stakeholders. Directors regularly participate in walk-
rounds in clinical areas to secure feedback from patients and visitors, engage with 
frontline clinical teams and provide feedback to evaluate the overall patient experience in 
respect of safety and quality of services provided.  
The Trust is a member of the NHSLA Clinical Negligence Scheme  
The Board of Directors are responsible leads for ensuring compliance with all relevant 
clinical registration regulations. Compliance is reviewed and overseen by; 
 
• Regular review and reporting to the Quality and Governance Committee and to the 

Board of Directors matters highlighted under the Care Quality Commission’s ( 
CQC) Quality and Risk Profile and the CQC Intelligence Monitoring 

• Analysis and trend identification of incident reports, complaints, patient and staff 
surveys.  

• Challenge via membership of and participation in meetings of the Executive Team, 
Trust Board and Board – committees 

 
The Trust was one of fourteen NHS trusts which fell within the scope of the Keogh 
Review and the review was carried out in May and June 2013 and publicly reported its 
findings in July 2013. As a result of this the Trust was placed in Special Measures and  
the CQC made unannounced visits to Tameside Hospital during 2013/14 , the most 
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recent being an unannounced inspection on the 3rd January 2014 and found the hospital 
not to be meeting all CQC national standards. Action was needed in respect of Outcomes 
1, 2, 4, 7, 23, 14. 17 and 21 
 
The CQC found that the Trust had addressed previously reported non- compliance  
regarding Monitoring the Quality of Service provision,  and Infection Control and 
alongside Medicines Management  were found to be meeting these required standards in 
relation to the services reviewed.  
 
Extensive work has been progressed to remedy the improvements and as a result I 
submit that: The foundation Trust is fully compliant with registration requirements of the 
Care Quality Commission. 
 
The Trust has identified a range of significant risks, which are currently being mitigated, 
whose impact could have a direct bearing on compliance with the Provider Licence, CQC 
registration or the achievement of corporate objectives in the following areas: 
 

• Infection Prevention (C.Difficile target) 
• Finance (Income volatility, CIP and insufficient liquidity) 
• Compliance (Provider Licence, and CQC registration) 
• Lorenzo (Lorenzo related implementation related issues, IM&T infrastructure 
• Discharge processes 
• Recruitment 

 
The Trust was issued with a Provider Licence in April 2013 and this replaced the Terms 
of Authorisation for Foundation Trust’s. The Trust was previously in significant breach of 
its Terms of Authorisation and under the Provider Licence this has resulted in the Trust 
receiving a section 105 discretionary notice and a section 106 enforcement undertaking. 
The conditions to the licence pertain to the trust’s long term financial and clinical 
sustainability and the trust was required by the regulator Monitor to undertake a number 
of actions in order to remedy the breaches to the licence conditions. The detail of the 
conditions attached to the Provider Licence is publically available on the Monitor website. 
 
In response to the findings of the Keogh Review in 2013, the Trust received further 
discretionary notices (section 105 and section 111) and Monitor required the trust to 
commission an external review of board and quality governance. Deloitte undertook this 
review and as a result action plans were implemented to remedy the corporate and 
quality governance shortfalls. As a consequence of the action plans, the effectiveness of 
the governance structure was strengthened and the responsibilities of the directors and 
the reporting structures between the board, its subcommittees and the executive team 
were clearly delineated. As previously described the overarching risk management and 
governance system across the organisaiton was re-designed during 2013/14 to ensure 
wider learning from best practice and external reviews.  
 
The trust is required to submit its Corporate Governance Statement to Monitor by 30 
June 2014. There is a requirement for the Board of directors to have regard to the views 
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of the governors. The statement was discussed at the Council of Governors Planning 
Committee and the views of the governors fed through to the Audit Committee which 
thoroughly reviewed the statement and suggested the appropriate responses for the 
board to consider in advance of the submission date.  
 
In deciding the appropriate responses to the declarations, the Board took into account 
the outcome of the recent external governance reviews, the internal review against the 
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, the revisions to the risk management and 
governance systems across the organisation and  the recommendations, and assurances 
from the Audit, and the Finance and Performance Committee. 
 
Overall responsibility for data security rests with the Director of Finance, who performs 
the role of Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO) within the Trust. The Trust has a formal 
Information Governance Committee which is chaired by the Director of Quality and 
Governance and has the SIRO as a member. The committee’s terms of reference include 
ensuring the review of evidence to ensure the maintenance of effective information 
governance processes and procedures with risk based and proportionate safeguards.  
 
As part of the committee’s work to address data security risks, an Information Asset 
Register has been established, and Information Asset Owners and Information Asset 
Administrators have been identified.  They advise the SIRO of the security of the 
information assets they control, and provide an annual assurance report on the key 
issues.   
 
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme 
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, 
employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in  
accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations 
 
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under 
equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with. 
 
The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery 
Plans are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency 
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this 
organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting 
requirements are complied with. 
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Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 
 
The Trust has an agreed process to ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to 
ensure resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively to fully secure value 
for money. This involves: 
 
• agreeing a rolling annual financial strategy and plan, 
• a rigorous process of annual budget setting and delivering cost improvements, 
• review of Standing Financial Instructions and Schemes of Delegation 
• robust performance management arrangements; and 
• commissioning external advice where the Trust believes economy and efficiency 

can be improved. 
 
The Board plays an active role by: 
• Agreeing annually a set of corporate objectives ensuring that the Trust continues 

its drive for high quality, cost-effective services as reflected in its three year 
financial and service strategy submitted to Monitor through the Annual plan 

• reviewing and holding the Executive Directors to account for the delivery of the 
corporate objectives, including financial performance, financial risk and delivery 
against the cost improvement plan  

• approving the annual Capital Programme and reviewing business cases and 
overseeing procurement for all major capital investments. 

 
The Trust’s Audit Committee plays a key role on behalf of the Board in securing 
assurance on matters relating to economy, efficiency and effectiveness. Internal and 
External Audit recommendations and their implementation are overseen by the Audit 
Committee.  The other two Board Sub Committees, Quality & Governance and Finance 
and Performance also hold key roles in providing assurance to the Board. 
 
On 1 April 2013, Monitor, the independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts, found 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to be in breach of its Provider Licence and has 
attached additional conditions to the licence. 
 
Annual Quality report  
 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service 
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010(as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form 
and content of the annual Quality Reports which incorporates the above legal 
requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual  
 
Tameside Hospital has used the findings and improvement actions from the extensive 
external reviews undertaken during 2013/14 Quality and Safety in the development of the 
Quality Account. 
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Making due reference to the Board, Council of Governors and colleague organisations, 
namely NHS Tameside & Glossop, Healthwatch , Tameside Hospital  Action Group 
(THAG) and Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee), performance and outcomes identified within the Quality Report are 
monitored by the Trust Board, Trust Executive and Council of Governors.  The Nurse and 
Medical Directors (the Trust Executives with responsibility for clinical governance 
standards) are full members of the two former groups, whilst the Director of Nursing 
attends all Council of Governors meetings, with the Medical Director present when 
clinical commitments enable attendance.   
 
There is a specific Board committee for Clinical Quality and Governance and there is an 
infrastructure of committees and work streams reporting through to the Trust Board with 
clearly defined lines of responsibility and accountability. These are supported by policies 
and plans. This includes the monitoring and provision of assurances in relation to the 
Quality Improvement Strategy. During 2013/14 the Trust has established a defined 
Quality and Governance Unit and has enhanced the people and skills across the Trust  to 
deliver the Quality Improvement Strategy.  
 
The Quality & Governance Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive director and 
includes Non-Executive and Executive Membership.   
 
A Patient Safety Programme has been developed and implemented by the Medical and 
Nursing Directors and endorsed by the Board.  During 2013/14, the metrics used in are 
incorporated into the Quality Account metrics, giving coherence and integration.  
During 2013/14 the Trust invited Deloittes to undertake a review of its quality and clinical 
governance arrangements with a view to developing further ward to board accountability.  
This gave rise to an improvement plan, approved by the Board, which has been 
implemented.  
 
The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) contract has provided the Trust 
with a process for the external scrutiny of a number of elements of its quality activities.  
Information generated from the Trust’s CQUIN activities have been reviewed  by the 
Trust’s main commissioner, NHS Tameside & Glossop. 
The Trust has a contract with Dr Foster Intelligence to provide high quality, fully 
benchmarked data, including mortality, length of stay, day case rate and readmissions.  
This forms the basis for a number of reports submitted to the Board and to other bodies 
within the organisation. 
 
I have drawn on the content of the Quality report attached to this annual report and other 
performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made 
by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.  
 
Review of effectiveness 
 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is 
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informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers 
and clinical leads within the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the 
content of the quality report attached to this Annual report and other performance 
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the 
external auditors in their management letter and other reports. I have been advised on 
the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control by the board, the audit committee and the quality and governance committee, and 
a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in 
place.   
 
The Head of Internal Audit provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for 
gaining assurance through the Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as 
part of the internal audit work.  The Assurance Framework itself provides me with 
evidence that the effectiveness of controls which manage the risks to the organisation 
achieving its principal objectives has been reviewed.   
 
Based on the internal audit work undertaken in 2013/14, significant assurance can be 
given that there is a generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the 
organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. 
However, some weaknesses in the design or inconsistent application of controls put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk. 
 
Whilst there were no reports with Red opinions during the year; seven reviews have 
resulted in Amber/Red opinions, although for the specific areas covered it is not 
considered that these either individually or cumulatively impact on the overall opinion. 
Management action plans have been designed and implemented to address the 
weaknesses identified and the Trust Executive and the Audit Committee reviews 
progress against the implementation of agreed action plans.  
 
My review is also informed by reports and assessments including those by: 
 
• Care Quality Commission, 
• Monitor 
• Internal audit, 
• External Audit 
• Independently commissioned work programmes, 
• PLACE,  
• NHSLA Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts 
• Local Commissioners 
• The Local Healthwatch 
• Keogh review Team 
• AQuA 
• Royal College / Deanery inspections/accreditations 
• Information Governance risk assessments against the Information Governance 
 Toolkit 
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The following groups and committees have been involved in maintaining and reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control: 
 
• The Trust Board of Directors  

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction of the organisation and 
monitoring the progress of the Trust against targets. The Board has established 
governance arrangements including a revised improved committee structure. The 
Board has an Audit Committee, Quality and Governance Committee and Finance 
and Performance Committee. The Chairs (non-executive directors) report to the 
Board at the first available meeting following each respective committee meeting. 

 
• The Audit Committee  

The Audit Committees key role is to review the integrity of the Trust’s financial 
statements and to ensure appropriate scrutiny and review of the trust’s financial 
and non-financial controls and management systems. The committee investigates 
the activities of the Trust and provides assurance to the Board of Directors on the 
adequacy of the structures and process for risk management, audit and financial 
reporting. 

 
• The Finance and Performance Committee 

The role of the Committee is to provide assurance to the Trust Board in relation to 
financial and non-financial performance issues. In particular the Committee 
reviews and advise the Board on in year performance against previously agreed 
board objectives/targets (monitoring) and in addition scrutinise in detail and 
recommend for approval the Trust’s longer term business plans (policy setting).  
 
 

 
• The Quality and Governance Committee 

The Quality and Clinical Governance Committees key role is to ensure that an 
appropriate and effective system of quality governance is embedded throughout 
the Trust via its divisional structures. The committee reports directly to the Board 
as the main means of providing assurance about the systems and processes for 
monitoring and continually improving the quality of care provided to patients. The 
committee also ensures that the Trust responds appropriately and effectively to 
serious clinical incidents complaints and concerns and other risk and incident data 
it receives which have potentially significant implications for the Trust’s clinical 
services. 

 
 
An extensive improvement programme has been progressed across the Trust during 
2013/14. These actions have been taken to address the identified internal control issues 
and gaps in control previously identified  
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Conclusion 
 
In line with the guidance on the definition of the significant control issues, I have no 
significant control issues to declare within this year’s statement. The trust is however 
forecasting a deficit in 2014/15 and has requested significant financial support from the 
Department of Health. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed 
 
 
 
 
              
   
Karen James 
Interim Chief Executive       Date 29th May 2014 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Overview 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is in its sixth full year of operating as an NHS 
Foundation Trust. The Trust submitted a two year Financial Recovery Plan to Monitor, its 
independent regulator, due to reporting a normalized deficit in 2010/11 of £1.19m. The 
financial year 2012/13 was the second year of the recovery plan and the Foundation 
Trust  delivered against this plan, and delivered a surplus, however the Financial Risk 
Rating (FRR) remained at a level 2, which meant that the Trust remained in breach of its 
terms of authorization. In 2013/14 the Trust had planned to achieve a surplus, and 
recover its FRR to a level 3, which would have resolved the remaining financial issues. 
The Trust remained on its planned trajectory for recovery, however as a result of External 
Reviews, additional medical and nursing staff were recruited in line with the findings of 
theses reviews. As a consequence the Trust invested money but with no additional 
income to cover off these investments the Trust has posted a deficit in 2013/14.  
  
After making enquiries the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the NHS 
Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.  For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the accounts. 
The Directors considered the following factors in concluding that the organisation is a 
going concern; 
• The level and basis of expected income for 2014/15 and fully signed off contracts 

and agreed activity levels, 
• Robust and full impact assessment of the  impact of Payment by Results tariffs 

specifically in 2014/15 but going forward, 
• Agreed cash support in the form of Public Dividend Capital Department from the 

department of Health for 2014/15, 
• An agreed capital expenditure programme for 2014/15, risk assessed, reflecting 

the requirements of the foundation trust in delivering its mandatory goods and 
service schedule,  

• Contractual agreement with its main commissioner  Tameside & Glossop CCG to 
the Trust’s overall service strategy including full recognition of future commissioner 
intentions and ; 

• Full identification of  potential downsides and upsides, incorporated into the 
financial plan for 2014/5 including the potential impact of planned demand 
management initiatives. 
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Financial Position 
The Trust’s accounts are included in the annual accounts section of this report and show 
a deficit of £3.62m for the year prior to exceptional income of £4.91m for the reversal of 
previous impairments and £0.16m for new impairments arising from an estate 
revaluation, resulting in a surplus of £1.13m.  The original financial plan agreed with 
Monitor had been a planned a surplus of £1.69m for the year prior to exceptional costs. 
The Trust is therefore £5.31m off plan, which reflects the unplanned investments 
resulting from the external reviews. 
 
 
The table below summarises the income and expenditure position for the year. 

 

The Trust’s cash balances as at the 31st March 2014 were £4.586m against a planned 
target of £12.792m. 
 
Financial Performance 
Key headline financial indicators are as follows; 

• The Trust closed the year with a deficit of £3.62m, excluding exceptional income 
and costs. 
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• The year end cash balances were £4.586m with no draw down on the working 
capital facility at any point during the year 

• Capital investment of £2.51m 
• Achievement of £6.44m CIP in year;  £4m recurrently, against a planned delivery 

of £9.7m 
• Private Patient Income totalled £14k or 0.009 % of total patient income i.e. well 

within the Monitor private patient cap set of 0.1% 
 
Financial Risks 
Key financial risks during 2013/14 included: 

• Delivery of the required CIPs Programme  
• Impact of External Reviews 
• Implementation of a new patient records system 
• Non payment for re-admissions to a hospital within thirty days of discharge 
• Loss of income re CQUINs, Quality Bonus Payment income, and/or contract 

penalties 
• Excess inflation and pay award costs above funding received through tariff uplift. 
• Increased use of locum medical and nursing staff due to increased staffing 

required by the External Reviews. 
 
Income / Contract Activity 
In 2013/14 the Commissioning element of the NHS was reconfigured such that Primary 
Care Trusts (PCT’s) were replaced by Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) which are 
groups of General Practioner’s and their associated management structures, and 
Specialist Commissioners. This means that some of the previous years comparative data 
is no longer comparable and it is not possible to re-base previous years information into 
the new structures. The previous years data has however continued to be shown for 
information. 
 
Income 
Income in 2013/14 totalled approximately £161.21 million.  The majority of the Trust’s 
income (£144.4 Million; 89.6%) comes from Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) for 
health care services provided to patients during the year.  Services provided to Tameside 
and Glossop CCG account for 84.4% of all income received from CCGs.  
 
Other operating income relates to services provided to other Trusts; training and education;  
charitable contributions, and miscellaneous fees and charges. A breakdown of income is 
provided in tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 below. 
 
 
Table 1 – Analysis of Income by Source 
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Table 2 Analysis of Income by CCG 

 

The activity associated with this clinical income is detailed in table 3 below:- 
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Analysis of Income by CCG 

Tameside and Glossop Oldham Manchester Stockport Specialist Commissioning Other PCTs 
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Table 3 - Analysis of Contract Activity 

 

 

It should be noted that in October 2013 the Trust changed its Patient Administration 
System (PAS) from Medway to Lorenzo. As with all new system implementations there 
were some implementation issues. As such the 2013/14 data is not necessarily 
comparable with previous years. In addition to the impact of Lorenzo on activity counting 
and classification, the introduction of tariff changes has also meant that non-elective 
activity appears to have fallen as obstetric activity is no longer recorded in the same 
manner as the tariff has moved to a pathway basis which covers the whole maternity 
pathway. 
 
Table 4 analyses the income from activities. As can be seen from the table the Trust’s 
main source of income arises from Commissioner Requested Services in treating 
emergency admissions, with outpatient visits being the second largest source of activity 
related income. Income from Non-Commissioner Requested Services mainly relates to 
income derived from the Compensation Recovery Unit mainly in relation to road traffic 
accidents. 
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Other Operating Income 

Other operating income totalled £15.74m for the year or 9.8% of the total income 

compared with 7.2% in 2012/13.  A breakdown of the income is shown below. 
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In total other operating income has increased by £4.22m in 2013/14 above the 2012/13 
levels. The main increase in the position is the increase of £2.93m on other. This is 
mainly due to the receipt of non-recurrent transitional income relating to the private 
finance initiative to support the site reconfigurations necessary as part of the new hospital 
build. In addition to this income from non-patient care to other bodies has also increased 
by £1.19m as the Trust received non-recurrent income to support the implementation of a 
new patient administration system (Lorenzo). This implementation commenced in 
2012/13 and has carried on into 2013/14, with the Trust receiving an additional £1.38m 
above the levels received in 2012/13 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has complied with the cost allocation and 
charging requirements set out in HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information 
Guidance in relation to the levying of charges for the provision of information. 
 
Private patient Income 
The Trust generated £15k from Private Patient activity during the period (£16k in 
2012/13), which accounts for 0.009% of total patient income.  To comply with the trust’s 
Terms of Authorisation as a Foundation Trust the Trust must ensure that the income 
received from treating private patients does not exceed a cap of 0.1% of total income.  
The Trust is compliant with its obligation in this respect. 
 
Expenditure 
An analysis of the Trust’s operating expenditure is detailed in tabular and graphical 
format below. 

 

Pay costs have increased in year by £5.7m, in 2013/14 compared with the previous year. 
These increases reflect a 1% pay award to staff after a three year pay freeze, changes in 
pay relating to pay increments totalling some £1.81m, plus a further investment in pay to 
support quality pressures and increased activity levels of £1.8m.  In addition to this the  
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Trust invested a further £3.5m into staffing as a result of external reviews, none of which 
was funded. All these changes increased pay costs by £7.11m. These increases in 
expenditure occurred despite delivering £1.8m of savings on pay to support the 
requirement to achieve efficiency savings. 
 

  

 

The Late Payment Of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998   

     
There were no payments made under this legislation.     
 
The Trust aims to pay all creditors within 50 days. 
 

Value for Money 
The Trust delivered a Cost Improvement Programme (CIP) of £ 6.44m in 2013/14, 
against a planned target of £9.7m, some £3.26m behind the savings required.  Of the 

Staff costs 
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Analysis of Operating Expenses 2013/14 
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£6.44m delivered CIP some savings were on a non-recurrent basis in order to maximise 
savings and bridge slippage in recurrent schemes. Despite this the Trust only delivered 
£4m CIP recurrently against the required £9.7m savings target, thereby adversely 
impacting on the Trust’s financial position going forward into 2014/15. This compares 
with the £9.4m of CIP schemes delivered in the previous year. An element of undelivered 
CIP was due to the inability to close beds, and reduce staffing due to there being no 
reduction in the average length of stay of patients in the hospital, and remaining high 
levels of activity. 
 
Prudential Borrowing Limit 
The Prudential borrowing code requirements in section 41 of the NHS act 2006 have 
been repealed with effect from the 1st of April 2013 by the Health and Social Care Act 
2012. The financial statement disclosures that were provided previously are no longer 
required. The Trust continued to maintain a working capital facility of £11m for 2013/14. 
 
Cash Investments 
As a Foundation Trust, Tameside has the opportunity to invest cash balances in order to 
generate increased interest.  This interest contributes to the Trust’s overall financial 
position and therefore to investment in patient care. However, the Trust will no longer be 
investing its surplus cash due to changes in the calculation of the dividend payable, 
which means that the Trust will be better off leaving surplus funds with the government 
bank, rather than investing and earning interest on them. 
The Trust has an investment policy and the Audit Committee currently oversees 
investment activity and monitors the returns on investments generated. Going forward 
this role will be taken over by the Finance and Performance Committee. 
 
Performance against the Risk Assessment Framework 
 
Since 1 April 2013 all NHS foundation trusts need a licence from Monitor stipulating 
specific conditions that they must meet to operate. Key among these are financial 
sustainability and governance requirements. From 1 October 2013, the Risk assessment 
framework replaced the Compliance Framework. The aim of the risk assessment 
framework is to show when there is a significant risk to the financial sustainability of a 
provider, which could endanger the continuity of service provision. With effect from 
October 2013 Monitor introduced the “continuity of services risk rating” (CoSRR) to 
identify the financial risks facing a provider, and this replaced the Financial Risk Rating 
(FRR) against which Trusts were monitored up until the of September 2013. 
 
At the outset of 2013/14 financial risk was assessed using the FRR.  Trusts was deemed 
as high risk of breaching their Terms of Authorisation are assigned a financial risk rating 
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of 1, the highest i.e. “best” risk rating is 5. Tameside would have achieved a Risk rating of 
1 for the financial year 2013/14. This is below the level required for authorisation as a 
Foundation Trust.  As a consequence of the Trust falling to a risk rating of 2 in 2010/11s 
Monitor deemed that the Trust was in significant breach of its Terms of Authorisation, and 
as such the Trust was required to produce a recovery plan for 2013/14. The Trust 
subsequently produced a recovery plan, which saw the Trust achieving an FRR of 3 in 
2013/14 however, external reviews and the investment resulting from those reviews 
means that the recovery plan was not delivered. 
Since October 2013 the CoSRR has been introduced. There are four rating categories 
ranging from 1, which represents the most serious risk, to 4, representing the least risk. A 
low rating does not necessarily represent a breach of the provider’s licence. Rather, it 
reflects the degree of financial concern that Monitor may have about a provider and 
consequently the frequency with which a Trust will be monitored. The CoSRR 
incorporates two measures of financial robustness:- 

1. liquidity: days of operating costs held in cash or cash-equivalent forms, including 
wholly committed lines of credit available for drawdown; and  
 

2. capital servicing capacity: the degree to which the organisation’s generated 
income covers its financing obligations  
 

Under both of these measures the Trust scores a COSRR of 1 for 2013/14. 
 

 
Financial Outlook for 2014/15 
The Trust is planning to deliver a deficit of £17.5m or 11.6% of turnover in 2014/15, after 
delivering a CIP of £6.1m and will have a CoSRR of 1. The Trust is planning to deliver 
the national efficiency requirement of 4% (£6.1m) built within the tariff, however this will 
be insufficient to bridge the financial gap facing the Trust resulting from external reviews 
and new pressures. The resulting planned deficit in 2014/15 and the unplanned deficit in 
2013/14 means that the Trust is forecast to run out of cash in June 2014. As a 
consequence of this the Trust is seeking cash support from the department of  health in 
the form of public dividend capital. 
 
Unlike in previous years where the Trust has delivered CIP in excess of the national 
efficiency targets in order to deliver a surplus, a decision has been taken that this is 
unlikely to be delivered as only £4m of the £9.7m CIP target in 2013/14 was achieved. As 
such it is extremely unlikely that the Trust will deliver sufficient savings to bridge the 
2014/15 financial deficit.  As such, the Trust plans to deliver efficiency savings of 4% 
(£6.1m) in line with the national efficiency requirements.  These savings will be delivered 
by a number of transformational  and other schemes which cut across all divisions and 
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departments improving productivity and the flow of patients through the hospital.  Savings 
plans will  be carefully scrutinised by the Board and subject to the approval of  both the 
Medical Director and the Director of Nursing prior to implementation to ensure that the 
quality of patient care is not compromised.   In 2014/15  savings schemes also reflect the 
Trust’s  plans to work within a formal collaborative arrangement with other acute 
providers in a number of clinical and non – clinical areas.   
 
The financial plan for 2014/15 is underpinned by contracted activity levels based on 
2013/14 forecast outturn  and anticipated growth and reductions in activity associated 
with CCG QIPP schemes.  The Trust’s main commissioner, Tameside CCG, will develop 
a number of QIPP schemes during the year to direct patients towards primary and 
community care services which are expected to reduce the Trust’s income by around 
£2m in the year.  This reduction in income is also reflected in our 2014/15 financial plans. 
 
The main risks faced by the Trust include the need to deliver savings of £6.1m to achieve 
its financial objectives, financial penalties which will be imposed under the contract with 
Commissioners for failure to meet performance and quality requirements and the need to 
achieve planned income of £2.8m from ‘Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation’  (CQuIN) projects that further improve patient experience and care.   
 
In addition to this the Trust will need to ensure it has robust systems of financial control to 
ensure that all areas manage within their financial budgets whilst maintaining a safe high 
quality service. As in 2013/14 there remains the risk that further external reviews could 
result in the necessity to increase expenditure without the financial resources to support 
it. Detailed cash management processes will also need to be in place to manage the 
limited cash balances the Trust will have available to it once it becomes reliant on PDC. 
The Board recognises the risks around its financial plans and has introduced a robust 
assurance process to ensure that all risks are well understood and managed and 
mitigated. 
 
Capital investments of £3.2m in a replacement Magnetic Resonance Imaging scanner, 
additional medical equipment and a IT investments and minor building schemes are 
planned in the year.     
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Capital Investment Activity 2013/14 
The Trust invested £2.51 million in the financial year 2013/14, The table below analyses 
the key capital investment by the Trust for the full financial year, with comparative data 
for previous years. The previous year’s capital expenditure is included to give a better 
overview of previous levels of investment and schemes.  
 

     
 

Valuation of Land and Buildings 
The Trust had reviewed its approach to the valuation of assets, and in 2008/09 adopted a 
Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) basis for the valuation, instead of the previous method 
of Depreciated Replacement Cost adopted by NHS Trusts.  The adoption of this 
approach was a requirement for all NHS and Foundation Trust organisations during 
2009/10.   
 
The Trust has undertaken a whole site re-valuation in 2013/14, to ensure that the 
valuation on the Statement of Financial Position (SoFP) is as up-to-date as possible and 
fully reflects current valuations.  The valuation in 2013/14 reflected an increase in the 
valuation of the site which has had the effect of reversing the previous years reduction in 
the valuation of the estate. 
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Future Investment Plans 
 
The Trust has undertaken a major hospital redevelopment project in conjunction with its 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) partner Consort Healthcare, as part of the Health 
Investment in Tameside (HIT) project.  This scheme has replaced old Victorian wards as 
well as providing new theatres and integrated support areas. 
 
The scheme involved a mixture of funding approaches.  The initial major enabling works 
in 2007/08 were funded using public capital, and this work provided a multi-storey car 
park, a new pathology department, and a training and education centre.  These schemes 
allowed the centre of the site to be freed up to enable the main new hospital build to take 
place.  The main hospital build was financed under the Government’s Private Finance 
Initiative which means that the private sector build the hospital using funds they have 
raised on the open market and once available for use the Trust pay an annual service 
charge.  The annual service charge in relation to the new clinical facilities  became 
payable in October 2010, when the new clinical facilities became operational. The final 
completion of the works occurred in August 2011.  The contract with Consort Healthcare 
will expire in August 2041.   
The Trust’s capital programme for 2014/15 is expected to be in the region of £3.2 million 
reflecting the completion of the new hospital building and associated work on the site. 
The main areas of expenditure in 2014/15 will be on medical equipment and IM&T 
schemes, with plans to purchase an MRI scanner. In addition the Trust will continue to 
invest in on-going general maintenance and improvement of the retained estate (i.e. the 
non-PFI buildings).  
 
Remuneration report 
The Remuneration Committee (see page 29 for details of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee) comprises of the Chairman and all of the Non-Executive 
Directors of the Trust.  The quorum for a meeting of the Remuneration Committee is four 
members.  The role of the Remuneration Committee is to advise the Board on the 
appropriate remuneration and terms and conditions of employment of the Chief Executive 
and Executive Directors of the Trust only.  In discharging this responsibility the 
Remuneration Committee comply with the annual guidance received from the 
Department of Health concerning pay increases for “very senior managers” i.e. Chief 
Executive and Directors. 
 
The Chief Executive and Executive Directors are all employed on permanent contracts of 
employment and are entitled to give and receive six months notice of termination of 
contract.  The Chairman and Non Executive Directors are appointed by the Council of 
Governors in line with the Trust’s Constitution, and the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  
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Under this they are appointed for a maximum three year contract, renewable at the 
discretion of the Council of Governors for an absolute maximum tenure of nine years. 
The Chairman and non-executive directors are entitled to resign by giving notice to the 
Council of governors. 
 
The following information shown in the tables (subject to audit) is in respect of the period 
1st April 2013 to the 31st March 2014. 
 
 
No performance related bonuses have been paid to any employees listed in the table 
below. The Trust does not operate a system of performance related bonus payments. 
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The median pay calculation is based on employees on the Trust payroll only, and 
represents the net salary costs of all individuals including basic pay, enhancements, 
acting up, additional duty payments, PA’s, banding supplements for doctors, CEA’s, 
maternity pay, arrears, overtime etc. The total pay has then been divided by the whole 
time equivalents paid in March to determine the full time equivalent salary cost, which 
has then been annulised. The median pay is based on the individual pay that was the 
median of all employees. In line with guidance the Chief Executive is excluded from the 
calculation. 



Page	  166	  of	  212	  	  

 

 

 

 

 

Karen James  
Interim Chief Executive    Date  29th May 2014 
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(above table represents audited information) 
 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension 
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The benefits valued are the 
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.  A 
CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in 
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to 
transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 
pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosures apply.  The 
CETV figures, and the other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in another 
scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They 
also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing 
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated within 
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 
 
Real increase in CETV – This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  
It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
 
 
Reporting related to the Review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector Appointees 
The tables below detail information relating to staff working at the Trust who are not 
engaged on the Trust’s payroll but are self employed, and as such are obliged to conform 
to National tax requirements. 
 

Table 1: : For off-payroll engagements  as of 31 March 2014, for more 
than £220 per day and that last for longer than six months  
  
No. of existing engagements as of 31 March 2014 0 
Of which :   
No. that have existed for less than one year at time of 
reporting 1 
No. that have existed for between one and two years at time of 
reporting: 

 0 
 

No. that have existed for between two and three years at time 
of reporting: 0 

No. that have existed for between three and four years at time 
of reporting: 0 
No. that have existed for four or more years at time of 
reporting. 0 
Total 0 
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Table 2 : For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached 
six months in duration, between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, for 
more than £220 per day and that last for longer than six months. 
  
No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 1 
No. of the above which include contractual clauses giving the 
Trust the right to request assurance in relation to income tax 
and National Insurance obligations 

 0 
 

No. for whom assurance has been requested 1 
Of which…..   
No. for whom assurance has been received 1 
No. for whom assurance has not been  received 0 

No. that have been terminated as a result of assurance not 
being received 0 

 

The Trust  currently has one employee engaged that meet either of the above two criteria. This 

was a new disclosure requirement in 2012/13, but there were no employees that met any of these 

criteria in the prior year. 

 

Table 3: For any off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 
 

No. of off payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year. 

3 (voting) 
 

No of individuals that have been deemed “board members and or 
senior officials with significant financial responsibility” during the 
financial year. This figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll 
engagements. 

5 (voting) 

 
The three off payroll Board engagements all relate to staff who are currently employees of 
University Hospitals South Manchester (UHSM) Trust, who are currently filling Board post at 
Tameside, but remain on UHSM’s payroll. 
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Auditor Assurance Report 
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF 
TAMESIDE  NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Tameside NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 
31 March 2014 which consist of the: Statement of Comprehensive Income; Statement of Financial 
Position; Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity; Statement of Cash Flows; and the Notes to 
the Accounts.  These financial statements have been prepared under applicable law and the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14.  
 
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of Tameside NHS Foundation Trust in 
accordance with Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006.  Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibi l i t ies of the accounting off icer and the auditor 
 
As described more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the accounting 
officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practice’s Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit  of the f inancial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by the accounting officer and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
In addition we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that 
is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit.  If we become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.   
 
Opinion on f inancial statements 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 
 give a true and fair view of the state of  the Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2014 and of its 

income and expenditure for the year then ended; and 
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 have been properly prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2013/14.  

 
 
Emphasis of matter regarding the Trust’s f inancial affairs 
 
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have considered the 
adequacy of the disclosures made in Note 1 to the Accounts concerning the ability of the Trust to 
meet its financial performance targets. 
 
The Trust incurred a normalised deficit of £3.6 million during the year ended 31 March 2014.  The 
Trust’s is planning to incur a £17.5 million deficit in 2014/15.  This plan requires the Trust to 
achieve £6.1 million cost savings and relies on £14.3 million of financial support from the 
Department of Health which has not yet been confirmed.  These, along with the other matters 
explained in Note 1 to the Accounts, indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may 
cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to meet its financial performance targets.  
 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit  Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 
 
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the 
financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We have nothing to report where under the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts we are 
required to report to you if, in our opinion, the Annual Governance Statement does not reflect the 
disclosure requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, is 
misleading or is not consistent with our knowledge of the Trust and other information of which we 
are aware from our audit of the financial statements.  
 
We are not required to assess, nor have we assessed, whether all risks and controls have been 
addressed by the Annual Governance Statement or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by 
internal controls. 

 
Other matters on which we report by exception 
 
Under Section 62(1) of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts, we have a duty to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
In March 2011, Monitor notified the Trust that it was in significant breach of its Terms of 
Authorisation and the Trust has been in breach of its licence with Monitor since April 2013.  
 
In August 2013, Monitor placed the Trust in special measures and invoked its powers under 
section 105 and 106 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  This was due to concerns about the 
poor quality of care provided to patients, underperformance against financial targets and 
weaknesses in board governance arrangements. 
 
As at 31 March 2014, the Trust remains subject to enforcement action and remains in special 
measures. 
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The Trust has taken positive steps to improve patient care and governance during the year as 
outlined in the Annual Report.  However, the Trust’s financial performance has deteriorated as a 
consequence of the investment required to remedy the issues identified.  As a result, the Trust 
has not been able to achieve its cost improvement target in 2013/14.  This means that the Trust’s 
cash position deteriorated in 2013/14 and the Trust will require significant additional funding in 
2014/15 to remain liquid. 
 
As a result of these matters, we are unable to satisfy ourselves that Tameside Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2014. 
 

 
Cert i f icate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Tameside NHS Foundation Trust 
in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor. 
 

 
 
Trevor Rees for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
 
Chartered Accountants                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
St James’ Square 
Manchester 
M2 6DS                                                                                                                                     
 
29 May 2014 
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Annual Accounts - Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - 2013/14

Trust name: Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
This year for the period 1st April 2013 to 31st March 2014
This year ended 31st March 2014
This year beginning 1st April 2013

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

These accounts for the period ended 31st March 2014 have been prepared by the Tameside Hospital NHS

Foundation Trust in accordance with Schedule 7, sections 24 and 25 of the National Health Services Act

2006, in the form which Monitor, the independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts, has directed.

Foreword to the accounts for the period 1st April 2013 to 31st March 2014
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2013/14 2012/13

NOTE £000 £000

Operating Income
Income from activities 3 145,472 147,707

Other income 4 20,993 12,447

Operating expenses 5 (161,419) (162,304)

Operating Surplus/(deficit) 5,046 (2,150)

Finance costs:
Finance income 8 59 78

Finance expenses - financial liabilities 8 (3,159) (3,078)

Finance expenses - unwinding of discount on provisions (9) (10)

PDC Dividends Payable (810) (1,102)

Net Finance Cost (3,919) (4,112)

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year* 1,127 (6,262)

Other comprehensive income and expenditure
Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses on property, plant and equipment (310) (6,736)

In Year Revaluation Gain 3,280 31

Total comprehensive income and expense for the year 4,097 (12,967)

The notes on pages 6 to 39 form part of these accounts.

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.

*The Normalised Surplus/(Deficit) for the year excluding exceptional items 2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year* 1,127 (6,262)

Exceptional Items
Impairment Reversal 4,908 650

Impairment (163) (7,591)

Restructure Cost 0 (832)

Total Exceptional Items 4,745 (7,773)

Normalised (Deficit)/Surplus for the Year (3,618) 1,511

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2014
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31 March 2014 31 March 
2013

NOTE £000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 9 0 0
Property, plant and equipment 10 106,195 100,866
Trade and other receivables 13 2,647 2,445
Total non-current assets 108,842 103,311
Current assets
Inventories 12 1,299 1,254
Trade and other receivables 13 6,370 4,405
Non-current assets held for sale 14 0 650
Cash and cash equivalents 15 4,586 12,555
Total current assets 12,255 18,864
Total assets 121,097 122,175
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 (19,461) (21,062)
Borrowings 17 (1,428) (1,386)
Other liabilities 18 (1,494) (3,940)
Provisions 22 (189) (261)
Net current (liabilities)/assets (10,317) (7,785)
Total assets less current liabilities 98,525 95,526
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 0 0
Borrowings 17 (57,440) (58,868)
Other liabilities 18 (698) (312)
Provisions 22 (638) (694)
Total assets employed 39,749 35,652

Financed by taxpayers' equity:
Public dividend capital SOCITE 53,168 53,168
Retained earnings SOCITE & 28 (32,765) (34,130)
Revaluation reserve SOCITE 19,346 16,614
Total Taxpayers' Equity 39,749 35,652

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2014

The financial statements on pages 2 to 38 were approved by the Board on 29 May 2014
and signed on its behalf by:
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Public dividend 
capital (PDC)

Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
reserve Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2012 53,168 (25,539) 23,409 51,038

Prior Period Adjustment 0 (2,419) 0 (2,419)

Taxpayer Equity at 1 April 2012 - Restated 53,168 (27,958) 23,409 48,619

Retained (deficit) for the year 0 (6,262) 0 (6,262)

Impairment losses in the year on property, plant and 
equipment 0 0 (6,736) (6,736)

Revaluation in year gain on property, plant and equipment 0 0 31 31

Asset Disposals 0 1 (1) 0

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the income and expenditure 
reserve

0 89 (89) 0

Balance at 31 March 2013 53,168 (34,130) 16,614 35,652

Balance at 1 April 2013 53,168 (34,130) 16,614 35,652

Retained Surplus for the year 0 1,127 0 1,127

Impairment losses in the year on property, plant and 
equipment 0 0 (310) (310)

Revaluation in year gain on property, plant and 
equipment 0 0 3,280 3,280

Asset Disposals 0 0 0 0

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation 
over historical cost depreciation to the income and 
expenditure reserve

0 238 (238) 0

Balance at 31 March 2014 53,168 (32,765) 19,346 39,749

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
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2013/14 2012/13

NOTE £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating surplus/(deficit) as detailed on the Statement of Comprehensive Income SOCI 5,046 (2,150)

Depreciation and amortisation 5 5,030 5,542

(Impairment reversals) and impairments 5 (4,745) 6,941

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of equipment 5 (298) 8

Non-cash donations/grants credited to income 4 (50) (150)

Dividends accrued and not paid or received 16 0 295

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories 12 (45) 93

(Increase) in trade and other receivables 13 (2,489) (643)

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables 16 (821) 2,477

Tax (paid) 16 0 (25)

(Decrease) in other current liabilities 18 (2,060) (533)

(Decrease) in provisions 22 (137) (452)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow (used in)/from operating activities (569) 11,403

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received SOCI 59 78

(Payments) to acquire property, plant and equipment 10 (3,416) (2,926)

Proceeds from disposal of plant, property and equipment 950 710

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (2,407) (2,138)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow before financing (2,976) 9,265

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest element of finance leases and Private Finance Initiative Obligation SOCI (3,159) (3,078)

Capital element of  Private Finance Initiative Obligations (1,386) (1,346)

Capital element of Finance Lease 0 (34)

PDC Dividend Paid as detailed on the Statement of Comprehensive Income SOCI (448) (1,397)

Net cash (outflow) from financing (4,993) (5,855)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (7,969) 3,410

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 12,555 9,145

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 15 4,586 12,555

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 March 2014
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2013/14 NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting
Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury's Annual Reporting Manual to the

extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts. The accounting policies have been applied

consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.  

1.1 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to account for the revaluation of
Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets at their value to the business by reference to their current costs.
NHS Foundation Trusts, in compliance with HM Treasury's Accounting Reporting Manual, are not required to disclose
earnings per share or historical profits and losses.

1.2 Acquisitions and discontinued operations

Activities are considered to be 'discontinued' where they meet all of the following conditions:

a. the sale (this may be at nil consideration for activities transferred to another public sector body) or termination is
completed either in the period or before the earlier of three months after the commencement of the subsequent period
and the date on which the financial statements are approved;

b. if a termination, the former activities have ceased permanently;

c. the sale or termination has a material effect on the nature and focus of the reporting NHS Foundation Trust's

operations and represents a material reduction in its operating facilities resulting either from its withdrawal from a

particular activity or from a material reduction in income in the NHS Foundation Trust's continuing operations; and

d. the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities are clearly distinguishable, physically, operationally and for

financial reporting purposes.

Operations not satisfying all these conditions are classified as continuing.

Activities are considered to be 'acquired' whether or not they are acquired from outside the public sector.

1.3 Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the NHS Foundation Trust's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates, and the estimates and underlying
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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1.3.1 Critical judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty in applying accounting policies

The following critical judgment and key sources of estimation uncertainty has been made in the process of applying the NHS
Foundation Trust's accounting polices.

1.4 Income

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is measured at the

fair value of the consideration receivable. For patients whose treatment straddles the year end, this means income is

apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay. The main source of income for the NHS Foundation Trust

is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided under local agreements, NHS Contracts.  

The NHS Foundation Trust estimates the month 12 patient related income based on an average cost for the activity delivered in
the month for each specialty, as fully coded Healthcare Resource Group (HRG) data is not available in time for the closure of the 
annual accounts.

Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in future financial years, that income is deferred.

Income from sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is measured

as the sums due under the sale contract.

The NHS Foundation Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme (CRU), designed to reclaim the cost

of treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The NHS

Foundation Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation 

Recovery Unit (CRU) that the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the

treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts.

〈 the NHS Foundation Trust closed the 2013/14 financial year with a normalised deficit and with a continuity of service risk rating
(CoSRR) of 1, and plans to deliver a financial deficit in 2014/15. Delivery of this plan is dependent on the delivery of a £6.1m cost
improvement programme (CIP). Non-delivery of the CIP may result in the NHS Foundation Trust running out of cash sooner than
currently anticipated in June 2014. The NHS Foundation Trust has prepared the accounts to 31 March 2014 on the basis that it will
remain a going concern.

〈   valuation of Plant, Property and Equipment and the lives selected.

〈 the NHS Foundation Trust has applied to Monitor for PDC funding of £14.3m in 2014/15, in order to support the planned deficit
and ensure the NHS Foundation Trust has sufficient cash to support the 2014/15 financial position and ensure the going concern
status. The NHS Foundation Trust would need to draw down the PDC in June 2014 based on its financial plans submitted to
Monitor.

〈 In order to comply with the final accounts timetable the NHS Foundation Trust has had to estimate the closing income position

based on activity numbers only for March 2014, this was due to no coded data being available for admitted patient care in the

timeframes available. Consequently, the final fully coded data may result in changes in the income position of the NHS Foundation

Trust.  The closing income will only be fully known by the 20th May 2014 with is the national freeze date for March data.
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1.5 Expenditure on Employee Benefits

1.6 Pension costs

1.7 Expenditure on other goods and Services

1.8

1.8.1

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from

employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in

the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable
under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a
defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions
payable to the scheme for the accounting period.  

Property, Plant and Equipment

Capitalisation

Property, Plant and Equipment are capitalised where:-

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, e.g. plant

and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own economic lives.

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have been received, and is measured at

the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the

creation of non-current assets such as property, plant and equipment.

- it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the NHS Foundation Trust;

- it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

- individually they have a cost of at least £5,000; 

- collectively they have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control;  or

- they form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.
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1.8.2

1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure

1.8.4 Depreciation

Valuation

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the carrying amount
of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to
replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably. Where a
component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The
carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic
benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the
period in which it is incurred.

Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual value on a

straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets held for sale.

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into operational use.

Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value over the estimated remaining life of the asset as advised 
by the District Valuer.  Leaseholds are depreciated over the primary lease term.

All land and buildings are stated at their revalued amount. Plant and equipment assets are stated at their depreciated
replacement costs. Upon initial recognition, all tangible assets are measured at cost (for leased assets, fair value) including any
costs such as installation directly attributable to bringing them into working condition. The carrying values of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable.  

Valuations are normally carried out on the basis of depreciated replacement cost at the Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) valuation 

for specialised operational property, this is in accordance with the requirements of RICSAppraisal and Valuation Manual. The

Modern Equivalent Asset valuation is the cost of replacing an existing building at current cost, using modern building equipment,

structures and technology. Non-Specialised operational property is valued at existing use. This is in line with Department of

Health guidance. The value of land for existing use purposes is assessed at existing use value. For non-operational properties

including surplus land, the valuations are carried out at open market value. 

Properties in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of the five and three-
yearly valuation or, for new buildings, when they are brought into use.

During 2013/14, the NHS Foundation Trust had a full site valuation as at 31st March 2014. The NHS Foundation Trust would
have a valuation for any new buildings when they are brought into use.

All land and buildings are revalued using professional valuations in accordance with IAS16 at least every five years. A three

yearly interim valuation is also carried out, as a minimum. The NHS Foundation Trust may also consider additional valuations

due to significant changes in external environmental factors. Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in

accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisals and Valuation Manual.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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Category
Number of Years 
Maximum Useful 

Economic Life
Category

Number of Years 
Maximum Useful 

Economic Life

BUILDING ELEMENTS 60 SHORT LIFE MEDICAL EQUIPUIPMENT 5
ENGINEERING INSTALLATIONS 25 MEDIUM LIFE MEDICAL EQUIPUIPMENT 10
DWELLINGS 60 LONG LIFE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT 15
OTHER ENGINEERING PLANT & EQUIPMENT 15 MAINFRAME IT 7
VEHICLES 7 CAPITALISED REVENUE 10
FURNITURE & FITTINGS 10 IT EQUIPMENT 5
OFFICE EQUIPMENT 5

1.8.5 Revaluation and impairments

Revaluations

Impairments 

1.8.6 De-recognition

The Useful Economic Life (UEL) of any asset will be a minimum of 5 years when it is added to the NHS Foundation Trust'sAsset Register. The maximum life that an

asset is expected to have is detailed below, identified by the different categories. The NHS Foundation Trust, assesses the asset individually to reflect the correct UEL

when adding the asset to the NHS Foundation Trust's Asset Register, and reviews this and the residual value at the year-end.

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to
operating expenses

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of “other comprehensive income”.

In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A
compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to
operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is

reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never

been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the

revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.

o an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;

o the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;

o the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Non Current Assets Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met: 

〈          the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and customary for such sales;

〈          the sale must be highly probable i.e.:

o management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;
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Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value less costs to 

sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below 

the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead 
is retained as an operational asset, the asset is impaired and the economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when 
scrapping or demolition occurs.

1.8.7 Donated and other grant funded assets

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The donation/grant is 
credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in the 
grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is 
carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant and
equipment.

1.8.8 Revenue government and other grants

Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care trusts or NHS trusts for the provision of 
services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that 
expenditure.

1.8.9 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions

PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 - Service Concessions Arrangements,  definition of a service concession, as interpreted in 
HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the NHS Foundation Trust. 
The underlying assets are recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment at their fair value as determined in the operators' model. An 
equivalent financial liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 17 - Leases.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the charges for services. 
The finance cost is calculated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme.

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. In accordance with 
IAS 17 - Leases,  this amount is not included in the minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as contingent rent and is 
expensed as incurred. In substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of the liability and the expense is presented as a 
contingent finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised where they meet the 
NHS Foundation Trust’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator and are 
measured initially at their fair value.  

The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of the contract from 
the operators' planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than expected, 
a short-term finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively. 
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1.8.10

Finance Leases

1.9

1.9.1 Recognition

〈  it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to the NHS Foundation Trust;

〈  the cost of the asset can be measured reliably;

〈  the cost is at least £5,000; and

〈  the NHS Foundation Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The asset is recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are
recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding
liability.

The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost. The annual finance cost is
calculated by applying the implicit interest to the outstanding liability and is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Operating Leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease
incentives are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.

Contingent Rentals

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Leases for Land and Buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated. Leased land is treated as an
operating lease.  Leased buildings are assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases. 

The Trust as Lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the
NHS Foundation Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  They are recognised only when:- 
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1.9.2 Software

1.9.3 Measurement

1.9.4 Amortisation

1.9.5

1.10

1.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without any penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.

Interest earned on bank accounts is recorded as interest receivable in the periods to which they relate. The balances exclude

monies held in the bank accounts belonging to patients (see "third party assets - note 1.17").

Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 95 days or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. Interest earned on the investments is recorded as interest
receivable. The NHS Foundation Trust has a Treasury Management Policy. Due to the changes in the calculation for the PDC.
The NHS Foundation is only depositing with HM Treasury in the National Loans Fund.  

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of
property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised
as an intangible asset.

Other stock - Lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in first out basis.

Management review the inventories and make appropriate provision for old and obsolete items on a regular basis.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and prepare
the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Valuation

All Intangible Assets are stated at their valuation amount, which is reviewed by management on an annual basis.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at:-. 

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in
the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating
expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to
operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income as an item of ‘Other Comprehensive Income’.

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of
economic or service delivery benefits.

Pharmacy Stock -  Weighted Average Cost.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.
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1.12 Provisions

Clinical negligence costs

Non-clinical risk pooling

1.13

1.14 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC Dividend

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NHS Foundation Trust, or a present
obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably.  

Contingent Liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 22, unless the probability of a transfer of economic benefits is
remote.

Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of
establishment of the original NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning
of IAS 32.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS foundation trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The

charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the NHS foundation

trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except

for (i) donated assets (including lottery funded assets), (ii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking

Services (GBS) and National Loans Fund (NLF) deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-

term working capital facility, (iii) for 2013/14 only, net assets and liabilities transferred from bodies which ceased to exist on 1 April

2013, and (iv) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. In accordance with the requirements laid down by the

Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as

set out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net

assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts.

The NHS Foundation Trust provides for legal and constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the Statement
of Financial Position date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. Provisions are
recognised where is it probable that there will be a future outflow of costs or other resource and reliable estimate can be made of
the amount. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted
using the HM Treasury's discount rate of 1.8% in real terms. 

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the NHS Foundation Trust, however all clinical
negligence claims are recognised in the accounts of the NHSLA. Consequently, the NHS Foundation Trust has no provision for
the clinical negligence claims. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the NHS
Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 22. The provision represents the NHS Foundation Trust's liability in relation to excesses
payable for claims incurred at the year end.

Contingencies

The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are

risk pooling schemes under which the NHS Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in

return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any 'excesses' payable in

respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
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1.15 Value Added Tax

1.16 Corporation Tax

1.17 Third Party Assets

1.18 Losses and Special Payments

1.19 Financial Instruments

Recognition 

Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on

purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase

cost of fixed assets.  Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

The NHS Foundation Trust is a Health Service Body with the meaning of s519A ICTA 1988 and accordingly is exempt from taxation in
respect of income and capital gains with categories covered by this.  There is power for the Treasury to dis-apply the exemption in relation to 
specified activities of a Foundation Trust (s519A (3) to (8) ICTA 1988). Accordingly, the NHS Foundation Trust is potentially within scope of
corporation tax in respect of activities which are not related to, or ancillary to, the provision of healthcare, and where the profits exceed
£50,000 per annum.

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the NHS Foundation
Trust has no beneficial interest in them.  Details of third party assets are given in note 25 to the accounts.

Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accruals
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Foundation Trusts not been bearing their own
risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).  

Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed

legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared

with the generality of payments.  They are divided into different categories, which govern the way each individual case is handled.

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or

services), which are entered into in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust's normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are

recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made. Trade

receivables are recognised as Financial Assets, after making any provision for impairment that is deemed appropriate after reviewing the

specific nature and circumstances relating to each receivable balance. Trade Receivables are reviewed for impairment on an ongoing basis

with particular focus on Trade Receivables which are greater than three months old.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are recognised and measured in
accordance with the accounting policy as described in note 1.8.9.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the NHS Foundation Trust becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
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De-recognition

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and Measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as 'Fair value through Income and Expenditure' or as 'Other financial liabilities'.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 'Fair Value through Income and Expenditure'

Loans and receivables

Available-for-sale financial assets

Other financial liabilities

All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured subsequently at

amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future

cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount

of the financial liability.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position
date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged to Finance
Costs.

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the NHS Foundation
Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’, 'Loans and receivables' or 'Available for Sale'
financial assets. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 'fair value through income and expenditure' are financial assets or financial liabilities
held for trading. The NHS Foundation Trust does not hold any of this particular class.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets.

The NHS Foundation Trust's loans and receivables comprise: Cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income

and 'other receivables'.

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

The NHS Foundation Trust recognises assets as Available for Sale when the NHS Foundation Trust has made a strategic

decision to sell a Financial Assets.  
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Determination of fair value

Impairment of financial assets

1.20

The NHS Foundation Trust does not currently have any subsidiaries.

1.21  Accounting Standards which have been issued but which have not yet been adopted

The Treasury Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards to be applied in 2013/14:

IAS 1  Presentation of financial statements (Other Comprehensive Income) - subject to consultation

IAS 12  Income Taxes (amendment) – effective 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IAS 27  Separate Financial Statements  - subject to consultation

IAS 28  Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - subject to consultation

IFRS 9  Financial Instruments - subject to consultation

IFRS 10  Consolidated Financial Statements  - subject to consultation

IFRS 11  Joint Arrangements  - subject to consultation

IFRS 12  Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities  - subject to consultation

IFRS 13  Fair Value Measurement - subject to consultation

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts of the NHS Foundation Trust for 2013/14, were they

applied in that year.

For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are determined by reference to quoted market prices,
independent appraisals or discounted cash flow analysis.

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the NHS Foundation Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at 'fair
value through income and expenditure' are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying

amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised

in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly.

Subsidiaries

For 2013/14, the NHS Foundation Trust has not consolidated it's Charitable Funds,as these were not material.

IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures (annual improvements)  - effective 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU
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2 Operating segments

Elective Services
Emergency Services
Women & Children's Services
Other Services

Detailed below is the split for the various segments:-

Elective 
Services 
Segment

Emergency 
Services 
Segment

Women and 
Children's 
Services 
Segment

Other 
Services 
Segment

Total 
2013/14

Elective 
Services 
Segment

Emergency 
Services 
Segment

Women and 
Children's 
Services 
Segment

Other 
Services 
Segment

Total 
2012/13

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Clinical Income 40,334 61,550 22,693 20,895 145,472 42,422 60,734 23,398 21,153 147,707

Non-Clinical Income 1,156 1,476 849 17,512 20,993 1,175 1,433 770 9,069 12,447

Total Income 41,490 63,026 23,542 38,407 166,465 43,597 62,167 24,168 30,222 160,154

Pay Expenditure (25,215) (37,404) (15,959) (28,056) (106,634) (24,335) (34,936) (15,902) (25,710) (100,883)

Non Pay Expenditure (7,130) (4,787) (1,191) (41,677) (54,785) (7,166) (4,215) (1,254) (48,786) (61,421)

Total Expenditure (32,345) (42,191) (17,150) (69,733) (161,419) (31,501) (39,151) (17,156) (74,496) (162,304)

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 9,145 20,835 6,392 (31,326) 5,046 12,096 23,016 7,012 (44,274) (2,150)

Finance Cost:-

Finance Income 0 0 0 59 59 0 0 0 78 78

Finance Expenses - financial liabilities 0 0 0 (3,159) (3,159) 0 0 0 (3,078) (3,078)

Finance Expenses - Unwinding of 
discount on provisions 0 0 0 (9) (9) 0 0 0 (10) (10)

PDC Dividends Payable 0 0 0 (810) (810) 0 0 0 (1,102) (1,102)

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 9,145 20,835 6,392 (35,245) 1,127 12,096 23,016 7,012 (48,386) (6,262)

Non-disclosure of assets by segment

The NHS Foundation Trust does not report total assets attributable to each operating segment to the Board, and has chosen to early adopt for 2011/12 the amendment to IFRS 8 set

out in the IASB's  'Improvements to IFRS' issued in April 2009.  Consequently, total assets attributable to each operating segment are not disclosed.

The NHS Foundation Trust considers the Board to be the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) because it regularly reviews operating results, makes decisions about where

resources are allocated as a result and assesses performance.

Income and Expenditure arises from the following segments, the NHS Foundation Trust reports monthly to the Board on a distinct and separate basis and therefore they have been
disclosed separately in the financial statements:-

Current Period 2013/14 Prior Period 2012/13

Note: Other Services Segment includes all the overhead cost of running the NHS Foundation Trust, such as estate costs, PFI charges, support services such as Pathology, Xray etc
and other services such as Catering, Laundry and Pharmacy. These are just examples for information, but all these services are required to support the segments which directly
generate the income from direct patient care.

The NHS Foundation Trust provides the service of NHS Healthcare to the general public the majority of whom are based in England and the above detailed segments are the key
operational segments that the NHS Foundation Trust uses to make management decisions.

Each month the NHS Foundation Trust reports to the Trust Board, Operating Income and Expenditure split between Clinical Income and Non Clinical Income, Pay Expenditure and

Non Pay Expenditure.  The NHS Foundation Trust also reports Non Operating Income and Expenditure including Exceptional items.

The majority of the Clinical Income is received from Tameside & Glossop CCG, which generated income amounting to 76% of the NHS Foundation Trust's total income. This
customer generated clinical income of £121,834m which is included in the segments detailed below.  
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3  Income From Activities

3.1 Income by Classification
2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000 
Commissioner Requested Services
Elective income 22,432 22,380
Non elective income 47,641 49,536
Outpatient income 26,542 30,622
A & E income 8,392 8,385
Other NHS clinical income 39,424 35,699
Non-Commissioner Requested Services
Private patient income 15 16
Other Non-Commissioner Requested Services:-
Overseas Visitors Non-Reciprocal 16 52
Compensation Recovery Unit 988 946
Prescription Income 22 21
Other 0 50

TOTAL 145,472 147,707

3.2 Income by Source 2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000

Foundation trusts 52 31
Primary care trusts 0 146,570
CCG and NHS England 144,364 0
NHS other 15 21
Non-NHS: 
>Private patients 15 16
>Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 16 52
>Compensation Recovery Unit 988 946
>Other 22 71

145,472 147,707
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4. Other Income 2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000

Research and development 258 180
Education, training and research 3,823 3,778
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 115 137
Grant Income received from NHS Charitable Funds (receipt of donated assets) 50 150
Grant Income received from other bodies 0 125
Non-patient care services to other bodies 6,506 5,321
Income generation (see note 4.1 for breakdown) 2,930 2,050
Private Finance Initiative Transitional Income * 2,035 0
Profit on Disposal of Non Current Assets Held for Sale 298 0
Rental Revenue from Operating Leases - minimum lease receipts 70 56
Reversal of Impairments of property, plant and equipment 4,908 650

20,993 12,447

4.1.  Revenue - Income Generation 2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000

Car Parking 1,084 967
Staff Accommodation rentals 64 64
Catering 342 372
Property Rentals 10 13
Other 1,430 634

2,930 2,050

5. Operating Expenses 2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000

Services from Foundation Trusts 2,627 2,314
Services from other NHS Trusts 11 223
Services from other NHS bodies 207 328
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 717 944
Executive Directors' costs 954 707
Non Executive Directors' costs 103 103
Staff costs 105,577 100,073
Drug Costs 7,303 6,865
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs) 12,664 12,313
Supplies and services - general 5,372 5,397
Establishment 1,073 956
Transport 625 384
Premises 10,861 10,333
(Decrease)/increase Bad debt provision (128) 113
Change in provisions discount rate 32 0
Rentals under Operating Leases - minimum lease payments 113 138
Depreciation 5,030 5,542
Impairments of property, plant and equipment 163 7,591
Audit Services - Statutory Audit fees* 74 66
Other auditor's remuneration:-
- Internal audit services 88 99
- Other Assurance Services 0 6
Clinical negligence 5,012 4,603
Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 0 8
Legal Fees 351 435
Consultancy 1,728 1,219
Redundancy (351) 799
Patient travel 6 7
Training 295 329
Losses 84 52
Hospitality 2 9
Insurance 247 225
Other 579 123

161,419 162,304

* The NHS Foundation Trust has received income for transitional costs. The transitional costs relates to the extra costs incurred by the NHS Foundation Trust to
manage the Private Finance Initiative (PFI) contract during construction and commissioning,  to enable it to move to the new PFI hospital which opened in October
2010 and the decommissioning of the vacated buildings in preparation for demolition. The Annual Accounts for 2013/14 is showing £2m transitional income
(2012/13, Nil) for the NHS Foundation Trust.

* The External Auditors Liability is limited to £1m. The scope of work for the External Auditors is to provide a Statutory Audit to the NHS Foundation Trust. This will

be conducted in accordance with the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts (the Audit Code) issued by Monitor in accordance with paragraph 24 of schedule 7 of

the Act. The scope of the work is for the External Auditors to be satisfied that the NHS Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy,

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The External Auditors are to provide their opinion on the financial statements.
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6. Operating leases

6.1 As lessee

The NHS Foundation Trust has 13 operating leases as detailed below:-

Company
Lease 

Commence 
Date

Lease Expiry 
Date Lease Description

Bank of Scotland 01/03/2008 28/02/2023 Bed Hire
Beckman Coulter 01/05/2008 30/04/2013 Haematology Analysers LH750 - Reagent Rental Replaced by LH780
Canon 01/09/2008 30/09/2013 Canon Printer DCF11557
ING Lease UK 01/10/2008 01/10/2013 Coffee Machine
Trailer 01/10/2008 30/09/2013 Delivers Meal Trolleys around site
Honda 14/05/2010 14/05/2013 3 x vehicles for in house taxi service
Automotive leasing 21/11/2011 20/11/2014 Renault 3.5T tail lift BX61 GFU
Automotive leasing 01/02/2012 30/01/2015 Kia Sportage MW61 XWO
Honda 05/03/2013 04/03/2015 Honda Jazz Hatchback - MK62 LVU
Honda 05/03/2013 04/03/2015 Honda Jazz Hatchback -  MK62 NHB
Honda 05/03/2013 04/03/2015 Honda Jazz Hatchback - MK62 MZD
Siemens Financial Services 01/08/2013 31/07/2016 Bolero XL423 Coffee Machine
Automotive leasing 01/003/2014 28/03/2017 Ford Connect - MK14 VCE

Payments recognised as an expense 2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000

Lease payments 113 138
113 138

Total future minimum lease payments 2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000

Payable:
Not later than one year 104 103
Between one and five years 437 457
After 5 years 236 321
Total 777 881

6.2  As lessor

The NHS Foundation Trust has five lessors as detailed below:-

Company
Lease 

Commence 
Date

Lease Expiry 
Date Lease Description

T Mobile 20/07/1995 20/07/2015 Roof Space for Radio Mast

BT plc 29/05/2001 29/05/2016 Roof Space for Radio Mast

Gentian 01/06/1998 31/05/2023 Hartshead Shopping Mall

Gentian 09/07/2011 31/05/2023 Café and Retail Units Hartshead South

O2 01/11/2012 31/10/2015 Roof Space for Radio Mast

Total future minimum lessor payments 2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000

Receivable:
Not later than one year 70 56
Between one and five years 163 169
After 5 years 530 587
Total 763 812

The NHS Foundation does not receive any contingent rents from any of the above lessors.  Detailed below are the future minimum payments expected from the 
lessors
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7. Employee costs and numbers

7.1 Employee costs

Permanently 
Employed Other Total Permanently 

Employed Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 76,380 15,722 92,102 74,572 12,074 86,646
Social Security Costs 6,087 0 6,087 6,050 0 6,050
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 8,342 0 8,342 8,084 0 8,084
Total Gross Staff Cost 90,809 15,722 106,531 88,706 12,074 100,780

* Redundancy cost/Exit Packages see note 7.2 122 0 122 837 0 837

The above note excludes the employee cost of the non executive directors.

Other Cost includes 
Included in the above table is the Executive Directors' cost as detailed below:-

2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000

Executive Directors' Remuneration 835 568
Executive Directors' Social Security Costs 57 68
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme in 
respect of Executive Directors 62 71

Total Executive Directors' Cost as per note 5 954 707
The highest paid Executive Directors' remuneration 212 147
Number of Directors to whom benefits are accruing under 
Defined benefit scheme 8 7 `

7.2 Exit Packages - other departures analysis

Analysis of Exit Packages

Cost Range
Number of Other 

Departures 
Number

Other 
Departures 

Number     £000

Number of Other 
Departures 

Number

Other Departures 
Number     £000

Less than £10k 14 34 27 100
£10,000 to £50,000 1 14 11 175
£50,00 to £100,000 1 74 2 150

£100,00 to £150,000 0 0 4 412

16 122 44 837

Details of Exit Packages Number of 
Agreements

Total Value of 
Agreements

Number of 
Agreements

Total Value of 
Agreements

£'000 £'000
Voluntary redundancies including early retirement 

contractual costs 0 0 4 401
Mutally agreed resignations (MARS) 0 0 22 398

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 16 122 18 38
Total 16 122 44 837

2013/14

2013/14 2012/13

Full details of Directors' remuneration and other benefits are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust's Remuneration Report on page 162 of the Annual Report.

2013/14 2012/13

2012/13
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7.3 Average number of people employed

Permanently 
Employed Other Total Permanently 

Employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Medical and dental 271 53 324 274 43 317
Administration and estates * 499 60 559 480 35 515
Healthcare assistants and other support staff 103 1 104 106 0 106
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 990 189 1,179 952 145 1,097
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 285 6 291 276 1 277
Total 2,148 309 2,457 2,088 224 2,312

7.4 Employee  and Retirement Benefits

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

Note: In 2012/13 The NHS Foundation Trust started implementing a new patient administration system and has employed Administrative staff to support the implementation.

The implementation costs have continued throughout 2013/14.

2013/14 2012/13

The NHS Foundation Trust offers Retirement Benefits to its employees from the NHS Pension Scheme.  The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme.

The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS Bodies to identify their share of the underlying assets and liabilities.

The next formal valuation to be used for funding purposes will be carried out as at March 2012 and will be used to inform the contribution rates to be used from 1
April 2015.

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by
the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year
of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual
pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

c) Scheme provisions

The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years. The latest valuation identified that the scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3bn against the
notional assets at 31 March 2004.  The NHS Foundation Trust pays contributions to the scheme  at 14% of the employees' pensionable pay. 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal
actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these
follows:

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous
accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial date for the current reporting period and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial
reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 march 2014, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2013, updated to 31 March 2014 with summary global
member ad accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed is IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed
by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales)

Pension Accounts, published annually.  These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website.  Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to
recommend the contribution rates. 

a) Accounting valuation

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation
would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008. However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public serve schemes were suspended by HM Treasury on value
for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while future scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public
service pension provisions due in 2015.

The scheme Regulations were changed to allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the
advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
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7.5 Retirements due to ill-health

2013/14 2012/13
Finance Cost £000 £000
Interest on obligations under Finance Leases 0 2
Interest on obligations for Private Finance Initiative 2,495 2,551
PFI Contingent Rent 664 525

3,159 3,078

9. Intangible assets

2013/14 Computer Software Computer 
Software

£000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2013 4,209 Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2012 4,209
At 31 March 2014 4,209 At 31 March 2013 4,209

Depreciation at 1 April 2013 4,209 Depreciation at 1 April 2012 4,209
Charged during the year 0 Charged during the year 0
Depreciation at 31 March 2014 4,209 Depreciation at 31 March 2013 4,209

Net book value Net book value 
Finance Leased 0 Finance Leased 0

Total at 31 March 2014 0 Total at 31 March 2013 0

Prior Year 2012/13

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC
rules. This new provision is known as “pension commutation”.

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending

30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) will be used to replace the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or

infirmity.  A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is

charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing
Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

During the financial year 2013/14, there was 1 (2012/13, 4) early retirements from the NHS Foundation Trust on the grounds of ill-health. The estimated additional pension
liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £8,792 (2012/13, £376,119). The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority -
Pensions Division.

The NHS Foundation Trust received £59,000 (2012/13, £78,000) from cash deposited with HM Treasury, and the Government Banking Service provided by Citi Bank. The NHS
Foundation Trust incurrend finance costs, as detailed below:-

8. Investment Revenue and Finance Cost
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10. Property, plant and equipment

2013/14: Land 
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture & 
fittings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 - as previously stated 15,318 116,209 392 1,562 18,000 178 8,079 128 159,866
Prior Period Adjust to clear Historic Accumulated Depreciation following 
Revaluation (40,165) (40,165)

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 - restated 15,318 76,044 392 1,562 18,000 178 8,079 128 119,701

Additions purchased 0 0 0 1,821 629 0 56 0 2,506
Additions donated 0 0 0 0 140 0 0 0 140
Reclassifications 0 1,770 0 (3,197) 620 0 795 12 0
Impairments charged to the Revaluation Reserve (150) (154) (6) 0 0 0 0 0 (310)
Revaluation 0 5,462 5 0 0 0 0 0 5,467
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,309) (10) (609) (12) (1,940)
At 31 March 2014 15,168 83,122 391 186 18,080 168 8,321 128 125,564

Accumulated Depreciation at 1 April 2013 - as previously stated 0 40,165 0 0 13,271 116 5,370 78 59,000
Prior Period Adjust to clear Historic Accumulated Depreciation following 
Revaluation (40,165) (40,165)

Accumated Depreciation at 1 April 2013 - restated 0 0 0 0 13,271 116 5,370 78 18,835

Charged during the year 0 2,516 42 0 1,309 20 1,132 11 5,030
Impairments charged to operating expenses 0 163 0 0 0 0 0 0 163
Reversal of Impairments credited to operating income 0 (4,908) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,908)
Revaluation 2,229 (42) 2,187
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,307) (10) (609) (12) (1,938)
Depreciation at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 13,273 126 5,893 77 19,369

Net book value 
Purchased 15,168 46,113 391 186 4,048 42 2,424 51 68,423
Donated 0 211 0 0 759 0 4 0 974
Finance Leased - Please see note 10.2 for full analysis 0 36,798 0 0 0 0 0 0 36,798
Total at 31 March 2014 15,168 83,122 391 186 4,807 42 2,428 51 106,195

Minimum Remaining Life Years 0 9 48 0 0 0 0 1
Maximum Remaining Life Years 0 75 49 0 15 4 5 7

10.1 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease

Note 10 includes Tangible Fixed Assets which have been purchased via 
a Finance Lease as detailed in this note

Land 
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 0 33,992 0 0 266 9 0 0 34,267
Accumulated Depreciation at 1 April 2013 0 0 0 0 266 8 0 0 274
Depreciation Charged in the Period 0 787 0 0 0 1 0 0 788
Reversal impairment credited to I&E 0 3,593 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,593
Net Book value as at 31 March 2014 0 36,798 0 0 0 0 0 0 36,798
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Prior Year

2012/13: Land 
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture & 
fittings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 - as previously stated 15,317 118,848 392 333 18,457 171 7,342 128 160,988
Prior Period Adjustment - PFI Adjustment 3,935 3,935
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 - restated 15,317 122,783 392 333 18,457 171 7,342 128 164,923
Additions purchased 0 0 0 2,827 641 7 30 0 3,505
Additions donated 0 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 150
Reclassifications 0 812 0 (1,598) 0 0 786 0 0
Impairments 0 (6,736) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (6,736)
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,248) 0 (79) 0 (1,327)
Revaluation  Surplus 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Transferred to asset held for sale 0 (650) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (650)
At 31 March 2013 15,318 116,209 392 1,562 18,000 178 8,079 128 159,866

Accumulated Depreciation 1 April 2012 - as previously stated 0 26,354 6 0 13,058 101 4,348 65 43,932
Prior Period Adjustment - PFI Adjustment 3,935 3,935
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 - restated 0 30,289 6 0 13,058 101 4,348 65 47,867
Charged during the year 0 2,935 24 0 1,454 15 1,101 13 5,542
Revaluation  Surplus 0 0 (30) 0 0 0 0 0 (30)
Impairments 0 7,591 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,591
Reversal of Impairment 0 (650) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (650)
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,241) 0 (79) 0 (1,320)
Depreciation at 31 March 2013 0 40,165 0 0 13,271 116 5,370 78 59,000
Net Book value
Purchased 15,318 41,853 392 1,562 3,956 61 2,702 50 65,894
Donated 0 199 0 0 773 0 7 0 979
Finance Leased - Please see note 10.2 for full analysis 0 33,992 0 0 0 1 0 0 33,993
Total at 31 March 2013 15,318 76,044 392 1,562 4,729 62 2,709 50 100,866

Minimum Remaining Life Years 0 0 51 0 0 0 0 2
Maximum Remaining Life Years 0 73 51 0 15 5 5 8

10.1 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease

Note 10 includes Tangible Fixed Assets which have been 
purchased via a Finance Lease as detailed in this note

Land 
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 0 41,245 0 0 266 9 0 0 41,520
Accumulated Depreciation at 1 April 2012 0 240 0 0 238 6 0 0 484
Depreciation Charged in the Period 0 963 0 0 28 2 0 0 993
Impairments recognised in operating expenses 6,050 0 6,050
Net Book value as at 31 March 2013 0 33,992 0 0 0 1 0 0 33,993
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10. Property, plant and equipment

11. COMMITMENTS

11.1. Capital Commitments

11.2 Financial Commitments

01.4.14 - 
31.3.15

1.4.15 - 
31.3.19

 1.4.19 
onward

1 yr 2-5yr >5 yr Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Draeger	  Medical	  (UK)	  Ltd
Oxylog	  3000	  &	  Ven;lators	  -‐	  Maintenance	  

Contract
01/04/2011 31/03/2016 13 13 0 26

Healthline	  Medical
Pulp	  Prodcts	  excluding	  Male	  Urinal	  and	  

bedpans
01/02/2014 31/01/2017 71 130 201

Huntleigh	  Healthcare
Maintenance	  of	  Bed	  Frames,	  Matresses	  &	  

Associated	  Equipment
11/09/2007 10/09/2015 140 58 0 198

KPMG External	  Audit 01/11/2011 31/10/2016 68 177 0 245

Leaseguard Various	  Maintenance	  Agreements 05/11/2009 01/03/2021 216 210 50 476

Mersey	  Internal	  Audit	  Agency Internal	  Audit 01/06/2013 31/05/2016 62 72 135

Mi;e Domes;c	  &	  Portering 01/07/2011 31/07/2016 3,057 4,076 0 7,133

NHS	  Professionals	  * NHSP	  Nursing	  Bank 01/11/2011 31/10/2014 3,226 0 3,226

Novacor	  (UK)	  Ltd
24hr	  ECG	  Recorder	  x	  11	  -‐	  Maintenance	  

Contract
31/03/2012 30/03/2015 16 0 0 16

Penlon	  Ltd
Anaesthesia	  Units	  Oxygen	  Monitors	  &	  

Ven;lators	  x	  41	  items	  -‐	  Maintenance	  Contract
01/10/2012 30/09/2015 28 14 0 42

Philips	  Healthcare
Intera	  1.5T	  Nova	  MRI	  Easyvision	  Medrad	  

Injector	  	  -‐	  Maintenance	  Contract
01/04/2010 31/03/2015 74 0 0 74

Philips	  Healthcare
2x	  Digital	  Diagnos;c	  VM	  x-‐Ray	  (GB101203-‐014-‐
002	  &	  GB101203-‐013-‐022)	  X	  Ray	  3	  Room	  4	  -‐	  

Maintenance	  Contract
01/04/2011 31/03/2016 40 40 80

Philips	  Medical	  System
BV	  Libra	  9	  Bucky	  TH	  MD	  Eleva	  &	  Pulsera	  -‐	  

Maintenance	  Contract
01/04/2010 31/03/2015 43 0 0 43

Puricore Endoscope	  Equipment	  Maintenance	  Contract 01/01/2014 31/12/2016 51 38 89

Specialist	  Computer	  Centre e-‐Rostering	  -‐	  Allocated	  Sobware 30/03/2012 29/03/2017 15 30 0 45

SRCL Clinical	  &	  Domes;c	  Waste 01/06/2014 31/05/2017 98 246 0 344

Sunlight Laundry 01/04/2008 31/03/2015 452 0 0 452

Synergy Sterile	  Services 21/06/2011 01/06/2018 894 1,863 2,757

Synergy Sharps	  Containers 24/02/2014 23/02/2017 30 58 88

Viglen	  Storage	  Group SAN	  Maintenance 19/03/2012 18/03/2017 24 576 0 600

7,670 5,105 50 12,825

*	  NB	  the	  values	  rela;ng	  to	  NHS	  professional	  are	  variable	  depending	  on	  usage

Company

The NHS Foundation Trust has financial commitments as detailed in the table below. These commitments relate to non-cancellable contracts with companies, which have not
been identified and included in the notes relating to operating or finance leases. The NHS Foundation Trust has a financial commitment to make payments for the remainder
of the contract.

During 2013/14, the Trust received an upward valuation for the value of the Land and Buildings, of approximately 8%. This resulted in a impairment reversal to income of
£4.9m an inmpairment charge to expenditure of £0.2m and an increase of the Revaluation Reserve of £3m, giving an increase of the Land and Buildings of £7.7m. The

upward valuation was due to an increasel in the general BCIS Tender Price Index since the last valuation on the 31st March 2013, along with a shift in BCIS Location Factors.

This increase has also resulted in an increase of the remaining life of the buildings.

The NHS Foundation Trust had a valuation of the land and buildings on 31st March 2014. This valuation has been undertaken by the District Valuer. The valuation has been
undertaken having regard to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in accordance with the HM Treasury guidance, International Valuation Standards and the
requirements of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  

The valuation of each property is at a fair value following the Modern Equivalent Asset  (MEA) valuation and the valuation for land is at an Existing Use Valuation (EUV).

The NHS Foundation Trust has £45k capital commitments as at the 31st March 2014 (2012/3/12, NIL).

Contract	  start	  
date

Contract	  end	  
dated

Service

The NHS Foundation Trust has spent £2.6m on capital additions during 2013/14. This has been split between Estates and Estates Maintenance Schemes £1.1m, IT Schemes
£0.7m and Medical Equipment £0.8m. This spend includes £232k refurbishing the Neo Natal Unit, £372k Electronic Casenote Tracking System, £182k Food Trolleys and
£250k CT Scanner.
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12. Inventories

31 March 2014 31 March 2013
£000 £000

Drugs 445 331
Consumables 779 845
Energy - Oil 75 78
Total 1,299 1,254
Inventories recognised in expenses 9,283 8,642
Write-down of inventories recognised as an expense 41 16
Total Inventories recognised in expenses 9,324 8,658

13. Trade and other receivables

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables * 1,438 1,748 0 0
Other receivables due from NHS Charities - Revenue 1 0 0 0
Other receivables with related parties  - VAT Debtor 530 440 0 0
Other receivables with related parties  - NHS Pensions 0 13 0 0
Trade receivables * 849 168 0 0
Provision for the impairment of receivables ** (125) (245) 0 0
PDC Debtor 0 322 0 0
Other receivables - Compensation Recovery Unit (CRU) 1,051 669 338 785
Accrued income 1,886 769 0 0
Prepayments - Non PFI 740 521 0 0
Prepayments - PFI Lifecycle  0 0 2,309 1,660
Total 6,370 4,405 2,647 2,445

31 March 2014 31 March 2013 31 March 2014 31 March 2013
£000 £000 £000 £000

Upto 3 months 1,221 1,611 (59) (154)
Three to Six Months 854 0 (12) (81)
Over Six Months 87 60 (54) (10)
Total NHS and Trade Receivables 2,162 1,671 (125) (245)

Current

* Ageing of NHS and Trade
Receivables less impaired 

receivables

** Provision for impairments of 
receivables 

31 March 2014 31 March 201331 March 201331 March 2014

Non-current
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14. Non-current assets held for sale 2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000

Balance as at 1 April 650 710
Plus assets classified as held for sale in the year 0 650
Less assets sold in the year (650) (710)
Less impairment of assets held for sale 0 0

Balance carried forward as at 31 March 0 650

15. Cash and cash equivalents 31 March 2014 31 March 2013
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 12,555 9,145
Net change in year (7,969) 3,410
Balance at 31 March 4,586 12,555

Made up of
Cash with Government Banking Service 2,553 12,521
Cash with HM Treasury - National Loans Funds 2,000 0
Commercial banks and cash in hand 33 34
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position and the 
Statement of Cash flow 4,586 12,555

During 2013/14 the NHS Foundation Trust successfully completed the sale of the Darnton Building and Land.
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16. Trade and other payables

31 March 2014 31 March 2013 31 March 2013 31 March 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables 1,501 2,483 0 0
Trade Payables 2,548 4,612 0 0
PDC Dividend Payable 40 0 0 0
Social Security Costs 886 865 0 0
Tax payables 902 941 0 0
Other trade payables - capital 491 1,311 0 0
Accruals 11,775 9,056 0 0
Other 1,318 1,794 0 0
Total 19,461 21,062 0 0

17. Borrowings

31 March 2014 31 March 2013 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

PFI liabilities 1,428 1,386 57,440 58,868
Total 1,428 1,386 57,440 58,868

18. Other liabilities

31 March 2014 31 March 2013 31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred income 1,494 3,940 698 312

Total 1,494 3,940 698 312

Current Non-current

Current Non-current

Current Non-current
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19. Prudential borrowing limit

20. Finance lease obligations

The NHS Foundation Trust has one finance lease as detailed below:-

Company Lease Commence 
Date

Lease Expiry 
Date

Net Book Value 
as at     31 March 
2014         £000

ING Lease UK 01/10/2008 01/10/2013 0

Amounts payable under finance leases:

31 March 2014 31 March 2013
£000 £000

Within one year 0 1
Between one and five years 0 0
After five years 0 0
Less future finance charges       0 0
Present value of minimum lease payments 0 1

Minimum lease payments

Lease Description

Catering Tug

The prudential borrowing code requirements in section 41 of the NHS Act 2006 have been repealed with effect from 1 April 2013 by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012. The financial statements disclosures that were provided previously are no longer required.
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21. Private Finance Initiative contracts

21.1   PFI scheme off-Statement of Financial Position

21.2   PFI scheme on-Statement of Financial Position

- a 48 bedded surgical ward. 

- a dedicated integrated children's unit. 

- over 40% of the beds will be provided in single en-suite rooms. 

- three new operating theatres that will sit alongside the existing theatres in the Hartshead building. 

- a centralised x-ray department. 

- centrally located pharmacy. 

- car parking arrangements. 

- a bridge corridor linking the Ladysmith building to the main hospital. 

- a new main entrance that will provide visitors with a clear focal point of arrival.

The NHS Foundation Trust has one PFI scheme on-Statement of Financial Position.

The NHS Foundation Trust does not have any PFI scheme off-Statement of Financial Position.

In November 2005 the NHS Foundation Trust announced that Consort Healthcare had been selected as the private sector company to
work in collaboration with the NHS Foundation Trust in developing and constructing the new hospital buildings. The construction was
carried out by a joint venture between Balfour Beatty Construction Ltd and Balfour Beatty Workplace. The architects for the scheme
were Keppie Design. 

The Health Investment in Tameside (HIT) project is the biggest investment and most extensive site improvement Tameside Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust has seen for decades. It has resulted in new acute facilities with a construction programme which started in
Autumn 2006 and was completed by August 2011, with the full scheme officially being handed over to the Trust. The new facilities
include:-

- an integrated day case and endoscopy unit comprising three day case surgery theatres, three endoscopy rooms and 50 flexible
recovery spaces. 

The NHS Foundation Trust has the right to use the buildings, however Consort Healthcare have the responsibility for maintaining the

buildings to an agreed standard. All lifecycle replacement is also the responsibility of Consort Healthcare.

A key feature of the PFI scheme is that the operator is responsible for ensuring that the property is maintained to an agreed standard
for the entire life of the contract. These are known as lifecycle costs. The cost which the operator expects to incur in doing this is
reflected in the unitary payment and reflects two elements:
• maintenance (planned and reactive); and
• replacement of components as they wear out during the contract – this is known as capital lifecycle.

After the expiry of the contract, the license with Consort Healthcare to operate out of these buildings will expire and the NHS
Foundation Trust will become responsible for the maintenance and lifecycle costs of those buildings.

- centralised outpatient clinics, close to the existing blue and yellow suites in the Hartshead building replacing satellite clinics in outlying 
buildings. 

The contract with Consort Healthcare expires at the end of the contract term (28th August 2041) and there is no provision within the
contract to re-price or re-negotiate the prices and dates. There is however the facility for variations to the contract and the NHS
Foundation Trust has procedures to manage those variations in line with Standing Financial Instructions. The Annual Service Payment
will be inflated each April based on the preceding February RPI.
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21.2   PFI schemes on-Statement of Financial Position - continued

Total obligations for on-Statement of Financial Position PFI contracts:

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

Not later than one year 3,864 3,880
Later than one year, not later than five years 14,437 14,691
Later than five years 80,746 84,356
Less Future Charges (40,179) (42,673)
Net PFI Obligation 58,868 60,254
- not later than one year 1,428 1,386
- later than one year and not later than five years 5,239 5,273
- later than five years 52,201 53,595

31 March 2014 31 March 2013
£000 £000

Within one year 4,319 4,049
Later than one year, not later than five years 20,395 19,057
Later than five years 193,131 196,609
Total Commitments 217,845 219,715

The NHS Foundation Trust has incurred operating expenses detailed below relating to 
the PFI Scheme on-Statement of Financial Position

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

Depreciation 787 963
Impairment Operating Cost 0 6,050
Impairment Reversal (3,593) 0
Service Charge 2,795 2,691

(11) 9,704

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

£000 £000

The net carrying amount of PFI assets at the end of the reporting period 36,798 33,992
Contingent Rents recognised as an expense in the period. 664 525

Under IFRIC12, the PFI assets are treated as an asset of the NHS Foundation Trust and the substance of the contract is that the NHS Foundation

Trust has a finance lease. Therefore the unitary payment needs to be split into three elements; payment for services; payment for the property

(comprising repayment of liability, finance cost and contingent rental) and payment for lifecycle replacement.

Commitments in respect of the sevice element of the PFI, including the Operating 
Cost, the contingent rent and life cyclce cost

The NHS Foundation Trust is committed to make annual service payments (not including PFI finance charges) during the next year of £3,662k.
The payments are to Consort Healthcare for the PFI contract expiring in 27 years, during 2041.

Page	  206	  of	  212	  	  



Annual Accounts - Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - 2013/14

22. Provisions

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Legal claims 98 94 638 694
Other Provisions & Liabilities 91 167 0 0
Total 189 261 638 694

Legal 
claims Other Total

£000 £000 £000

At April 2012 824 572 1,396
Arising during the year 96 581 677
Used during the year (77) (642) (719)
Reversed unused (65) (344) (409)
Unwinding of discount at 2.35% 10 0 10
At April 2013 788 167 955
Arising during the year 76 4 80
Used during the year (96) 0 (96)
Reversed unused (73) (80) (153)
Unwinding of discount at 2.35% 9 0 9
Change of unwinding discount to 1.8% 32 0 32
At 31 March 2014 736 91 827

Expected timing of cash flows:
Not later than 1 year 98 91 189
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 252 0 252
Later than 5 Years 386 0 386
Total 736 91 827

Below is a table detailing a breakdown of the above provisions:

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

£000 £000
Employer's Liabilities - NHS Litigation Authority 196 232

Occupiers Liabilities - NHS Litigation Authority 10 38

530 518

Total Legal Claims 736 788

Other Provisions - Industrial tribunal claims 0 10
0 69

Other Provisions - Probable repayment of income liabilities 53 50

Other Provisions - Business rates 38 38

Total Other Provisions 91 167

Total Provisions 827 955

The above provisions are subject to uncertainties relating to the estimated costs and expected timings of the settlement. The

cost and timing of the provision for employer's and occupier's liability has been calculated using the information provided by

the NHS Litigation Authority. The injury benefits provision is an amount that is payable for the remaining life of an individual.

The provision has been calculated based on the historic annual payment and the expected remaining life of the individual.

The other provisions have been calculated on the information available at the time of producing the accounts.

Injury Benefits - NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division

Current Non-current

Other Provisions
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The NHS Litigation Authority at the 31 March 2014 has a provision of £75,264,000 in respect of the clinical negligence liabilities of
the NHS Foundation Trust (31 March 2013, £70,691,000).

The NHS Foundation Trust has Contingent Liabilities of £86,000 (2012/13, £20,000), which relate to the Employer's and Occupier's
Liability. This is the difference between the provision which the NHS Foundation Trust has made for the claim and the actual excess
which the NHS Foundation Trust could be liable to pay against the claim.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liquidity Risk

The NHS Foundation Trust's net operating costs are incurred under annual service contracts with local Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG), which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Foundation Trust receives such contract
income in accordance with Payment by Results (PBR), which is intended to match the income received in year to the activity
delivered in that year by reference to the National Tariff procedure cost. The NHS Foundation Trust receives cash each month
based on the agreed level of contract activity and there are quarterly payments/deductions made to adjust for the actual income due
under PBR. This means that in periods of significant variance against contracts there can be a significant cash flow impact. To
alleviate this issue the NHS Foundation Trust has maintained a £10,400,000 working capital facility.  This was not utilised in 2013/14.

The NHS Foundation Trust presently finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds or funds made available from
Government, in the form of additional Public Dividend Capital, under an agreed limit. In addition, the NHS Foundation Trust can
borrow, both from the Department of Health Financing Facility and commercially, to finance capital schemes. Financing would be
drawn down to match the capital spend profile of the scheme concerned and the NHS Foundation Trust would not therefore be
exposed to significant liquidity risks in this area; the NHS Foundation Trust did not borrow under any of these arrangements in the
year.

Interest-Rate Risk

All of the NHS Foundation Trust's financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. The NHS Foundation Trust is not,
therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk. The only risk is therefore regarding the level of interest generated on the NHS
Foundation Trust's investment which may be higher or lower than planned at the start of the year due to fluctuating interest rates.
The value of interest generated in 2013/14 was £59k (2012/13 was £78k compared to the plan of £36k).  

Credit Risk

The main source of income for the NHS Foundation Trust is from Commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided under
local agreements - NHS Contracts. Non NHS customers do not represent a large proportion of income, the majority of this relates to
other public sector bodies which are considered low risk. The NHS Foundation Trust is therefore, not exposed to significant credit
risk.

Treasury Management Arrangements

The NHS Foundation Trust operates within an agreed Treasury Management policy that governs the nature of the cash investments.
The financial performance of the NHS Foundation Trust's cash investments is reviewed quarterly by the NHS Foundation Trust's
Audit Committee. The credit risk to the NHS Foundation Trust is minimal for the investments. Investments are limited to a maximum
amount of £3,000,000 with each commercial bank and a maximum period of 95 days. Investments can only be placed with
commercial banks who have a Fitch credit rating of AA+. The NHS Foundation Trust is also able to place investments with HM
Treasury in the National Loans Fund Account (NLF). The Treasury Managment policy states an unlimited value can be placed with
the NLF.

Currency Risk

The NHS Foundation Trust does not have any overseas foreign transactions or balances. There is no currency or translation risk to
the NHS Foundation Trust.
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23.1   Financial assets Loans and 
receivables

Total  31 
March 2014

Loans and 
receivables

Available for 
Sale

Total  31 
March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Accrued income 1,886 1,886 769 0 769

Trade and Other Receivables (net of 
provisions for irrecoverable debts) 2,163 2,163 1,671 0 1,671

Cash at bank and in hand 4,586 4,586 12,555 0 12,555

Non Current Assets Held for Sale 0 0 0 650 650

Total 8,635 8,635 14,995 650 15,645

23.2   Financial liabilities
Other 

Financial 
Liabilities

Total  31 
March 2014

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities

Total  31 
March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and Other Payables (5,858) (5,858) (9,133) (9,133)

Accruals (11,775) (11,775) (9,056) (9,056)

Finance Lease Obligations (including PFI) (58,868) (58,868) (60,254) (60,254)

Total (76,501) (76,501) (78,443) (78,443)

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

31 March 2014 31 March 2013
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Income Expenditure Income Expenditure

£000 £000 Debtor 
£000

Creditor 
£000 £000 £000 Debtor £000 Creditor 

£000

NHS Northwest - to 31.3.13 0 0 0 0 4,011 3 0 1

Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral Area Team - from 
1.4.13 5,242 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Greater Manchester Area Team - from 1.4.13 2,109 0 0 519 0 0 0 0

Department of Health - NHS Connecting for Health 2,004 0 0 0 1,243 0 643 0

Department of Health - PDC Dividend 0 810 0 40 0 1,102 322 0

NHS Tameside & Glossop 122,274 0 1,658 1,107 129,863 23 18 76

NHS Oldham 7,150 0 21 482 8,419 1 0 190

NHS Manchester - to 31.3.13 0 0 0 0 5,472 0 189 416

NHS North Manchester  - from 1.4.13 4,450 0 45 183 0 0 0 0

NHS Central Manchester  - from 1.4.13 573 0 0 25 0 0 0 0

NHS South Manchester  - from 1.4.13 200 0 33 0 0 0 0 0

Other CCGs/PCTs 3,558 0 441 181 3,141 14 636 174

Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust 1,537 0 285 0 1,511 1 88 0

Stockport NHS Foundation Trust 1,003 1,533 322 257 928 1,170 294 317

University Hospital of South Manchester NHS 
Foundation Trust 135 909 6 341 212 122 61 55

Other NHS Bodies 5,254 2,082 420 1,189 1,026 1,957 284 951

NHS Litigation Authority 0 5,113 0 0 0 4,751 0 1

NHS Blood 0 702 0 0 0 776 0 0

NHS Professionals 0 5,530 0 1,014 0 4,779 0 841

HMRC 0 6,094 530 1,788 0 6,052 440 1,806

NHS Pensions 0 8,342 0 0 0 8,084 13 1,067

Total 155,489 31,115 3,761 7,126 155,826 28,835 2,988 5,895

The NHS Foundation Trust is the corporate trustee of the Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund (Reg No. 1055818). In 2013.14 the Charitable Funds
have not been consolidated in accordance with IAS27. It has been agreed with the Trust auditors, the value of the Charitable Funds are not material to require
consolidation.

An Annual Report and Audited Accounts of the Trust's charity (covering the period reported in these accounts) will be available from 31st January 2015 and may be
accessed via the Charity Commission website.

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a public benefit body authorised by Monitor, the independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.

During the period there has been no material transactions with any member of the Board or members of key management staff or parties related to them, with Tameside
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has had a significant number of material transactions
with the Department, and with other entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are listed below, along with details of Income
and Expenditure and the Debtor and Creditor balances.

Year Ended 31 March 2014 Year Ended 31 March 2013

Prior Year 2012/13Current Year 2013/14

Name of Organisation
As At

31 March 2014

As At

31 March 2013
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Number of 
Cases £000 Number of 

Cases £000

- Bad debts and claims abandonded (excluding cases between the Foundation Trust and 
other NHS bodies) 3 2 41 47

- Stores Losses (including damages to buildings and other properties as a result of theft, 
criminal damage and neglect) 15 41 13 21

Total Losses 18 43 54 68

- Compensation Payments 56 110 37 72

Total Special Payments 56 110 37 72

Total Losses and Special Payments 74 153 91 140

27. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

The NHS Foundation Trust has had no post balance sheet events.

25. Third Party Assets

26. Losses and Special Payments

There were no cases exceeding £250,000 in either the current or prior year.

2013/14 2012/13

The NHS Foundation Trust held £2,265 cash at bank and in hand (2012/13 £4,055) which relates to monies held by the NHS Foundation Trust
on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from cash at bank and in hand figure reported in the accounts.

Note:  The amounts are reported on an accruals basis but exlude provisions for future losses.
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